A feasibility implementation trial for the English version of GLA:D® Back

by

James A. Lemieux

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Rehabilitation Science

Faculty of Rehabilitation Medicine

University of Alberta

© James A. Lemieux, 2021

ABSTRACT

Background

Low back pain is common, costly, and considered the number one disability in the world. As a result, evidence-based clinical guidelines for the treatment of low back pain (LBP) have been developed to steer clinicians towards educating patients about their back pain, its natural course, and providing advice to keep active and continue working. Guidelines also recommend first-line care of patient education and exercise therapy as an intervention for persistent LBP. Despite this evidence, clinicians routinely do not follow these recommendations resulting in ineffective and fragmented care. To address this problem, GLA:D® Back, a standardized 8-week group exercise and education care package, was originally developed in Denmark to assist clinicians in implementing evidence-based care into clinical practice.

Objective

The overall objective of this thesis was to determine if group exercise programs were equally effective as non-pharmacological interventions for chronic LBP; and to determine if it was feasible to implement an English translated evidenced-based group education and exercise program, GLA:D® Back, into clinical practice.

Specifically, this thesis had four objectives:1) to assess whether group exercise programs are as effective as individual non-pharmacological interventions for chronic LBP; 2) to evaluate the ability of clinicians to implement a translated English version of GLA:D® Back into clinical practice; 3) to assess clinician's confidence, attitudes, and beliefs before and after implementation of GLA:D® Back; 4) to assess the success of GLA:D® back on patient pain and disability.

Methods

To address the first objective, a systematic review involving four electronic databases were searched by two independent reviewers. Only randomized controlled trials that compared group-based exercise with other non-pharmacological interventions for chronic LBP were eligible. The study quality was assessed using the Cochrane Handbook for systematic reviews of Interventions by two independent reviewers.

To address objectives 2-4, thirty-five clinicians from nineteen clinics in Alberta, Canada participated in the GLA:D Back feasibility study. Feasibility of program implementation, our primary objective, was evaluated in terms of percent adoption with a 50% adoption rate (clinics/clinicians) set as our success criterion. Our secondary objectives included collecting data pertaining to clinician confidence, attitudes, and behaviour of treating patients involved in the program in addition to collecting patient- data regarding pain and disability.

Results

The results of the systematic review found no significant differences between group exercise and other non-pharmacologic interventions in disability levels or pain scores at 3-months post-intervention in patients with chronic LBP. Furthermore, we were unable to find any evidence for or against the use of group-based exercise in the rehabilitation of people with chronic back pain at other time points and for other health measurement outcomes. Additionally, we found no clinically significant differences in disability scores, quality of life, or pain scores between the individual or group non-pharmacological interventions that included exercise.

The results of our feasibility study at 4-months post course found that 79% of the clinics offered GLA:D® Back to their patients within the study period. Of the participating clinicians, GLA:D® Back was delivered by 71% of clinicians. In total, 78 patients were recruited to participate in the

iii

program and 88% of the participants attended the final assessment. Additionally, clinicians exhibited high levels of confidence on the PCS (MD: -1.5, p<0.001), and a combined biomedical PABS subscale (MD: 4, p=0.005) and behavioral PABS subscale orientation (MD: 2.5, p=0.023). Patients had observed minimal median improvements of -5 (p<0.001) on the ODI and moderate median improvement of 2 (p<0.001) for back pain and moderate improvement of 1 (p<0.001) for leg pain from baseline to 3-months post GLA:D Back.

Conclusion

GLA:D® Back has been thoughtfully designed to assist clinicians in delivering well established evidence-based group exercise programs to people suffering from persistent recurrent LBP. The English translation of the Danish GLA:D® Back program was found feasible to implement into practice in both urban and rural settings throughout Alberta. Subsequently, GLA:D® Back represents a potential opportunity for stakeholders to shift away from "low-value" care to "high-value", cost-effective, evidence-based care.

PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by James Lemieux. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approvals from the University of Research Ethics Board, for the following project:

1. Project Name "A PILOT IMPLEMENTATION STUDY OF GLA:D® BACK", No. Pro00085118, 2018-12-20 2020-04-27

The literature review in chapter 2 and the data analysis in chapters 3 and 4, are my original work.

Chapter 3 of this thesis has been published as Lemieux J, Abdollah V, Powelske B, Kawchuk G. Comparing the effectiveness of Group-based Exercise to Other Non-Pharmacological Interventions for Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review. J. Lemieux was responsible for the formation and development of the study. V. Abdollah and J. Lemieux were responsible for the data analysis as well as the manuscript composition. G.N. Kawchuk was the supervisory author and was involved with the concept formation and manuscript composition and edits.

Chapter 4 of this thesis has been published as Lemieux J, Kawchuk G, Kongsted A, Hartvigsen J, Jones A. The feasibility of implementing an English language version of GLA:D® Back. Dr Greg Kawchuk, Dr Alice Kongsted and James Lemieux were responsible for the concept formation. J. Lemieux was responsible for data collection and analysis as well as the manuscript composition. G.W. Kawchuk was the supervisory author and was involved in concept formation and manuscript composition and edits. V. Abdollah assisted in data analysis.

DEDICATION

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my wife Marnie, my sons Kristopher, Patrick, my parents Ann and Andre, and mother-in-law Sylvia.

I could not have finished this without everyone's support and encouragement, I am truly grateful.

For all my instructors at Western States Chiropractic College.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to express my most sincere thanks to:

Marnie, my life partner, without your support, patience, and encouragement throughout this master's journey I would not have been able to persevere and finish this master program.

For the staff at Performance Chiropractic, especially Dr. Ashley Todd and Sharka Valtr and Body Restoration, Nadine Fennig for being accommodating to my work schedule and helping me though this journey.

To my supervisor Doctor Greg Kawchuk and Doctor Allyson Jones, who provided extensive feedback and support during this master's program. Thank you, Greg, for your true commitment to the chiropractic profession and your guidance throughout this program in introducing me to researchers from around the world. I am deeply grateful. Thank you, Doctor Vahid Abdollah, for being a great colleague and friend. You were always there for me when I needed help. Thank you, Kate Pratt from the Academic Success Center, I am truly grateful for your encouragement and interest in my thesis content, I really appreciate your help with my writing.

I would also like to thank Alice Kongsted, Jan Hartvigsen from Southern Denmark University for sharing and teaching the GLA:D® Back program with us in Canada. Without your enthusiasm for GLA:D® Back I would not have been exposed to such thoughtful program. I would like to thank Inge Ris Hansen, Line Thomassen and Jasper Hoeg for their help in translating the Danish GLA:D® Back content and in conducting the clinician training session. I would also like to thank the clinicians and patients for participating in this study.

I am also grateful for the financial support of the University of Alberta travel grant that helped me travel to Berlin, Germany and present my research at the World Federation of Chiropractic Epic Conference 2019.

ABSTRACT	ii
Methods	iii
Results	iii
Conclusion	iv
PREFACE	v
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	vii
Chapter 1: General Overview of the Thesis	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.1.1 Low Back Pain	1
1.2 Purpose	3
1.3 Hypothesis	3
1.4 Aim	4
1.5 Objectives	4
1.6 Thesis Format	4
Chapter 2: Literature review	6
2.1 Introduction	6
2.1.1 Overview	6
2.2 Background	6
2.2.1 A brief overview of Low Back Pain	6
2.2.2 Trajectories of Low Back Pain	8
2.2.3 Burdens of Low Back Pain	10
2.2.4 What happens to people with persistent recurrent low back pain?	10
2.2.5 Biomedical versus the Biopsychosocial model of Pain	12
2.3 Management for Back pain	14
2.3.1 Clinical Guidelines for Back Pain	14
2.3.2 First-Line and Second-Line Interventions for Back Pain	20
2.4 Exercise intervention for the treatment of persistent recurrent low back pain	25
2.4.1 Stretching and Strengthening Exercises for LBP	26
2.4.2 Motor Control Exercises	26
2.4.3 Stability Exercises	27
2.4.4 Pilates	28
2.4.5 Yoga	29
2.5 Pain Education and Behavioural Programs	31

Table of Contents

2.6 Self Efficacy	32
2.7 Combining Education with Exercise Programs	33
2.8 Implementing Education and Exercise into Clinical Practice	33
2.9 Possible Solutions	36
2.9.1 GLA:D® – A Program that follows Evidence-Based Guidelines	37
2.9.2 Development of GLA:D® Back	38
2.9.3 Aim of GLA:D® Back	39
2.9.4 The GLA:D® Back Intervention as a method to improve first-line recommendation back pain:	
2.9.5 Description of the GLA:D® Back Intervention	41
Chapter 3: Comparing the Effectiveness of Group-Based Exercise to Other Non- Pharmacological Interventions for Chronic Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review	43
3.1 Introduction	45
3.2 Methods	46
3.2.1 Literature search and study selection	46
3.2.2 Eligibility Criteria	47
3.2.3 Selection of studies	47
3.2.4 Data extraction	47
3.2.5 Methodological quality	48
3.2.6 Data synthesis and analysis	48
3.3 Results	50
3.3.1 Studies Included	50
3.3.2 Pain information	51
3.3.3 Intervention used in the included studies	56
3.3.4 Methodological quality	62
3.3.5 Measurement outcomes	64
3.3.6 Primary Outcome Measures	64
3.3.7 Secondary Outcome Measures	66
3.3.8 Other outcome comparisons	67
3.4 Discussion	76
3.4.1 Main findings	76
3.4.2 Study limitations	77
3.5 Conclusion	78
3.6 References	79
Chapter 4: The feasibility of implementing an English language version of GLA:D Back®	85

4.1 Key messages regarding feasibility	
4.2 Introduction	87
4.3 Methods	90
4.3.1 Overview	90
4.3.2 Clinician Education	91
4.3.3 Patients	
4.3.4 The GLA:D® Back Intervention	
4.3.5 Feasibility outcomes	94
4.3.6 Clinician outcomes	
4.3.7 Patient outcomes	
4.3.8 Sample Size	
4.3.9 Analyses	
4.4 Results	
4.4.1 Participating clinicians	
4.4.2 Clinician demographics at baseline	
4.4.3 Patient demographics at baseline	101
4.5 Feasibility Outcomes	
4.5.1 Clinician outcomes	
4.6 Patient Outcomes	
4.6.1 Patient adherence	
4.6.2 Objectively assessed physical function	
4.6.3 Self-reported measures	
4.7 Discussion	110
4.7.1 Facilitators of GLA:D® Back Adoption	110
4.7.2 Barriers of GLA:D® Back adoption	112
4.7.3 Clinician outcomes	
4.7.4 Participants Outcomes	114
4.7.5 Lessons Learned	114
4.7.6 Study strengths and limitations	115
4.7.7 Implications for future studies	115
4.8 Conclusion	115
4.9 References	
Chapter 5: Discusssion	
5.1 Summary and Interpretations	
5.2 Strengths and Limitations	

5.3 Implications	125
5.4 Speculation	126
5.5 What does this mean for clinicians?	128
5.6 Future studies	128
5.8 Conclusion	130

List of Tables

TABLE 2. 1 COMPARISON OF RECOMMENDED CLINICAL PRACTICE GUIDELINES 16
TABLE 2. 2 FIRST- AND SECOND-LINE CARE FOR ACUTE AND PERSISTENT LBP 24
TABLE 3. 1 LEVELS OF EVIDENCE FOR SUMMARY STATEMENTS AND DESCRIPTION OF CRITERIA ADOPTED A PRIORI TO DETERMINE THE LEVEL OF EVIDENCE)
TABLE 3. 2 DESCRIPTION OF STUDY TYPE AND STUDY PARTICIPANTS IN THE INCLUDED STUDIES52
TABLE 3. 3 DESCRIPTION OF THE INTERVENTION USED IN THE INCLUDED STUDIES
TABLE 3. 4 QUALITY APPRAISAL OF THE STUDIES INCLUDED
TABLE 3. 5 LEVELS OF EVIDENCE FOR SUMMARY STATEMENTS FOR EACH INTERVENTION. 68
TABLE 4. 1 CLINICIAN CHARACTERISTICS AND SELECT OUTCOMES
TABLE 4. 2 CLINICIAN OUTCOME MEASURES EVALUATED BY WILCOXON SIGN TEST100
TABLE 4. 3 PATIENT BASELINE CHARACTERISTICS 101
TABLE 4. 4 PATIENT OUTCOME MEASURES EVALUATED BY WILCOXON SIGN TEST109
TABLE 4. 5 PROPORTION OF PATIENTS WHO REPORTED THEY HAD RECEIVED LISTED INTERVENTIONS OR CARE FROM VARIOUS PROFESSIONS IN THE LAST MONTH OTHER THAN FROM THE GLA:D® BACK CLINICIAN

List of Figures

FIGURE 2. 1 MEAN NSLBP INTENSITY OF SIMPLIFIED PRINCIPAL TRAJECTORY PATTERNS	9
FIGURE 2. 2 LOW BACK PAIN AND SCIATICA: SUMMARY OF NICE GUIDANCE	17
FIGURE 2. 3 CONTRIBUTORS TO LOW BACK PAIN AND DISABILITY	37
FIGURE 3. 1 SEARCH STRATEGY GUIDED BY THE PRISMA FLOW DIAGRAM	49
FIGURE 4. 1 STUDY FLOW. OVERVIEW OF ACTIVITIES AND DATA COLLECTIONS AT THE LEVEL OF CLINICIANS AND PATIENTS. PLEASE REFER TO TEXT FOR EXACT TIME PERIODS	

Appendix

APPENDIX I: LIBRARY SEARCH KEYWORDS	155
APPENDIX II: SYSTEMATIC LITERATURE REVIEW DATA EXTRACTION FORM	157
APPENDIX III: APPRAISAL FORM	159

List of Abbreviations

Activities of daily living- ADL's Alberta health services- AHS American college of physicians- APC Brief illness perception questionnaire- B-IPQ Canadian chiropractic guideline initiatives- CCGI Canadian medical association journal- CMAJ Chronic low back pain- cLBP Clinical practice guidelines- CPG's Cognitive behavioural therapy- CBT Confidence interval- Cl Determinants of implementation behaviour questionnaire- DIBQ **Disability adjusted life-years** – DALY's Good living with osteoarthritis: Denmark- GLA:D® Good living with osteoarthritis: Denmark hip and knee- GLA:D HK Health care providers- HCP's Low back pain- LBP Magnetic resonance imaging- MRI Mean difference-MD Motor control exercises- MCE's National institute for health and care excellence- NICE Non-specific low back pain- nsLBP Numerical pain rating scale- NPRS **Osteoarthritis-**OA Oswestry disability scale- ODI Patient reported outcome measures- PROM's Physicians' attitudes and beliefs scale-physiotherapist- PABS-PT Practitioner confidence scale- PCS Research ethics electronic data capture- REDCap

Southern Denmark University- SDU Start back screening tool- STarT Toward optimized practice- TOP Quality of life- QoL Quality of life subscale questionnaire -SF-36 Social cognitive theory- SCT Years lived with disability- YLD

CHAPTER 1: GENERAL OVERVIEW OF THE THESIS

1.1 Introduction

1.1.1 Low Back Pain

Low back pain (LBP) is a prevalent chronic condition which effects up to 80% of the general population at least once in their lifetime (T. Vos et al., 2016), is costly (Bussières et al., 2018; Katz, 2006) and considered the number one disability in the world. According to a 2015 Global burden of disease study, LBP is responsible for 60.1 millions years-lived-with-disability (YLD) (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Karppinen, et al., 2018; T. Vos et al., 2016).

When considering the cause of pain in the low back region many musculoskeletal structures and organs can be the source (P. O'Sullivan, 2005). There are many causes of low back pain, and the differential diagnosis can be challenging for clinicians. Thus, low pain back pain can be considered a symptom rather than a disease and can result from many different known or unknown diseases or abnormalities (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Karppinen, et al., 2018). When the pain can be identified via diagnostic imaging or testing, low back pain can be defined as being specific. Specific causes for low back pain are uncommon and account for 10-15% of all low back cases (Russo et al., 2018). Specific symptoms caused by disease or pathology are most often caused by malignancy, spinal fracture, infection, or cauda equina syndrome (Abbott, Schröder, Enthoven, Nilsen, & Öberg, 2018). Other specific conditions that may cause low back pain are rheumatoid arthritis or osteoarthritis of the of the lumbar spine (Goode, Carey, & Jordan, 2013).

The lumbar spine is comprised of a "three-joint complex" that is supplied by an adequate nerve supply capable of generating LBP (Goode et al., 2013). Thus, with many conditions and pathologies able to cause the pain it is very difficult to be absolutely confident that the pain is

derived from a specific anatomic area (P. O'Sullivan, 2005). If the prevalence of low back pain caused by serious pathology (e.g. infection or tumor) is estimated to be less than 1% of presentation and specific pathology (e.g. spinal canal stenosis) are less than 10% then the rest of LBP (85-90%) would be considered non-specific (Chou et al., 2007; Verhagen, Downie, Popal, Maher, & Koes, 2016).

Consequently, non-specific low back pain (nsLBP) is the most common cause of low back pain when no definitive diagnosis can be achieved and no pathoanatomical pain driver can be identified (Maher, Underwood, & Buchbinder, 2017). Often many clinicians may be misled that the pain driver can be seen with imaging, but contradictory evidence has proven the likewise. Imaging can show that between 50% and 90% of asymptomatic people can have a large range of degenerative findings and large variations in lumbar spine morphology (Brinjikji et al., 2015). This finding indicates that the majority of non-specific low back pain (nsLBP) may not only be a result of benign dysfunctional biological but may be more dependent on psychological and contextual factors influencing the pain experience (Abbott et al., 2018). Thus, countless people living with LBP have multiple influences driving the pain in which co-morbidities, psychosocial, social and biophysical factors can all be involved to drive the perception of pain and result in disability (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Karppinen, et al., 2018). When non-specific LBP becomes chronic and the primary pain source cannot be located, a multi-dimensional biopsychosocial treatment model should be considered (Müller-Schwefe et al., 2017).

The nature of LBP is highly prevalent and recurrent: the lifetime occurrence is estimated to be 80%, and ~approximately 50% of these patients will have at least 10 episodes in their lifetime (Hoy et al., 2014). In a minority of patients, low back pain lasts longer than 12 weeks, at which it is considered a recurrent condition (Chou, 2015). For many patients, nsLBP is self-limiting and

not disabling, but 20% will have reoccurring persistent symptoms (Abbott et al., 2018). This persistent recurrent pain can become physically disabling, psychologically distressing and negatively affect their quality of life (Synnott et al., 2015). People that develop recurrent persistent low back pain account for a huge financial burden to healthcare systems and a markedly disproportionate share of the costs associated with low back pain (Hoy et al., 2014; Mutubuki et al., 2020).

To help alleviate this excessive burden to healthcare systems, researchers in Denmark developed GLA:D® Back to address this concern. GLA:D® Back has been designed to integrate evidencebased guidelines into an effective self-management program for people with persistent low back pain. GLA:D® Back consists of two educational sessions followed by eight weeks twice weekly of supervised exercise and patient outcomes are systematically monitored at 3, 6 and 12 months in a clinical registry.

1.2 Purpose

The purpose of this study was to examine the feasibility of the translated English version of GLA:D® Back if it could be successfully implemented into clinical practice throughout urban and rural chiropractic and physiotherapy clinics in Alberta.

1.3 Hypothesis

It was hypothesized that the majority of urban and rural clinics/clinicians conducting the GLA:D® Back program would implement this program within 4 months of completion of the training course resulting in 66-88 participants registered in the database.

1.4 Aim

The aim of this work is to provide a valid English translated version of GLA:D® Back to be implemented and to be used throughout Canada.

1.5 Objectives

- 1. To assess whether group exercise programs are as effective as individual nonpharmacologic interventions for chronic LBP.
- To evaluate the ability of clinicians to implement a translated English version of GLA:D® Back into clinical practice by tracking the number of participants screened during the pilot study period and the absolute number and proportion of those who participated.
- To assess clinician's confidence, attitudes, and beliefs before and after implementation of GLA:D® Back.
- 4. To assess the success of GLA:D® Back on patient pain and disability.

1.6 Thesis Format

Chapter 1 is a general overview of the thesis that describes LBP and the aims and objectives of the two studies in this thesis. Chapter 2 is a literature review on LBP, its challenges in clinical practice, and possible solutions to overcome these challenges. Chapter 3 is a published systematic review by *Lemieux J., Abdollah V., Powelske B., Kawchuk G., Comparing the Effectiveness of Group-Based Exercise to Other Non-Pharmacological Interventions for Chronic Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review. PLOS One 2020; 15(12): e0244444588 that identifies, summarizes, and evaluated the current evidence on the effectiveness of group-based exercise programs when compared to individual non-pharmacological interventions for chronic LBP. Chapter 4 is a published feasibility study by <i>Lemieux J., Kawchuk G., Kongsted A., Hartvigsen J., Abdollah V., Jones A. The feasibility of implementing an English language version of GLA:D*® *Back BMC Pilots and Feasibility Studies 2021 7:38* that investigated the potential of an English

translated version of GLA:D® Back to be implemented into clinical practice throughout Alberta. Chapter 5 discusses the main findings of the two studies and provides implications and possible directions for future research.

CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

2.1.1 Overview

This literature review aims to gather literature about methods suggested for the treatment of persistent recurrent LBP, evidence-based guideline usage and programs that include guidelines embedded into their programs. This will guide the reader through the exercise and education strategies physiotherapists and chiropractors administer for persistent recurrent LBP as well as familiarize the reader with evidence-based guidelines for LBP, and how evidence-based guidelines can guide clinicians towards "high-value" care. We will also discuss how difficult guideline usage is in clinical practice and possible reasons the dissemination of this information to clinicians remains elusive.

2.2 Background

2.2.1 A brief overview of Low Back Pain

Low back pain (LBP) is common, as it affects up to 80% of the general population at least once in their lifetime and is now considered the number one disability in the world with a global point prevalence of activity-limiting LBP in 2015 of 7.3% at any one time affecting 540 million people (Theo Vos et al., 2017). LBP is also costly with estimates to be between 6-12 billion dollars annually in Canada (Bussières et al., 2018), 9 billion in Australia (Walker, Muller, & Grant, 2003), 6.6 billion euros in Switzerland (Wieser et al., 2011), 12.3 billion British pounds in the UK (Maniadakis & Gray, 2000) and over 100 billion dollars in the USA for direct (medical) cost and indirect (lost wages, productivity) and societal costs (Katz, 2006).

Low back pain is technically a symptom rather than a disease and can result from many different known or unknown diseases or abnormalities (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Woolf, et al., 2018). When considering the cause of pain in the low back, many

musculoskeletal structures and internal organs can be the source (P. O'Sullivan, 2005). As such, the diagnosis of LBP can be challenging for clinicians. When the pain can be identified via diagnostic imaging or testing, low back pain can be defined as being specific. Specific symptoms caused by disease or pathology are most often caused by malignancy, spinal fracture, infection, or cauda equina syndrome (Abbott et al., 2018). Specific causes for LBP are uncommon and account for 10% of all low back cases (Russo et al., 2018). Thus, the prevalence of low back pain caused by serious pathology (e.g. infection or tumor) is estimated to be less than 1% of presentations, and specific pathology (e.g. spinal canal stenosis) presentations are less than 10%, then the rest of LBP (90%) is classified as non-specific (Verhagen et al., 2016). With many conditions and pathologies able to cause the pain, it is very difficult for clinicians to be confident that the pain is derived from a specific anatomic area (Maher et al., 2017). In other words, we know that there are many causes for back pain but determining the cause in a specific patient is challenging.

Non-specific LBP is the most common cause of LBP when no definitive diagnosis can be achieved and no pathoanatomical pain driver can be identified (Maher et al., 2017). Often many clinicians may be misled that the cause of pain can be directly correlated to imaging findings, but contradictory evidence has proven the likewise. Imaging can show that between 50% and 90% of people that are symptomatic or non-symptomatic can have a large range of degenerative findings and large variations in lumbar spine morphology (Brinjikji et al., 2015). This indicates that the majority of non-specific low back pain (nsLBP) may not only be a result of benign dysfunctional biology but may be more dependent on psychological and contextual factors influencing the pain experience (Abbott et al., 2018). Thus, countless people living with LBP have multiple influences such as co-morbidities, psychological, social, and biophysical factors that can influence the perception of pain and result in disability (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Woolf, et al., 2018). When non-specific LBP becomes chronic and the primary

pain source cannot be located easily, a multi-dimensional biopsychosocial model should be considered.

2.2.2 Trajectories of Low Back Pain

Until recently nsLBP has been classified often as acute, subacute, and chronic LBP according to the duration of the episode (Kongsted, Kent, Axen, Downie, & Dunn, 2016). Now the paradigm is shifting toward a notion that LBP is a recurrent condition with multiple LBP episodes. This traditional classification of acute, subacute, and chronic LBP has led to some difficulties in choosing the appropriate treatment at the appropriate time for many patients. This classification system has resulted in poor long-term outcomes and the possibility of long-term disability in susceptible people. With this shift in thinking we may now be able to categorize patients into meaningful groups and specific strategies. For many years nsLBP was considered to be a selflimiting condition but in the last two decades LBP researchers have shown some nsLBP to be a re-current life long episodic condition and that people who have had experienced previous nsLBP will likely experience future episodes (Axén & Leboeuf-Yde, 2013). Therefore, nsLBP may resemble other chronic conditions such as asthma or diabetes and may need to be managed as a lifelong process with different causes and modifying factors (Axén & Leboeuf-Yde, 2013). This paradigm shift alters the current thinking that nsLBP is a self-limiting single-entity and moves towards a concept that recurrent nsLBP is a condition that may have a series of painful episodes that differ in intensity (Axén & Leboeuf-Yde, 2013). To this point, trajectories of nsLBP are defined as patterns of changes in pain over time that can be identified (Figure 2.1). Many studies looking at trajectories of nsLBP have discovered a pattern of fluctuating nsLBP of interchanging intensity of pain intermingled with periods of no pain (Kongsted et al., 2016). Because of the complexity of nsLBP trajectories, categorizing nsLBP into meaningful prognostic 'phenotypes' may be an effective means of identifying patterns of pain so that effective treatment strategies can target these observable pain characteristics (Kongsted et al., 2016).

Figure 2. 1 Mean nsLBP intensity of simplified principal trajectory patterns (Kongsted et al., 2016)



Dash lines: Rapid or gradual improvement

For many, nsLBP is self-limiting and not disabling, but 20% will have recurrent persistent symptoms (Abbott et al., 2018) that is described above. In a minority of people, nsLBP will last longer than 12 weeks, at which it is considered a persistent condition (Chou, 2015). In this population, persistent recurrent LBP can become physically disabling, psychologically distressing and negatively affect their quality of life (Synnott et al., 2015) and reoccur and persist for many years. Not only can it be debilitating for the person but can be a huge financial burden to healthcare systems and a markedly disproportionate share of the costs associated with LBP (Mutubuki et al., 2020; Walker et al., 2003).

2.2.3 Burdens of Low Back Pain

Low back pain is an extremely common symptom experienced by people of all ages but more so as people age and is considered a major health burden that is now the number one cause of disability worldwide (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Woolf, et al., 2018). Low back pain is responsible for more years lived with a disability at 60.1 million disability-adjusted life-years (DALY's) in 2015 when compared to other conditions (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Woolf, et al., 2018) and is one of the most encountered conditions in clinical practice (Hoy et al., 2014). Researchers and clinicians have historically used different ways of addressing the issue of LBP. Even with the overspending on "low-value" care which includes excessive testing, imaging, prescription of opioids, spinal injections, and surgery (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Karppinen, et al., 2018) low back pain and back-related disability continues to rise globally (N. N. E. Foster et al., 2018). These "low-value" treatments are potentially harmful, expensive and create a significant evidence-practice gap (N. N. E. Foster et al., 2018).

2.2.4 What happens to people with persistent recurrent low back pain?

People who have persistent recurrent LBP often have difficulties performing usual activities of daily living (ADL'S). These difficulties have led many pain science researchers to believe that persistent pain may be generated at the tissue level, and, conversely, some have suggested pain is driven from the central nervous system (Taylor, Goehler, Galper, & Innes, 2011). Researchers have contemplated what may be the mechanism that is taking place. Many biomedical researchers believe this is a "bottom-up" tissue driven process (Taylor et al., 2011) and on the other hand, psychosocial and pain science researchers believe it is a "top-down "centrally driven process (Brumagne, Diers, Danneels, Moseley, & Hodges, 2019). With these two conflicting (competing) models it is becoming evident that there is a bidirectional interaction between the

peripheral tissues and the brain that contribute to physical and mental health and may influence each other (Taylor et al., 2011).

People often fear certain movements or positions that may aggravate their pain and often result in fear-avoidance behaviour (Leeuw, Goossens, Linton, Crombez, Boersma, Vlaeyen, et al., 2007; Rainville et al., 2011). This fear is often initiated by a belief that pain may indicate tissue damage or harm and as a result, avoiding these movements or positions can set up a vicious cycle of inactivity and physical deconditioning (Kjaer et al., 2018). This deconditioning can eventually, in some, create a dysfunctional movement pattern that is enhanced by worry and anxiety that appears when an offending stimulus that is related to pain is perceived as a threat (Goossens et al., 2007). Along with fear a small proportion of LBP patients may exhibit inappropriate beliefs and catastrophizing thoughts that lead to the belief that tissue has been damaged (Moseley, 2003). These thoughts can impair sensorimotor control and have been suggested as a mechanism that can retain pain because of suboptimal tissue load and damage (Brumagne et al., 2019). This mechanism is considered a "bottom-up" approach to pain. Bottomup processing can be defined as sensory input that starts at the tissue level and travels up to the brain to create a perceptual experience based entirely on the sensory stimulus at the tissue level (Brumagne et al., 2019; Taylor et al., 2011). This mechanism can lead to abnormal central nervous system processing that may increase sensitivity in the central nervous system (Meeus & Nijs, 2007). This increase sensitivity known as central sensitization has been associated with people with co-morbidities of depression or anxiety (Bair M.J., 2003) and can be associated with poorer outcomes after an acute or recurrent episode of LBP (Currie & Wang, 2005; Melloh et al., 2013). Thus to change patients sensitivity and combat persistent low back pain addressing the abnormal processing system may be addressed by top-down cognitive interventions such as education, cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), and specific motor training (Brumagne et al., 2019). These changes can also be addressed by targeting bottom-up processing with exercise

and manual therapy (Brumagne et al., 2019). If better outcomes in patients with recurrent and chronic LBP are to be attained a combination of bottom-up and top-down approaches to care programs may be required (Brumagne et al., 2019).

2.2.5 Biomedical versus the Biopsychosocial model of Pain

Currently, there are two major competing models that clinicians may follow in practice, the biomedical and the biopsychosocial. Historically, LBP has been addressed using a biomedical/biomechanical model of care. The biomedical model of care postulates that a predictable relationship exists between identifiable tissue damage and pain (Quintner, Cohen, Buchanan, Katz, & Williamson, 2008). This model reduces pain to a structural pathological experience and acts as an explanatory tool that holds a direct relationship between a change in bodily structure and a person's complaint (Quintner et al., 2008). For the clinician, it is simple, clean, logical and follows a conventional approach to care. Despite being extremely successful in the treatment of many other diseases such as heart disease, diabetes, asthma, chronic nonspecific recurrent LBP has been deemed resistant to the biomedical model of care (Weiner, 2008). Only a few people suffering from chronic persistent LBP respond well to this care method and evidence around the world is seeing costs and the number of people disabled by this condition increasing substantially (Buchbinder, van Tulder, et al., 2018; N. N. E. Foster et al., 2018). With chronic persistent nsLBP, it is difficult to identify that a unique underlying pathoanatomic/pathophysiologic lesion that exists that corresponds to the pain and disability. To this point, degenerative changes in the spine have been noticed both in symptomatic and asymptomatic people and a connection between noticeable degenerative change and pain/disability has been elusive (Goode et al., 2013).

Thus, the lack of abundance of useful interventions or "low-value care" and escalating costs for the health system to address LBP has been a cause for concern (N. N. E. Foster et al., 2018).

Because there is no proven effective biomedical intervention for people suffering from nsLBP, it has triggered many stakeholders to change their focus from the biomedical model of illness to a more holistic biopsychosocial model. This model of care addresses individuals psychological and social contextual factors along with the biological in the rehabilitation process (Weiner, 2008). In contrast to the biomedical model, Engel's biopsychosocial model of illness suggests that no biological system exists in isolation and every system is influenced by its environment (Engel, 1979; Quintner et al., 2008). Engel's model includes all-natural systems pertinent to health and disease and enlarges its scope to consist of psychological and social factors (Engel, 1979). The choice of treatment model can also depend on clinicians preconceived attitudes and beliefs (Côté, Durand, Tousignant, & Poitras, 2009).

Frequently, chiropractors and physiotherapists follow a practice philosophy that aligns with their training and follows a biomedical model which may or may not follow updated evidence-based guidelines (Poitras, Durand, Côté, & Tousignant, 2012). Many studies have observed a poor correlation between spinal structural tissue damage and levels of disability (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Karppinen, et al., 2018). They have also observed a relationship that psychosocial factors can have more of an impact on the transition from acute to chronic LBP than just biomechanical factors (Domenech, Sánchez-Zuriaga, Segura-Ortí, Espejo-Tort, & Lisón, 2011). Also, a person's beliefs and attitudes towards pain are predictive factors of further disability (Vlaeyen, Crombez, & Linton, 2016). Founded on these observations, the biopsychosocial model for LBP has been proposed to address the factors that can result in the pain becoming long-standing. Because beliefs and attitudes around nsLBP play a pivotal role, more attention has focused on the attitudes and beliefs of health care providers and the influence it has on patients (Domenech et al., 2011).

Thus the treatment a patient receives for nsLBP has been found to be associated with the clinician's beliefs and attitudes towards persistent nsLBP (Jeffrey & Foster, 2012). As many clinicians have been trained using the biomedical model, there can be resistance to using the biopsychosocial model, even though it has been shown to be more effective for patients with persistent recurrent nsLBP (Gardner et al., 2017). Moreover, current evidence-based guidelines recommend the use of the biopsychosocial model and advocate including all aspects that may influence the patient's pain experience (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Karppinen, et al., 2018). Determining clinicians' experiences and feelings of treating patients with chronic persistent nsLBP may help to explain some of the challenge's clinicians face in clinical practice. To address the above problem and find "high-value" treatments, clinical guidelines for LBP have been developed not only in Canada but worldwide to address this gap.

2.3 Management for Back pain

2.3.1 Clinical Guidelines for Back Pain

Clinical guidelines are designed to effectively disseminate recommended information within a knowledge translation process (O'Connell, Cook, Wand, & Ward, 2016). Guidelines recommend effective, evidence-based interventions and discourage interventions lacking scientific support. Clinical practice guidelines (CPG's) serve to optimise quality care while reducing harmful or "low-value" care (O'Connell et al., 2016). When clinical practice guidelines are followed, the intention is that clinicians and patients can be reassured that the best care and best practice is being delivered (O'Connell et al., 2016).

There are two prevailing types of guidelines that are followed in clinical practice: evidence-based or consensus. Evidence-based also known as clinical practice guidelines provide recommendations based on scientific research to assist decision making about health

interventions and aims to provide health care providers (HCP) with the most current, best evidence to support clinicians to choose the most appropriate, cost-effective treatments for their patients (C. B. Oliveira et al., 2018). Evidence-based guidelines or clinical practice guidelines are defined as: "systematically developed statements to assist practitioner and patient decisions about appropriate health care for specific clinical circumstances" (Manchikanti et al., 2013).

Consensus guidelines are issued by professional organizations typically represent a consensus or agreement among experts about a certain approach to diagnose or treat a disease or condition when insufficient evidence is available to create an evidence-based guideline (de Boeck, Castellani, & Elborn, 2014). Thus, guidelines aim to provide health care providers (HCP's) with recommendations based on the strength of available evidence as well as professional consensus for interventions' risk and benefits for the patient.

Numerous national and international clinical practice guidelines have been produced to address the impact of non-specific LBP and many of these guidelines from around the world have similarities and are consistently recommending clinicians to select non-pharmacological treatment for acute and recurrent LBP as first-line treatment (Bussières et al., 2018). Some of these guidelines include supervised exercise therapy that may or may not be combined with manual therapy (C. B. Oliveira et al., 2018).

Many of the top guidelines such as the American College of Physicians (APC), Danish National guidelines, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) and the Canadian Chiropractic guideline initiatives (CCGI) recommend similar interventions, and all do not recommend imaging for recurrent low back pain (**Table 2.1**).

Table 2. 1 Comparison of Recommended Clinical Practice	Guidelines	(Wong et al., 2017)
	Caraonnioo	(110119 01011, 2011)

	American College of Physicians (APC)	Danish National guidelines	National Institute for health and Care Excellence (NICE)	Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative (CCGI)
SMT	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Education	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Exercise Therapy	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Acupuncture	Yes	No	Yes	Yes
Diagnostic Imaging	No	No	No	No

Abbreviations: SMT-spinal manipulative therapy

All of the above guidelines consistently recommend that recurrent LBP patients are educated about their condition, are encouraged to remain physically active, and stay working (First-line intervention) (C. B. Oliveira et al., 2018). These guidelines aim to promote self-management (N. N. E. Foster et al., 2018) (N. E. Foster et al., 2018a) and self-efficacy in this recurrent LBP population.

A visual infographic has been developed summarizing the NICE guidelines to overcome poorly implemented recommendations that were constraining clinical practice (**Figure 2.2**).

Figure 2. 2 Low Back Pain and Sciatica: Summary of NICE guidance (Bernstein, Malik, Carville,

& Ward, 2017)



Clinical practice guidelines also recommend evaluation of biopsychosocial factors in people with recurrent LBP, but many practitioners do not assess and treat these factors (Gardner et al., 2017). Many studies have confirmed a relationship between treatment orientation and clinical practice. Both beliefs and attitudes regarding treatment style and patient-clinician factors need to be considered when introducing new models of care and maximizing these models into clinical practice.

There are many reasons why clinicians may not use clinical guidelines in practice. Implementation strategies must be based on current knowledge about effective interventions and assess potential barriers to guideline adoption. Once these barriers are identified they may lead to effective implementation strategies.

Barriers exist at the level of the patient, practitioner, organization, and at the level of social and cultural context (Lugtenberg, Zegers-Van Schaick, Westert, & Burgers, 2009). On the patient level, a significant treatment barrier relates to patients noncompliance that can take many forms such as the advice given from the healthcare professional to manage the condition is often misunderstood, is not culturally meaningful, not affordable, often carried out incorrectly, forgotten, or even completely ignored by patients (Walters-Salas, 2012). Nonadherence can be approximately 70% if preventative or treatment regimens are very complex and/or require modification of existing habits or require a lifestyle change (Walters-Salas, 2012). Other barriers are a patients preference for imaging, spinal procedures, and referrals to back specialists (Weber et al., 2017; Wilson et al., 2017).

Barriers at the practitioner level can be related to clinician knowledge - they may lack awareness or familiarity with the guidelines and attitude - they may be resistant to change their practice style and clinicians may have difficulty changing deep-seated routines even while being aware and

familiar with guidelines (Baiardini, Braido, Bonini, Compalati, & Canonica, 2009). Also, clinicians may be unconvinced by the evidence and challenge the guidelines (Dixon-Woods, McNicol, & Martin, 2012; Fischer, Lange, Klose, Greiner, & Kraemer, 2016; Suman, Dikkers, Schaafsma, van Tulder, & Anema, 2016) or have a lack of effective strategies too help clinicians embrace new behaviours (Liang et al., 2017; Mesner, Foster, & French, 2016; Suman et al., 2016). Thus, clinicians may question the recommendations consequently creating low implementation.

At the organizational level, significant barriers to guideline adherence are a result of a lack of time for more comprehensive appointments, clinician and patient turnover or coordinating different professionals to work together as a team (Baiardini et al., 2009).

The reasons for not using clinical practice guidelines (CPG's) in practice are varied and may not always be influenced solely by the practitioner but often clinician's attitudes and beliefs (Schröder, Öberg, Enthoven, Kongsted, & Abbott, 2020) can guide treatment style and ultimately give us insight on why clinical guidelines are not followed.

Healthcare practitioners' attitudes and beliefs about health and illness are likely to play a role in the approach they take in treating patients and their ability to utilize guidelines. According to the theory of planned behaviour, "behaviour is determined by the attitudes and beliefs that a person has about the likely consequences of the behaviour" (Ajzen, 2001). Beliefs are defined as 'a cognitive process resulting in a concrete cognition of how we think things are' (Jeffrey & Foster, 2012). Attitudes are 'a more complex cognitive state involving beliefs and feelings as well as values and predispositions to act in a certain way' (Jeffrey & Foster, 2012). Attitudes and beliefs can influence the interaction between the practitioner and patient which can influence the patients' expectation of the care they will receive (Jeffrey & Foster, 2012). Health care practitioners (HCP) attitudes and beliefs have been shown to impact guideline adherence in low back pain and if the
practitioner follows a bio-medical model and has high fear-avoidance beliefs often guideline adherence is low (Gardner et al., 2017). To understand clinicians' beliefs and attitudes in clinical practice the most used measure is the PABS-PT (Physicians Attitudes and Beliefs Scale-Physiotherapists).

The PABS-PT is a validated measure that provides a score of treatment orientation of the health care provider (Gardner et al., 2017). The orientation of treatment style has been shown to have a high correlation with clinical practice (Gardner et al., 2017). According to Darlow et al in a systematic review from 2012, the attitudes and beliefs of a healthcare professional affect patients' attitudes and beliefs, and health outcomes (Darlow et al., 2012). An understanding of a clinician's attitudes and beliefs and possible barriers will enable more effective implementation of current guidelines and new treatment models when educating practitioners of the effective ways to manage recurrent low back pain (Poitras et al., 2012).

2.3.2 First-Line and Second-Line Interventions for Back Pain

First-line care is defined as "the first treatment given for a disease or condition that is often accepted as the best treatment" (Cancer.gov, n.d.).

First-line care may not cure the disease thus it is often part of a standard set of treatments that may include second line care. The primary goal of treatments for chronic LBP are pain relief, enhanced mobility, improved quality of life and physical function (Koldaş Doğan, Sonel Tur, Kurtaiş, & Atay, 2008) along with reassuring that their back pain has a favourable prognosis and is not dangerous (C. B. Oliveira et al., 2018; V. C. Oliveira et al., 2012). As most guidelines endorse the use of self-management as a useful strategy to address LBP they have been considered as a first-line treatment (Bernstein et al., 2017).

First line care for the management of low back pain recommended by the top three guidelines from the UK, USA and Denmark consist of reassurance and advice (O'Keeffe, 2019). For people with a good prognosis advice about keeping active and support for self-management are recommended (Bernstein et al., 2017). These three guidelines also include second-line treatment that endorse a variety of non-pharmacological options that include exercise either alone or in a combination with therapies such as spinal manipulation, soft tissue care, massage or psychological therapies such as cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) (O'Keeffe, 2019). The rationale behind using reassurance and advice as first line care are that both chronic and acute low back pain in the majority of cases improve greatly in the first 6 weeks ("NICE Guidelines Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s : assessment and management," 2019; Qaseem, Wilt, McLean, & Forciea, 2017; Stochkendahl et al., 2018). Thus, clinicians should reassure patients that their back pain is not harmful, it may fluctuate over time with substantial improvement and occasional flare ups may occur regardless of the type of treatment received. To this point, clinicians should advise people to enjoy an active lifestyle, avoid bed rest, continue working and continue with usual activities, despite their pain level (N. Foster, Anema, Cherkin, & al., 2018).

Second-line therapy that is endorsed from the guidelines and has shown potential to address persistent low back pain is psychological therapies, cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), mindfulness and multidisciplinary treatment ("NICE Guidelines Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s : assessment and management," 2019; O'Keeffe, 2019). These therapies have been used in chronic or persistent LBP because persistent long-lasting LBP are associated with greater levels of disability and may be influenced by factors like mood, beliefs, confidence, anxiety, and fear. A 2015 systematic review that measured the effectiveness of cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT) for nsLBP found a moderate effect in favour of CBT interventions for a range of PROM's when compared to no treatment or guideline-based active treatment (Richmond et al., 2015). They found that CBT when compared to wait list/ usual care the pooled standardised mean difference

(SMD) was -0.19 (-38,0.01) for disability, and -0.23 (-0.43, -0.04) for pain and when comparing to guideline-based active treatment the pooled SMD for disability was -0.83 (-1.46,-0.19) and pain was -0.48 (-0.93,-0.04) both favouring CBT (Richmond et al., 2015).

As mentioned above, no one treatment can address persistent LBP successfully, but some interventions can reduce pain and disability better than others (Maher et al., 2017). Low back pain is complex with many contributors to pain and disability consisting of psychological factors, societal factors, biomechanical factors, co-morbidities and abnormal pain-processing mechanisms (Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Karppinen, et al., 2018) (**Figure 2.3**).

Figure 2. 3 Contributors to low back pain and disability

(Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Karppinen, et al., 2018)



Evidence-based guidelines have been developed to include first-line and second-line treatments for persistent recurrent LBP that address both biomechanical and psychological factors. For this reason, first-line treatments for recurrent LBP include educating the patient and assuring them that the pain is not dangerous and that a serious cause for the patient's low back pain is unlikely (Kjaer et al., 2018; Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). For people that do not respond to first-line care, second-line care places an emphasis on exercise therapy, psychological therapies, spinal manipulation and massage and considers managing bio-psycho-social issues (Maher et al., 2017) including co-morbidities before managing this condition with a more outdated method of "low-value" care (imaging (X-ray, MRI), pharmaceuticals (Opioids) and surgery) (N. Foster et al., 2018; O'Connell et al., 2016).

The patient also needs to be reassured that there is no need for any further medical tests or imaging (Maher et al., 2017). According to the Toward Optimized Practice (TOP), clinicians should educate the patient with a clear diagnosis, advise to stay active, discuss the idea of hurt versus harm and pace activity (Francisco, 2017). The patient should also be prescribed recommendations of exercise or therapeutic exercise and possibly given options for analgesic medicines as second-line recommendations (Francisco, 2017). Other recommendations suggested in a 2016 systematic review and meta-analysis on the prevention of LBP concluded that exercise alone or in combination with education is an effective treatment for the prevention of low back pain (Steffens et al., 2016). The National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) LBP guidelines recommend patients to avoid bed rest and continue with activities as usual (Bernstein et al., 2017). Although second-line treatments for LBP are exercise and education, there is not currently a recommended approach that best outlines a specific type of exercise for persistent recurrent LBP (**Table 2.2**).

Intervention Type	Intervention	Acute LBP (>6 weeks)	Persistent LBP (> 12 weeks)
Education/Self-Care	Advice to remain active	First Line	First Line
	Education	First Line	First Line
	Superficial Heat	Second Line	Insufficient Evidence
Nonpharmacological Therapy	Exercise Therapy	Limited Use	Second Line
	Cognitive Behavioral Therapy	Limited Use	Second Line
	Spinal Manipulative Therapy	Second Line	Second Line
	Massage	Second Line	Second Line
	Acupuncture	Second Line	Second Line
	Yoga	Insufficient Evidence	Second Line
	Mindfulness-based stress reduction	Insufficient Evidence	Second Line
	Interdisciplinary rehabilitation	Insufficient Evidence	Second Line

 Table 2. 2 First- and Second-line care for Acute and Persistent LBP (O'Keeffe, 2019)

Effective strategies that show clinically significant improvements in pain and function are approaches that seem to be designed for individuals (with follow-ups) and concentrate on stretching and muscle-strengthening exercises (Hayden, Van Tulder, & Tomlinson, 2005) that are the most effective types of exercise to manage LBP. The specific types of exercises were mean ranked from best to worst improvement in pain and disability outcomes. Stretching was ranked first on mean rank for pain outcomes at 95% CI. Muscle strengthening was ranked first on mean rank for function outcome at 95% CI (Hayden, Tulder, Malmivaara, & Koes, 2005; Hayden, Van Tulder, et al., 2005). A systematic review based on 43 studies of individual or group-based exercise therapies which were low dose or intensity interventions reported greater improvement in pain (29%) than function (4%) compared to no treatment (Hayden, Van Tulder, et al., 2005).

Other therapies also included education or advice to stay active, nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), manual therapies, and passive modalities. Stretching and muscle-strengthening exercises were the most effective types of exercises for treating chronic LBP.

A systematic review article based on 3907 participants discussed that exercise for non-specific LBP should comprise of 20 hours of supervised sessions over 8-12 weeks and incorporate a home program (Hayden, Van Tulder, et al., 2005; Hoffmann et al., 2016). The type of exercise was found less important than the execution of the program which included supervision, a home program and lasted at least 8 weeks in duration. Also, these exercise programs often included education that addressed psychological manifestations of fear-avoidance, pain catastrophizing and low pain-self efficacy which can be obstacles to engaging in physical activity (Macedo et al., 2012). When people suffering from persistent recurrent LBP overcome these physical and psychological hinderances it led to effective self-management of their condition.

2.4 Exercise intervention for the treatment of persistent recurrent low back pain

Exercise therapy is widely used for LBP (Hayden, Van Tulder, et al., 2005) and exists in many forms ranging from general fitness/conditioning, aerobic, muscle-strengthening, flexibility and stretching exercises (Hayden, Van Tulder, et al., 2005; Stuber, Bruno, Sajko, & Hayden, 2014). A series of randomized controlled trials have provided scientific evidence supporting the benefits of exercise for the management of LBP (Hayden, Van Tulder, et al., 2005). Many studies and systematic reviews have tried to decipher the optimal type, mode, frequency and intensity of exercise (Hayden, Van Tulder, et al., 2005; O'Keeffe, Hayes, McCreesh, Purtill, & O'Sullivan, 2017). In this section of the literature review, we will be discussing the various forms of exercise and their potential benefit or lack of benefit for managing LBP.

2.4.1 Stretching and strengthening exercises for LBP

Stretching and strengthening exercises for LBP have been widely prescribed for the treatment of chronic LBP. These exercises have demonstrated effectiveness for improving function and work activities in a 2004 review on exercise (Rainville et al., 2004). The goal of these exercises is to increase flexibility of the back, increase strength of the back, and improve cardiovascular fitness while increasing capacities. The exercises are basic in that many people recognize them as being helpful for gaining flexibility and strength. Stretches that are recommended to improve back flexibility are ones that address the hip flexors, back extensors, back rotators, hip adductors, hip abductors, hamstrings, quadriceps, and calves. Stretches are typically held (static) for 20-40 seconds and recommended to be performed three times per week. Strengthening exercises are typically targeting the trunk muscles in the front and back of the body. The most researched form of exercise is resistance training and many advocate for using body weight for resistance (Rainville et al., 2004).

2.4.2 Motor Control Exercises

Motor control exercises (MCEs) are a common form of exercise used to manage LBP. These exercises focus on activating deep trunk muscles, with the goal of restoring motor patterns (control and coordination) and ultimately progressing to more complex and functional tasks (B. T. Saragiotto, Maher, Yamato, Costa, Menezes Costa, et al., 2016). Over the last 20 years, many studies have evaluated the potential use of this very popular mode of exercise in clinical practice (Russo et al., 2018; B. T. Saragiotto, Maher, Yamato, Costa, Costa, et al., 2016). The rationale for MCEs is based on the idea that stability and control of the spine are altered in people with LBP (L. O. P. Costa et al., 2009). MCEs are therapeutic exercises that were hypothesized to improve segmental stabilization thereby protecting the joints and decreasing pain (Hodges PW, Richardson, 1996). These exercises focus on activating the transversus abdominus and multifidi muscles of the trunk and spinal segments, respectively (Macedo et al., 2012). Because MCEs are

very popular in rehabilitation medicine and with manual therapists (chiropractic and physiotherapists) they have been researched extensively (B. Saragiotto et al., 2016). Although extremely popular, their effectiveness in controlling or preventing persistent recurrent LBP may be in question. A systematic review from Saragiotto et al concluded that MCEs are more effective than minimal intervention for reducing pain but probably does not influence disability in chronic LBP patients (B. T. Saragiotto, Maher, Yamato, Costa, Menezes Costa, et al., 2016). As for a comparison between MCEs and other forms of exercise or manual therapy, MCEs did not have clinically important differences for chronic and acute LBP patients (B. T. Saragiotto, Maher, Yamato, Costa, Costa, et al., 2016). Motor control exercises are used by physiotherapists and chiropractors to treat LBP, but these exercises focus only on localized muscle groups instead of using other muscle groups located globally that connect indirectly to the lower back (i.e., core, gluteal, quadriceps, hamstrings, latissimus dorsi).

2.4.3 Stability exercises

Core stability or stabilization exercises have become a common practice among clinicians for managing LBP. They have also become a widespread fitness trend and have gained popularity in the fitness world (Akuthota, Ferreiro, Moore, & Fredericson, 2008). Most health professionals who treat people with back pain use this type of training with their patients use this in their training programs. It has been suggested that core stability exercises are an effective technique to decrease pain in LBP patients (Stuber et al., 2014). The core is described as the area that involves the transversus abdominis in the anterior (front of the body), paraspinals and gluteal in the posterior (back of the body), the diaphragm superior (the roof) and the pubo-coccygeal and hip muscles in the inferior (the pelvic floor) of the abdominal area of the body (Akuthota et al., 2008) These muscles when working together form a corset around the centre of the body that will support and stabilize the lumbar spine and pelvis during functional movements (Akuthota et al., 2008). This exercise method is based on the premise that LBP is linked to a dysfunction of the

activation and timing of local spinal stabilization muscles (Falla & Hodges, 2017). The premise of core stability is that these specific exercises were designed to retain the coordination, timing, and activation of the local spinal muscles to decrease back pain (Smith, Littlewood, & May, 2014). Many other researchers have doubted this link between back pain, a weak core and non-appropriate muscle activation. If this rationale where true back pain would be deemed obsolete. A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of 29 studies suggested that core stability exercises alone lack positive evidence to be an effective treatment form for the management of LBP (Smith et al., 2014). Despite this evidence, core exercise teaching and training continues to gain tremendous popularity throughout the last several years.

Van Tudler et al in a 2000 Cochrane review assessed the effectiveness of exercise therapy for LBP on pain, function, overall improvement and return to work (Malmivaara, Esmail, Koes, & others, 2000). The results of that study conclude that therapeutic exercise was helpful for chronic LBP. Studies show that stability exercises are minimally better than no activity and that core stability exercises are more effective than motor control exercises when treating LBP.

2.4.4 Pilates

The Pilates method has gained some attention in the last decade for the treatment of nonspecific LBP (T. P. Yamato et al., 2016). Pilates was developed in the 1920's and consists of isometric contractions of the core muscles responsible for stabilization of the spine both with activity and rest. It consists of complete body conditioning to improve on better posture and body awareness (T. Yamato et al., 2015). Some documented benefits of Pilates include a better range of motion, strength, coordination, balance, muscles symmetry, flexibility, posture positional awareness (proprioception) muscle definition and general health which are all needed to improve LBP (Bryan & Hawson, 2003). Many randomized controlled trials and systematic reviews have assessed the effectiveness of Pilates exercises in physiotherapy for LBP and a Cochrane review of 9 studies

concluded that there is low quality evidence that Pilates is better than more effective than usual care or minimal interventions for pain in the short term (MD -14.05, 95% CI -18.91 to -9.19 p<0.001, n=265) and moderate quality evidence for pain (MD -10.54, 95% CI -18.54 to -2.62, n=146) at intermediate time frames (T. Yamato et al., 2015; T. P. Yamato et al., 2016). There was also low-quality evidence that Pilates improves disability at short-term versus usual care or minimal intervention with a small effect size (MD -7.95, 95% CI -13.23 to -2.67; P=0.003, n=248). It was less clear if Pilates was more effective than other exercises for pain intensity, disability, and function; thus, it was found that Pilates was not superior to other forms of exercise (T. P. Yamato et al., 2016). Consequently, the choice to use Pilates as an intervention for LBP would be based on the preference of patients and providers and the costs involved in the intervention (T. P. Yamato et al., 2016).

2.4.5 Yoga

Yoga as a treatment for LBP is a commonly used complementary treatment to physiotherapy. Yoga is characterized as a mind-body exercise intervention most known to address both physical and mental parts of pain with therapeutic techniques incorporating flexibility, posture, strength, breathing and meditation (Cramer, Lauche, Haller, & Dobos, 2013). Because of the potential benefit that Viniyoga- style Yoga has in studies; it has been recommended by the American Pain Society's guidelines for the treatment of chronic LBP (Chou et al., 2007). A systematic review of eight studies found strong evidence for short term effectiveness and moderate effectiveness of Yoga for chronic LBP for pain and disability (Cramer et al., 2013). Yoga was more effective than education, was not any more superior or inferior to usual care or other exercise and is safe (Cramer et al., 2013). This review was in line with a previous clinical practice guideline that concluded that there is moderate evidence that there may be long-term effectiveness for chronic LBP (Chou et al., 2017). Thus, yoga may be a form of exercise recommended as a second-line therapy to patients who do not improve with education on self-care options (Cramer et al., 2013). Yoga as an intervention for persistent recurrent LBP has shown strong evidence for short-term and moderate evidence for long-term reduction of LBP and disability (Cramer et al., 2013)

Pilates and yoga have often been seen as similar interventions, although Yoga incorporates more mind-body awareness as an important component of its philosophy. These two very popular forms of exercise for LBP have been incorporated into clinical practice in the last several years. Although similar, Yoga has greater potential than Pilates to be a therapy to address both physical and mental aspects of LBP (Cramer et al., 2013; Sorosky, Stilp, & Akuthota, 2008).

Comprehensive programs that are developed for the management of LBP need to be based on theories that address physical function, neuromuscular changes, decreased physical fitness, altered levels and patterns of activity (Kjaer et al., 2018). Consequently, there are many forms of exercise that have been studied and reviewed systematically. Recent opinions from these reviews have suggested that there is no one mode of exercise that is superior or inferior to any other exercise for the management of persistent recurrent LBP (Hayden, Van Tulder, et al., 2005). Thus, the choice of exercise for the management of chronic LBP should depend on the expertise of the therapist, patient preference, cost, and safety.

In light of this, programs such as GLA:D® Back are acknowledging this idea and considering a variety of exercise techniques encompassed into one pre-packaged program that may be of a greater benefit to this group of patients (Kjaer et al., 2018). Many researchers realize now that LBP is multifaceted, does not fit a simple model and numerous strategies have been used to manage this condition (Sorosky et al., 2008).

In this next section of the literature review, we will be discussing the various forms of education and behavioural programs and their potential benefit or lack of benefit for managing LBP.

2.5 Pain Education and Behavioural Programs

Diagnosing specific causes for LBP deems difficult, most LBP in primary care are labelled as nsLBP (Kent & Kjaer, 2012) and may have more dimensions to back pain than only pathoanatomical causes. Current evidence in back pain research recognizes that there is a psychosocial component to back pain. Thus, much research in the last two decades has focused the attention on psychosocial aspects of non-specific LBP along with pathoanatomic causes. For these reasons back pain education is now becoming a key component to back pain programs.

Behavioural interventions are frequently used in the treatment of persistent LBP and are assumed that the persistent pain and disability are influenced not only by somatic dysfunction but also by psychological and social influence (Van Tulder et al., 2001). Persistent LBP may vary depending on the person's perception of pain and coping skills that influence the attitudes, beliefs, psychological distress and behaviour around illness (Van Tulder et al., 2001; Waddell, 1987). Subsequently, therapies for LBP not only address the physical source of the condition but also concentrate on the cognitive (Van Tulder et al., 2001). These behavioural techniques are often utilized jointly as a comprehensive treatment approach and known as cognitive behavioural therapy. Cognitive behavioural therapy is founded on a multidimensional model of pain that includes cognitive, behavioural, emotional, and physical elements (Van Tulder et al., 2000). Cognitive-behavioural therapy often includes educating the person about identifying provoking and annoying thoughts, feelings, and behaviours around back pain and identifies maladaptive thoughts which are modified through the use of coping strategies and relaxation (Van Tulder et al., 2000). In a systematic review by Van Tulder et al in 2001, it was noted that the treatment was only effective if the person was ready to change and was motivated (Van Tulder et al., 2001). Consequently, the addition of behavioural therapy for people with LBP seems to be effective, and clinicians should be acutely aware that psychosocial risk factors are important to address in order

to avoid progression of persistent LBP, which can lead to disability (Van Tulder et al., 2001). Cognitive behavioural therapy has had the most potential effect on chronic LBP and as a result, is the predominant psychological treatment for people with chronic conditions such as low back pain (Ehde, Dillworth, & Turner, 2014). Along with chronic persistent recurrent LBP, many also have mood, anxiety and sleep disorders and CBT has found to be effective for treating these conditions (Babson, Feldner, & Badour, 2010; Driessen & Hollon, 2010; McEvoy & Nathan, 2007).

Thus, the goal of CBT is to reduce pain and psychological distress by first addressing maladaptive thoughts and behaviours then identifying and correcting these maladaptive thoughts and beliefs (Ehde et al., 2014). By using this technique persistent recurrent LBP sufferers can increase their self-efficacy for managing pain (Ehde et al., 2014).

2.6 Self Efficacy

Self-efficacy is an important skill to help people become self-reliant and manage pain (Bandura, 2004). People that have persistent recurrent LBP often have difficulties performing usual activities of daily living (ADL'S). There is also a huge variation in people's disabilities and how researchers have tried to identify the reasons that these variations exist. There is evidence that psychological factors play a role and may explain the development and maintenance of persistent recurrent chronic LBP. Low back pain in many people can be influenced by poor pain self-efficacy and fear of movement that are proposed to facilitate the relationship between pain intensity and disability (L. D. C. M. Costa, Maher, McAuley, Hancock, & Smeets, 2011). Hence targeting self-efficacy and addressing fear avoidance are two potential targets for psychological interventions.

A theory based on Bandura's theory of social learning describes self-efficacy as the confidence that a person has in his or her ability to achieve the desired outcome(Bandura, 1978, 2004). Thus, people with higher pain self-efficacy believe that certain activities can be carried out despite their pain experience. If people can attain higher pain self-efficacy then this should be associated with

better outcomes such as reduced disability (L. D. C. M. Costa et al., 2011). The Fear-avoidance behaviour model has also been proposed to be a reason why people experiencing LBP reduce their activities (Leeuw, Goossens, Linton, Crombez, Boersma, & Vlaeyen, 2007). This model of low back pain describes behaviours related to avoidance attributable to people's catastrophic thoughts and fear of movement that they believe could increase pain and as a result limit activities (L. D. C. M. Costa et al., 2011).

A study by Costa et al found that pain self-efficacy is an essential variable when comprehending the relationship between pain and disability (L. D. C. M. Costa et al., 2011). Fear has less of an effect on pain and disability when predicting future disability (L. D. C. M. Costa et al., 2011). For this reason, programs such as GLA:D® Back are focusing more on self-efficacy rather than just changing thoughts about fear.

2.7 Combining Education with Exercise Programs

Another therapy strategy that has had success is combining cognitive therapies with motor control training to combat recurrent persistent LBP. A 2003 study by Moseley et al suggests that an intervention grounded in the cognitive theory that combines pain education and motor control training is effective in reducing pain and disability associated with LBP (Moseley, 2003) and it is likely to be more effective than pain biology education alone. This strategy follows evidence-based guideline recommendations and has been used in current studies.

2.8 Implementing Education and Exercise into Clinical Practice

The implementation of evidence-based care into clinical practice is one of the most effective methods for improving patient care. But being the most effective can also be the most challenging. A common finding in health service research is that the latest translated research findings are not finding their way into clinical practice (J. Grimshaw, Eccles, & Tetroe, 2005).

Billions of dollars are spent globally each year to disseminate evidence-based guideline recommendations on healthcare training, professional development, quality improvement, patient safety, and risk management (Grol & Grimshaw, 2003). Despite these numerous actions, many in healthcare still have difficulty applying this information and delivering the most effective care to their patients. Established evidence-based guidelines and many randomized controlled trials with promise of more effective and safer patients' care are developed every year (Grol & Grimshaw, 2003); however, the evidence still does not make it into clinical practice and ultimately is not delivered to patients (Grol & Grimshaw, 2003).

Although randomized controlled trials and guidelines exist to manage LBP, introducing evidencebased guidelines for LBP into clinical practice remains challenging because of a lack of clarity of how to effectively implement guidelines in ways that change practice (Slade et al., 2015; Slade, Kent, Patel, Bucknall, & Buchbinder, 2016). Despite the efforts to improve quality care, many patients are receiving unsuitable or even harmful care for LBP (Grol & Grimshaw, 2003) and 20-25% of medical care for is not needed or potentially harmful (Grol & Grimshaw, 2003). For example, it is estimated that 30-40% of patients in the USA or Netherlands do not receive evidence-based care for LBP (J. M. Grimshaw, Eccles, Lavis, Hill, & Squires, 2012). Because of this evidence-practice gap patients are exposed to unjustified risks of iatrogenic harms (opioids and surgery) and needless expenditure on diagnostic imaging (MRI, X-ray) (N. N. E. Foster et al., 2018). In rehabilitation medicine, guideline usage is also a challenge because in this context, an evidence-based program to be implemented effectively should be well designed, well prepared, pilot tested and structured to improve patient care (Grol & Grimshaw, 2003).

Uptake of research findings traditionally has been through various methods. The availability of this information has been acquired through reviews of clinical journal articles, in clinical guidelines,

continuing medical education, conferences (Grol & Grimshaw, 2003) and knowledge translation (Jones, Roop, Pohar, Albrecht, & Scott, 2015). Most health practitioners find it difficult to keep up with the fast pace of staying current to maintain the synthesis of present knowledge and use this evidence in clinical practice (Grol & Grimshaw, 2003). It is also true that in both physiotherapy and chiropractic practices, it can be equally difficult to get information in the hands of these rehab practitioners, both to deliver this information consistently and make these clinicians responsible for the guidelines. Knowledge translation is also a strategy that may help the uptake of research information into the hands of practitioners. Although commonly used, it was found to have limited effectiveness. The authors of this systematic review along with others have suggested multicomponent interventions that target the barriers seen in clinical practice (J. M. Grimshaw et al., 2012; Jones et al., 2015).

Evidence-based guidelines regarding LBP deem evaluation of biopsychosocial factors when making decisions about managing patients with chronic LBP is encouraged (N. N. E. Foster et al., 2018). The top guidelines for LBP recommend educating the patient about their condition, stay active, keep working and use education and exercise as second-line treatments (O'Connell et al., 2016; K. O'Sullivan, O'Keeffe, & O'Sullivan, 2017; Wong et al., 2017). Again, despite evidence-based guidelines existing, musculoskeletal clinicians (physiotherapists and chiropractors) tend to consider the biomedical model of disease and focus on the biomechanical and physical impairments of these patients and not consider the psychosocial dimension of chronic persistent nsLBP (Gardner et al., 2017).

It has been commonly assumed that the individual healthcare practitioner is to be blamed for the lack of uptake of evidence-based guidelines. It is thought that practitioners may lack the knowledge, present with negative attitudes and have underdeveloped skills (J. Grimshaw et al.,

2005). Although this may be a reason, other factors do exist, for instance, barriers in the healthcare system may be represented by structural (financial disincentives), organizational (inappropriate skills, lack equipment/facility), peer group (local standards of care not in align with practice philosophy) and professional-patient interactions (patients belief about what is best) (J. M. Grimshaw, Shirran, Thomas, & Mowatt, 2001). Health care professionals are inundated with information including research findings which they may not read or act upon (Haines & Jones, 1994), thus many clinicians may doubt or overlook the research if it is not congruent with the clinician's own beliefs (Humphris, Littlejohns, Victor, O'Halloran, & Peacock, 2000).

2.9 Possible Solutions

As mentioned before, clinical guidelines recommend the use of patient education, patient's active participation, exercises, physical activity, and sometimes manual therapy with an outlook towards self-management (Kjaer et al., 2018). Unfortunately, the specific content of the information, education, exercises, and physical activity is poorly described in the literature and consequently poorly implemented (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). Because clinicians have trouble addressing all the relevant components of persistent/ recurrent back pain in the intervention, the challenge of integrating these components is an important factor in the evidence-practice gap. Also, successful implementation of the guideline recommendations requires a "buy-in" from both the patients and clinicians' alike for a treatment to be feasible. To address this problem standardized care programs have been developed. Standardized programs are developed to create consistency in care and use the evidence in an easy-to-follow format. This assures that every participant in a program will be delivered a consistent reproducible product.

"There is a need for more specific descriptions of the content of patient education, exercise and self-management strategies, as well as their method of delivery, and treatment regimen to guide the provision of

evidence-based advice and treatment to patients with back pain" (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019).

Chapter 4 discusses this study and the potential of implementing a program that follows the recommended guidelines for people with persistent recurrent low back pain (J Lemieux et al., 2020).

2.9.1 GLA:D® – A Program that follows Evidence-Based Guidelines

A program that may address recurrent low back pain and uses guideline recommendations is the GLA:D® program from Demark (Kongsted, Ris, et al., 2019). GLA:D®, Good Life with osteoarthritis in Denmark, is a standardized structured prepackage exercise and education program built for clinicians to successfully implement in clinical practice.

Standardized care programs can enable clinicians the translation of recommended guidelines into clinical practice (Kjaer et al., 2018). A standardized care program developed in 2013 by SDU researchers Eva Roos and Soren Skou called GLA:D® Hip and Knee is an example of this type of program (Skou & Roos, 2017). The aim of this program is to implement evidence-based guidelines for the treatment of knee and hip osteoarthritis (OA) in clinics throughout Denmark (Skou & Roos, 2017). GLA:D® Hip and Knee consists of three mandatory elements: a 2-day training course for physiotherapists; 8 weeks of education and supervised neuromuscular exercise for patients with hip and knee OA symptoms delivered by a certified physiotherapist (Skou & Roos, 2017). Five years after inception, GLA:D® Hip and Knee has more than 1000 clinicians worldwide certified via the 2-day course, more than 400 clinics offering the program and have treated nearly 30000 patients from hip and knee osteoarthritis in Denmark (Roos et al., 2018). It has been successful in making a standardized evidence-based package available in many countries including Canada (Roos et al., 2018). The program reported improvement in knee

pain of 27% and hip pain of 22% and that knee QoL measures improved by 13% for knee patients and 10% for hip patients ("Annual Report 2019 GLA : D ® Back," 2019) GLA:D® Hip and Knee has had an overwhelming success rate for patients with OA and has become a high-value option for patients with hip and knee OA (Roos et al., 2018). GLA:D® Hip and Knee was implemented in Canada in January 2016, Australia in December 2016, and China in September 2017 (Roos et al., 2018) with implementation in New Zealand and Switzerland (GIN meeting April 2019). Evidence supports that the GLA:D® program is an effective, feasible with clinical practice guidelines into clinical practice (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019).

2.9.2 Development of GLA:D® Back

Building on the success of GLA:D® Hip and Knee, another program under the GLA:D® trademark has been created: GLA:D® Back. The overall aim in the development of GLA:D® Back was to create a program that compiles elements of effective and recommended interventions into a standardized care package that is feasible and implemented by clinicians in primary care (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). A recent review from Australia suggested that people with back pain are often receiving the wrong type of care. Medical care still relies on referring patients for imaging (33%) and up to 60% received an opiate after a visit to emergency (Kamper, 2020). Only 20% of patients received recommendations and advice that aligned with clinical practice guidelines (Kamper, 2020). For adjunctive therapies such as physiotherapy and chiropractic, LBP treatment is often directed through a passive model of care that may provide immediate pain relief and long-term dependence upon the treatment (V. C. Oliveira et al., 2012). This type of care model over time is costly and not beneficial to patients. A shift to active from passive care along with learning self-management skills would be more in line with the guidelines and involve patients in their own care. This self-management strategy would promote positive attitudes towards controlling persistent/ recurrent back pain (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). The GLA:D® Back program takes components of psychological therapies including cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), mind-body therapies (relaxation, meditation, guided imagery), lifestyle (stress management) along with physical activity (supervised group exercise), and pain education. The intention of this program is to promote self-management for patients with a goal of improving the participants' health status or quality of life by teaching skill to apply in everyday life (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019).

The rationale to develop GLA:D® Back was based on the back-pain literature, consequences for the individual suffering from back pain, the societal consequences and the challenges faced by the clinician (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). The content of GLA:D® Back intervention was derived from clinical guidelines, reviews, randomized controlled trials and discussed in a multidisciplinary expert group (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). The expert group selected components of the intervention that included: patient education, suitable for groups of patients, targeted for patients with recurrent/or persistent non-specific back pain and addressed factors related to poor outcomes (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019).

2.9.3 Aim of GLA:D® Back

Ultimately, GLA:D® Back was developed to address prognostic factors related to back pain that are identified to cover the whole spectrum of Waddell's biopsychosocial model of pain and disability (Bekkering et al., 2005). Some examples in the biopsychosocial spectrum are pain catastrophizing, distress, somatization, and fear-avoidance behaviour (Bekkering et al., 2005). The overarching goal of GLA:D® back is to improve peoples self-management skills to address persistent recurrent LBP and to address prognostic factors for developing back pain related disabilities (Kjaer et al., 2018). This program would then be pre-packaged into a format that would be feasible in clinical practice and acceptable to patients and clinicians (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). After review of the literature and planning group discussions, the planning group identified several needs for patients with persistent back pain, needs for the

clinicians delivering the program and societal concerns (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). The primary need or aim was to change a patient's beliefs, feelings and behaviours associated with their condition by explaining pain, replace the patient's belief of structural causes of back pain and help restore a patient's confidence in moving in various ways and being physically active (Kjaer et al., 2018). All these activities within the program are to support patients with self-management strategies. GLA:D® Back aims to improve self-management of people with persistent or recurrent back pain by translating recommendations from clinical guidelines into an intervention that consists of a group-based supervised education and exercise program.

This program is based on two key concepts. First, pain does not necessarily reflect tissue damage. Second, creating human movement with natural variation creates positive expectations and reduces the fear of movement. These two key concepts have been used to develop the GLA:D® Back program which is aimed at improving self-efficacy and increasing pain control leading to positive effects on disability and quality of life. Overall, these changes are expected to reduced health care utilization and disability/sick leave.

2.9.4 The GLA:D® Back Intervention as a method to improve first-line recommendations for Low Back Pain

GLA:D® Back has been designed from a theoretical framework which distils evidence-based guidelines into a high-value care package of patient education and structured exercise aimed at increasing self-management in people with persistent low back pain. The program as a group intervention is unique because of its close integration of patient education and exercise which is driven by the patient's personal goals and capacities (Kjaer et al., 2018). This program was developed around a social cognition theory, the cognitive behavioural theory and behavioural change theory, where patients will face their individual challenges while participating in tasks during the education and exercise sessions (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). Education and

movement are the tools used to support the development of self-efficacy along with addressing patients' existing beliefs and concerns (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019).

2.9.5 Description of the GLA:D® Back intervention

GLA:D® Back starts with an individual assessment measuring four physical measures of abdominal strength, back extensor strength, forward flexion flexibility and sit to stand test in 30 seconds (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). Along with physical testing the initial session also will set up S.M.A.R.T. goals and the starting level for the exercises (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). After the initial assessment session, two 1-hour pain and back education classes are taught followed by twice per week of 1-hour supervised group exercise sessions for 8 weeks. The focus of exercises addresses the abdominal area, back extensors, abdominal obliques, lateral hip muscles, core and leg/thigh muscles incorporating the squat mechanism, mid-back rotation, agility, and flexibility. Throughout the program participants will be encouraged to move freely and try each level of exercise in the eight various blocks of exercises. The participants will do repetitions of each exercise between 5-20 reps and go through the 8 sections of exercises twice within the hour at their own pace. The chiropractic or physiotherapist instructors will show the exercises in the first few classes and are encouraged not to critique participants form of the exercise. This is much different than the GLA:D® Hip and Knee program where proper biomechanics is essential. The reason for the difference between the two programs is to allow the LBP patients to move freely and try the exercises on their own to establish less fear of motion and a better locus of control. If the patients are having some difficulty with the exercises the instructors can give some direction or alternatives to the exercises. The recommended group size for the supervised exercise will be 6-8. The program will end with a final assessment where personal goals are revised, and the clinical tests are repeated (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019).

The next section, chapter 3, compared the effectiveness of group exercise programs to other nonpharmacological interventions for chronic LBP. Chapter 4 investigated if it was feasible to implement an English translated version of GLA:D Back into clinical practice.

CHAPTER 3: COMPARING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF GROUP-BASED EXERCISE TO OTHER NON-PHARMACOLOGICAL INTERVENTIONS FOR CHRONIC LOW BACK PAIN: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW

A version of this chapter has been published. Lemieux J., Abdollah V., Powelske B., Kawchuk G., Comparing the Effectiveness of Group-Based Exercise to Other Non-Pharmacological Interventions for Chronic Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review. PLOS One 2020; 15(12): e0244444588

Abstract

Background: Low back pain (LBP) is the leading cause of disability worldwide with a substantial financial burden on individuals and health care systems. To address this, clinical practice guidelines often recommend non-pharmacological, non-invasive management approaches. One management approach that has been recommended and widely implemented for chronic LBP is group-based exercise programs, however, their clinical value compared with other non-pharmacological interventions has not been investigated systematically.

Objective: To compare the effectiveness of group-based exercise with other nonpharmacological interventions in people with chronic LBP.

Methods: Four electronic databases were searched by two independent reviewers. Only randomized controlled trials that compared group-based exercise with other non-pharmacological interventions for chronic LBP were eligible. Study quality was assessed using the Cochrane Handbook for systematic reviews of Interventions by two independent reviewers.

Results: Eleven studies were eligible. We identified strong evidence of no difference between group exercise and other non-pharmacologic interventions for disability level and pain scores 3-month post-intervention in people with chronic LBP. We could not find any strong or moderate evidence for or against the use of group-based exercise in the rehabilitation of people with chronic LBP for other time-points and health measurement outcomes. We found no statistically significant differences in disability and quality of life and pain between the group and individual non-pharmacological interventions that included exercise.

Conclusion: With this equivocal finding, group-based exercise may be a preferred choice given advantages in other domains not reviewed here such as motivation and cost. Further research in this area is needed to evaluate this possibility.

3.1 Introduction

Low back pain (LBP) is the leading cause of disability globally with a substantial financial burden on individuals, families, communities and governments worldwide (Hoy et al., 2014). At an individual level, LBP diminishes individuals quality of life by limiting activities of daily living, deteriorating mental health, decreasing life span (Fernandez et al., 2016) and inducing financial hardships (Froud et al., 2016). Therefore, LBP is thought to be the most costly disability of the working-age population (Bussières et al., 2018). The nature of LBP is highly prevalent and recurrent: the lifetime occurrence is estimated to be 85%, and ~50% of people will have at least 10 episodes in their lifetime (Hoy et al., 2014).

In addressing chronic LBP, clinical practice guidelines often recommend non-pharmacological and non-invasive management approaches for chronic LBP (Froud et al., 2016). Specifically, these guidelines recommend education and exercise as first-line interventions (Bernstein et al., 2017; Stochkendahl et al., 2018; Wong et al., 2017). While many randomised controlled trials have provided scientific evidence supporting the benefits of exercise in chronic LBP (O'Keeffe et al., 2017), how to best deliver exercise interventions is less clear. Individual exercise programs are the most widely implemented approach for addressing chronic LBP (Hayden, Van Tulder, et al., 2005). In contrast, group exercise-based classes have been found to be beneficial (Frost, Lamb, Moffett, Fairbank, & Moser, 1998; Frost, Moffett, Moser, & Fairbank, 1995; Underwood, 2004), but are not as widely used. Group exercise may be an equally effective alternative to individual exercise with potentially lower healthcare costs (O'Keeffe et al., 2017). The potential for social support and better social interaction in groups should also be considered a potential advantage (O'Keeffe et al., 2017). With this in mind, group exercise approaches have been recommended by the National Institute of Health and Care Excellence (Underwood, 2004).

Given the above, we could not identify any prior systematic reviews that compared group-based exercise to individual non-pharmacological interventions that may include education and/or exercise in people with chronic LBP. Therefore, we conducted this review to evaluate the comparative effectiveness of group-based exercise to other non-pharmacological interventions that may or may not include education and exercise on pain and disability in patients with chronic LBP.

3.2 Methods

In this systematic literature review, we considered group exercise as the intervention and employed the Cochrane Handbook for Systematic Reviews of Interventions (Higgins, Green, & Collaboration, 2008).Our reporting was planned according to the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) statement (Liberati et al., 2009).

3.2.1 Literature search and study selection

A systematic search was conducted on June 26, 2020, using MEDLINE[®], EMBASE, CINAHL, and Scopus. Search terms were selected through consultation between two rehabilitation experts and a university librarian. References cited within included articles were reviewed to identify additional studies. Two authors (JL and VA) had selected studies up until June 26, 2020, that compared group exercise with other forms of intervention programs for people with LBP. Results from each database were uploaded to Covidence (www.covidence.org) and duplicates were excluded after software review.

Group-based exercise programs were defined as a group of three or more participants taking part in an exercise class supervised by a health care provider. A non-pharmacological intervention was defined as one-on-one care between a health care provider and their patient that did not

involve pharmaceuticals. The intervention programs were identified using the search terms "group exercise"," GLA:D® Back", "group strengthening", "group physical activity", or "group strength training". Low back pain was identified using the search terms "chronic back pain", "persistent back pain", "long-standing back pain", "long-duration back pain", "long-standing lumbar pain", "long-duration lumbar pain", "chronic low back pain", "persistent low back pain", "long-standing low back pain", or "long-duration low back pain".

3.2.2 Eligibility criteria

Only peer-reviewed, randomized, controlled trials comparing group-based exercise including strengthening, physical activity, and strength training with other types of non-pharmacologic interventions for chronic LBP were included. We excluded reports related to conference proceedings, specific low back pain diagnoses, case series of fewer than ten subjects, case studies, systematic reviews, and protocol papers.

3.2.3 Selection of studies

Two investigators (JL and VA) with more than 10 years of experience in reviewing literature screened all titles and abstracts independently and retrieved the full text of the potentially eligible studies. Disagreements at the titles and abstracts stage were resolved through consensus.

3.2.4 Data extraction

A standard form (Appendix II) was developed to extract data based on published guidelines (Bialocerkowski, Klupp, & Bragge, 2010; Jerosch-Herold, 2005; Mokkink et al., 2010). Data for each study were extracted and cross-checked by two investigators (JL and VA). Disagreements were resolved by a third investigator (GK). The following information was extracted for each study: 1) characteristics of the participants: sample size, age, gender, height, diagnosis, pain duration,

location, and intensity; 2) inclusion and exclusion criteria; 3) characteristics of the interventions: the type, length of the program, mode of application, frequency and duration of group and individual exercise-based physiotherapy; 4) characteristics of the outcomes: pain and disability outcomes measures, follow-up times.

3.2.5 Methodological quality

The quality of included studies was assessed as outlined by PRISMA, and the Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) guidelines (Vandenbroucke et al., 2007). The quality appraisal focused on seven categories: subject recruitment, examiners, methodology, outcomes, handling of missing data, statistical analysis, and results (Appendix III). Two reviewers (JL, VA) conducted critical appraisal separately on each of the papers and decisions were verified through consensus. Practice appraisals and discussion of five full-text papers occurred for calibration before the full review. Studies with a minimum score of 70% were considered to be of high quality and those with a lower score to be of low quality (Cornelius, van der Klink, Groothoff, & Brouwer, 2011).

3.2.6 Data synthesis and analysis

A PRISMA flowchart was constructed to summarise the article selection process (**Figure 3.1**) (Liberati et al., 2009). Agreement between reviewers on article selection at each stage and on the quality appraisal of the included full-text articles was described using percentages. The level of evidence (strong, moderate, limited, no, and conflicting evidence) for the effect of interventions was determined according to the consistency of the research findings and the methodological quality of the included studies (Cornelius et al., 2011). The level of evidence was considered strong if there was more than 75% agreement between at least two high-quality studies and more than two low-quality studies on the outcome of the interest (**Table 3.1**) (Cornelius et al., 2011).





From: Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, The PRISMA Group (2009). Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses: The PRISMA Statement. PLoS Med 6(7): e1000097. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed1000097

For more information, visit <u>www.prisma-statement.org</u>.

The evidence was considered moderate if there was more than 75% agreement between a highquality study and at least three low-quality studies (**Table 3.1**) (Cornelius et al., 2011). The evidence was considered limited if only one high-quality study reported that outcome or at least three out of four low-quality studies (75%) reported the same outcome (Table 3.1) (Cornelius et al., 2011). The evidence was considered conflicting if there was less than 75% agreement among the studies irrespective of study quality (**Table 3.1**) (Cornelius et al., 2011).

Table 3. 1 Levels of evidence for summary statements and description of criteria adopted a priori to determine the level of evidence (Cornelius et al., 2011)

Level	Description
Strong	Consistent results (≥75%) from at least 2 high-quality* studies
Moderate	1 high-quality* study and consistent findings (≥75%) in 1 or more
woderate	low-quality studies
Limited	Findings in 1 high-quality* study or consistent results (≥75%)
	among low-quality studies
No	No study identified
Conflicting	Inconsistent results irrespective of study quality

*Studies with quality scores over 70% were deemed high quality.

Summary tables were prepared for participants' descriptions (**Table 3.2**), intervention used (Table 3), quality appraisal scores (Table 4), the level of evidence summary statements and outcomes extracted (**Table 3.5**).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Studies included

The search identified 639 references following removing duplicates (**Figure 3.1**). After title and abstract screening, 628 papers were excluded. One paper was identified by manual search. This resulted in a total of 11 papers meeting the selection criteria. The most frequent reason for exclusion was inappropriate study design (e.g. did not carry out between-group comparisons).

3.3.2 Pain information

Of the 11 studies meeting the inclusion criteria, all enrolled participants having chronic LBP. All but one of the 11 studies reported on pain chronicity (Johnson et al., 2007) (**Table 3.2**) Seven of the included studies reported pre-intervention and post-intervention pain intensity (Daulat, 2016; Hurley et al., 2015; Johnson et al., 2007; Lewis et al., 2005; Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013; Ryan, Gray, Newton, & Granat, 2010; Sahin, Albayrak, Durmus, & Ugurlu, 2011a).

Table 3. 2 Description of study type and study	y participants in the included studies
--	--

Authors	Study Type	Recruitment Strategy and Selection Criteria	Number of Subjects and Groups	Participant Age (years)	Diagnosi s	Pain (Duration)
Daulat (Daulat, 2016)	Permuted Blocks, Single Blinded, Two-arm RCT with 6- month follow- up	Male and female Aged 20- 75 years, Mechanical Chronic LBP >3 months Motivated and willing to attend both the physiotherapy group programs	Spinal Rehabilitation : 15♂, 26♀ Back to Fitness: 16♂, 24♀	Spinal Rehabilitatio n: 46.4 ±12.1 Back to Fitness: 43.3 ±12.7	Chronic LBP referred from General Physician s	Median (Interquartile Range): Spinal Rehabilitation: 36.0 (61) Months Back to Fitness: 21.5(62) Months
Harris et al. (Harris et al., 2017)	Three-arm RCT with	At least 50% sick leave due to unspecific LBP, Aged: 20- 60 years, being At least 50% employed Having one of the following International Classification of Primary Care diagnoses for the current sick leave episode	Brief Intervention: 43♂,56♀ Cognitive Behavioral Therapy: 31♂,24♀ Physical Exercise 32♂,28♀	Brief Intervention: 44.8±9.7 Cognitive Behavioral Therapy: 45.5±9.1 Physical Exercise: 44.2±10.6	Non- specific LBP	Brief Intervention 12.5±11.3 years Cognitive Behavior Therapy 9.6±10.9 years Physical Exercise 11.5±10.6
Hurley et al. (Hurley et al., 2015)	An assessor- blinded, Three-arm RCT trial with and 12- month follow- up	Male and female Chronic LBP (≥3 Months) or recurrent (≥3 episodes in previous 12 Months) Mechanical LBP with/without radiation to the lower limb Aged 18- 65 years	Exercise: 24♂, 59♀ Walking: 24♂, 58♀ Usual Physiotherap y: 31♂, 50♀	Exercise: 45.8±11.1 Walking: 46.2±11.3 Usual Physiotherap y: 44.2±11.7	Non- specific chronic or recurrent LBP	Exercise: 7±8.0 years Walking: 8.7±9.0 years Usual Physiotherapy: 7.5±7.9 years

Authors	Study Type	Recruitment Strategy and Selection Criteria	Number of Subjects and Groups	Participant Age (years)	Diagnosi s	Pain (Duration)
		No spinal surgery within the past 12 Months Deemed suitable by their general practitioner/hospital consultant to carry out an exercise program willing to attend an 8-week treatment program of exercise classes Access to a telephone (for follow-up support) Fluency in English (verbal and written) Low" or "moderate" levels of PA measured by the IPAQ (<600 metabolic equivalents of the task -minutes/ week)				
Johnson et al. (Johnson et al., 2007)	Two-arm RCT with 15- month follow- up	Aged 18- 65 years Consulting General Physicians with LBP between January 2002 and July 2003	Active intervention 45♂, 71♀ Control: 49♂, 69♀	Active intervention 47.3±10.9 Control 48.5±11.4	LBP	?
Lewis et al (Lewis et al., 2005)	Two-arm RCT	Aged between 18 -75 years, fluency in English, LBP >3 months	Group exercise 14♂, 26♀ Individual exercise 26♂, 14♀	Group exercise 46.1±12.7 Individual exercise 45.7±12.7	Non- radicular mechanic al LBP	Group exercise 11.1±12.6 years Individual exercise 10.1±9.9 years

Authors	Study Type	Recruitment Strategy and Selection Criteria	Number of Subjects and Groups	Participant Age (years)	Diagnosi s	Pain (Duration)
Masharawi & Nadaf (Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013)	Single-blinded, pilot, Two-arm RCT with 12- week follow up	Able to give informed consent,	Group Exercise 20♀ Control 20♀	Group Exercise 52.4±10.6 Control 53.6±9.5	Non- specific LBP	Minimum of 12 weeks,
O'Keeffe et al. (O'Keeffe, O'Sullivan, Purtill, Bargary, & O'Sullivan, 2020)	Pragmatic, Two-arm RCT with 12 months post- randomization	Chronic LBP	Group-based exercise and education intervention 30♂, 70♀ Cognitive functional therapy 24♂, 82♀	Group-based exercise and education intervention 47.0±13.2 Cognitive functional therapy 50.6±14.9	Chronic LBP	Median: 60 months
Ryan et al. (Ryan et al., 2010)	Single- blinded, Two-arm RCT with 3- month follow up	Male and female Aged 18-65 years Pain >3 Months No history of surgery	Education + Exercise: 6♂, 14♀ Education: 7♂, 11♀	Education + Exercise: 45.2±11.9 Education: 45.5±9.5	Non- specific LBP	Education + Exercise: 28.1±20.4 Education: 39.3±26.2
Sahin et al. (Sahin et al., 2011a)	Two-arm, RCT 3- month follow- up	Non-specific LBP>12 weeks without neurological deficits	Back school: 18♂, 55♀ Control: 16♂, 57♀	Back school: 47.2±11.2 Control: 51.4±9.6	Non- specific LBP	Back school: 6.5±7.3 months Control: 7.3±6.5 months
Sherman et al. (Sherman, Cherkin, Erro, Miglioretti, & Deyo, 2005)	Three-arm RCT with 26- week follow- up	Aged 20-64 years Had visited a primary care provider for treatment of	Yoga 11♂, 25♀* Group exercise	Yoga 44±12.0 Group exercise	LBP	Most experienced back pain more than 1

Authors	Study Type	Recruitment Strategy and Selection Criteria	Number of Subjects and Groups	Participant Age (years)	Diagnosi s	Pain (Duration)
		LBP 3 to 15 months before the study	13♂, 22♀ Self-Care Book 10♂, 20♀	42±15.0 Self-Care Book 45±11.0		year before the study, Two-thirds of participants reported pain lasted for more than 1 year.
Carr et al. (Carr et al., 2005)	Two-arm RCT with 12- month follow- up	Mechanical LBP lasting at least six weeks	Individual Physiotherap y 45♂, 74♀ Group Exercise 49♂, 69♀	Individual Physiotherap y 42.5±11.2 Group Exercise 42.0±10.6	Mechanic al LBP	Individual Physiotherapy 54%>6 months 46%<6 months Group Exercise 65%>6 months 35%<6 months

Abbreviations and symbols: RCT: Randomized Control Trial; LBP: Low Back Pain; ♂: males; ♀: females *Gender percentages are converted to a number.
3.3.3 Intervention used in the included studies

Table 3.3 summaries the intervention, duration, metric used, and data collection time points used in the included studies. From the resulting 11 studies, 27 different outcome measurements were identified (**Table 3.3**).

Table 3. 3 Description of the intervention used in the included studies

Authors	Groups	Intervention	Duration	Metric Used	Data Collection Timepoints
Daulat (Daulat,	Experimental	Group multimodal exercise therapy + one-to-one education and/or manual therapy sessions	Six 1-hour treatment sessions	Functional Rating Index NPRS EQ- 5D-5L	BL
2016)	Control	General exercise sessions using a circuit-based exercise format + weekly group education sessions at the end of the exercise period.	over a 3-month period	Participant Satisfaction Reporting Scale Group interviews	POI 6M POI
Harris et al.	Brief cognitive intervention	Brief cognitive, clinical examination program based on a non-injury model addressing pain and fear avoidance, where return to normal activity and work is the main goal.	two sessions over a period of 5 days with the choice of two booster sessions.	Increased work participation ODI Hospitality Anxiety and Depression Scale	BL Marataka DOL
(Harris et al., 2017)	Brief cognitive intervention + Cognitive-behavioural treatments	Cognitive-behavioural treatment manual adopted from the CINS trial (Reme et al., 2011)	7 session at 90min for a total of 10.5 hours over a 3- month period	Subjective Health Complaints Inventory Utrecht Coping List Instrumental Mastery-	Monthly POI up to 12 months
	Brief cognitive intervention + physical group exercise	Strength and endurance training + relaxation	90 min, Three times/week over a 3-month period	Orientated Coping Fear-Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire	
Hurley et al. (Hurley et al., 2015)	Walking	Walking	10-min walk at least 4 days per week proceed to 30 min of moderate-intensity PA for 5 days per week at week 5 for a total of 8 weeks	ODI NPRS Fear Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire-PA subscale Back Beliefs Questionnaire International Physical	BL 3M POR 6M POR 12M POR
	Exercise class	A programme of progressive or graded exercises + a back-care education message	1-hour weekly class up to 8 weeks	Activity Questionnaire Exercise Self-efficacy Questionnaire	

Authors	Groups	Intervention	Duration	Metric Used	Data Collection Timepoints
	Usual physiotherapy	Individualized education/advice, exercise therapy + manipulative therapy	?	Readiness to Change Questionnaire Patient Satisfaction Questionnaire	BL 3M POR
Johnson et al. (Johnson et al., 2007)	Active intervention	Booklet and audiocassette + community-based treatment program (problem-solving, pacing and regulation of activity, challenging distorted cognitions about activity and harm, and helping patients to identify helpful and unhelpful thoughts about pain and activity)	Eight 2-hour group sessions over a 6- week period	VAS RMDQ General Health Questionnaire EQ-5D	BL 3M POI 9M POI 15M POI
	Control	Booklet and audiocassette	None		
Lewis et al (Lewis et al.,	Exercise class	10 station exercise class involving aerobic exercises, spinal stabilization exercises, and manual therapy	8 treatments over 8	Lumbar flexion Lumbar extension Side flexion	POI 6M POI
(Lewis et al., 2005)	Individual treatment	One-to-one intervention, 30		Straight leg raising test Quebec back pain disability scale	12M POI
Masharawi & Nadaf (Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013)	Group exercise	10 repetitions of 10 exercises aimed at improving lumbar mobility/flexibility and stability	45 min group exercise session twice a week, over 4 weeks, Thereafter, monthly meetings took place to review and	VAS RMDQ Flexion ROM Extension ROM Left and right rotation ROM	BL 4W POI 8W POI (only intervention group)

Authors	Groups	Intervention	Duration	Metric Used	Data Collection Timepoints
			reinforce program consistency.		
	Control group	Waitlist			
	Group-based exercise and education	Three components to the intervention: 1) pain education; 2) exercise; and 3) relaxation.	Up to six classes over 6–8 weeks, each lasting ~1 hour and 15 min, with up to 10 participants in each class.	ODI Numerical Rating Scale Fear-avoidance using the physical activity subscale of the Fear Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire	
O'Keeffe et al. (O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	Cognitive functional therapy	Comprehensive one-to-one interview and physical examination by physiotherapists. Three components to the intervention: 1) cognitive component: making sense of pain; 2) exposure with 'control'; and 3) lifestyle change, which have been described in detail elsewhere	Length varied in a pragmatic manner based on the clinical progression of participants.	Coping subscale of the Coping Strategies Questionnaire Pain Self-Efficacy Questionnaire Nordic Musculoskeletal Questionnaire Örebro musculoskeletal screening questionnaire Subjective Health Complaints Inventory Depression, Anxiety and Stress Scale Patient Satisfaction Questionnaire	BL 6M POR 12M POR
Ryan et al. (Ryan et al., 2010)	Education and exercise group	Pain biology education + "The Back Book" + group exercise (Back to the Fitness exercise program, circuit-based, graded,	six classes, once a week for six weeks One session lasted 2.5 hrs	RMDQ NPRS Repeated sit-to-stand test	BL POI 3M POI

Authors	Groups	Intervention	Duration	Metric Used	Data Collection Timepoints
		aerobic exercise with some core stability exercises)		Fifty-foot walk test 5-min walk test	
	Education only group	Pain biology education cognitive behavioural intervention + "The Back Book"		Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia-13 Pain self-efficacy questionnaire Step-count for 1W	
		Didactic and practical training	1 hour, 2 times a week for 2 weeks		
Sahin et al. (Sahin et al., 2011a)	Back school + Exercise + Physical therapy	Lumbar flexion exercises Lumbar extension Lumbar stretching exercises, and strengthening exercises Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, ultrasound, and hot pack	5 times a week for	VAS ODI	BL 3M POI
2011a)	Control	Lumbar flexion exercises Lumbar extension Lumbar stretching exercises, and strengthening exercises Transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation, ultrasound, and hot pack	2 weeks		
Sherman et al.	Yoga	Yoga session + auditory compact discs to guide them through the sequence of postures with the appropriate mental focus		Telephone interviews	BL
(Sherman et al., 2005)	Conventional therapeutic exercise classes	short educational talk + exercise class (7 aerobic exercises and 10 strengthening exercises that emphasized leg, hip, abdominal, and back muscles)	75 min weekly for 12 weeks	RMDQ Short Form-36 Health Survey	6W POR 12W POR 26W POR

Authors	Groups	Intervention	Duration	Metric Used	Data Collection Timepoints
	Self-care book.	The Back-Pain Help book	?		
	Back to Fitness Program	Low impact aerobics, strengthening and stretching exercises for the main muscle groups, and relaxation + A cognitive-behavioural approach underpinned messages	8 hrs. over a 4- week period		
Carr et al. (Carr et al., 2005)	Physiotherapy	One (or a combination) of McKenzie exercises, strengthening exercises, stretching exercises, spinal stabilizations, other exercises, manipulation, mobilizations, traction, Short wave diathermy, ultrasound, interferential, TENS, other treatment (including massage, heat, laser, advice/education).	?	RMDQ SF12 EQ5D Pain Self-Efficacy Scale	3M 12M

BL: baseline; min: minutes, hrs.: hours, POI: post-intervention; POR: post-randomization, W: Week; M: Month; VAS: Visual Analogue Scale; ODI: Oswestry Disability Index; NPRS: Numerical Pain Rating Scale; RMDQ: Roland and Morris Disability Questionnaire; ROM: range of motion.

3.3.4 Methodological quality

Five studies met the methodological high-quality threshold of 70% (**Table 3.4**) (Carr et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2007; Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013; O'Keeffe et al., 2020; Sahin et al., 2011a). Five studies scored between 60% and 69% (Harris et al., 2017; Hurley et al., 2015; Lewis et al., 2005; Ryan et al., 2010), and one scored 50% (Daulat, 2016). The major source of bias in the resulting 11 papers was the failure to formulate correlation and mean difference-testing hypotheses (i.e. a priori), and therefore, these studies did not provide any information whether the expected direction of correlations or mean differences met the original hypotheses. All studies clearly described 1) their sample size estimation for each experimental group and 2) their main findings.

Table 3. 4 Quality appraisal of the studies included

Authors	Recruitment /7	Examiners /4	Methodology /5	Outcomes /2	Missing Data /8	Statistical Analysis /5	Results /2	Overall Score /33	Overall Score (%)
Daulat (Daulat, 2016)	5	1	5	2	2	2	1	18	56%
Harris et al. (Harris et al., 2017)	6	2	2	2	5	3	1	21	66%
Hurley et al. (Hurley et al., 2015)	6	2	4	1	4	3	2	22	69%
Johnson et al. (Johnson et al., 2007)	6	0	4	2	6	4	1	23	72%
Lewis et al (Lewis et al., 2005)	6	2	3	2	2	4	1	20	63%
Masharawi & Nadaf (Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013)	6	1	4	1	6	4	1	23	72%
O'keeffe (O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	5	4	5	2	4	5	2	27	82%
Ryan et al. (Ryan et al., 2010)	7	0	3	1	4	4	2	21	66%
Sahin et al. (Sahin et al., 2011a)	5	2	4	1	5	5	2	24	75%
Sherman et al. (Sherman et al., 2005)	6	3	4	1	4	4	2	24	75%
Carr et al. (Carr et al., 2005)	6	2	4	2	5	4	1	24	75%

Overall score: the sum of all scores

3.3.5 Measurement outcomes

From the resulting 11 studies, 47 different outcome measurements were identified with the resulting level of evidence and summary statements described in **Table 3.5** as applicable.

3.3.6 Primary outcome measures

Self-administered disability measures

Low back pain associated disability was evaluated in 10 studies. Five studies used the Roland-Morris Disability Questionnaire (Carr et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2007; Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013; Sherman et al., 2005); four used the Oswestry Disability Index Questionnaire (Harris et al., 2017; Hurley et al., 2015; Sahin, Albayrak, Durmus, & Ugurlu, 2011b; Sullivan et al., 2018) and one used Quebec back pain disability scale (Lewis et al., 2005). There was strong evidence of no difference between groups 3-month post-intervention from 3 high-quality studies and a study with moderate quality (Carr et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2007; Ryan et al., 2010; Sahin et al., 2011b). Likewise, there was limited evidence of no difference between groups from one study for 9-month and 15-month post-intervention (Johnson et al., 2007) and another study for 6-month postrandomization (Hurley et al., 2015). Two studies compared the post-intervention disability level with pre-intervention disability level (Lewis et al., 2005; Ryan et al., 2010). There was limited evidence of lower disability scores in people who received individual intervention compared to group exercise immediately and 6-month post-intervention. Results indicated limited evidence of no difference between exercise and education vs. education group only 3-month and 6-month post-intervention compared to the base-line group (Ryan et al., 2010). The results were inconsistent from two studies 6-month post-intervention (Lewis et al., 2005), and from two studies 3-month post-randomization (Hurley et al., 2015; Sherman et al., 2005), three studies 6-month post-randomization (Hurley et al., 2015; Ryan et al., 2010; Sherman et al., 2005). There was limited evidence from one study for lower disability scores 4-week post-intervention (Table 3.5). People in the group exercise (intervention group) had a lower disability score than people in the

waiting list (control) 4-week post-intervention (Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013). Likewise, there was limited evidence from one study for lower disability scores 6-week post-randomization (Sherman et al., 2005). In this study, people in the yoga intervention group had a lower disability score than people in the booklet only group 6-week post-intervention (Sherman et al., 2005). In this study, the difference was not significant between yoga and conventional therapeutic exercise classes vs. self-care book, and between and conventional therapeutic exercise classes vs. self-care book (Sherman et al., 2005). There was limited evidence from one study for lower disability scores 12-month post-randomisation (**Table 3.5**). Cognitive functional therapy led to greater reductions in disability compared with the group exercise intervention (O'Keeffe et al., 2020).

Pain

Pain level was measured in three studies using the Visual Analogue Scale (Lewis et al., 2005; Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013; Sahin et al., 2011b) and using the Numeric Pain Rating Scale in four studies (Daulat, 2016; Hurley et al., 2015; O'Keeffe et al., 2020; Ryan et al., 2010) (**Table 3.5**). There was moderate evidence of no difference between groups for 6-month post-randomization and 12-month post-randomization (Hurley et al., 2015; Sullivan et al., 2018). There was limited evidence of a lower pain score of people in the group exercise and education compared people of the education group 3-month and 6-month post-intervention compared to baseline (Ryan et al., 2010). There was limited evidence of non-difference between groups for immediately and 6-month post-intervention (Daulat, 2016), 9-month and 15-month post-intervention (Johnson et al., 2007), and 3-month post-randomization (Hurley et al., 2015). There was limited evidence of a lower pain score of people in the group exercise compared people of the individual intervention group 4 week post-intervention (Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013).

3.3.7 Secondary outcome measures

Quality of life

Quality of life was evaluated in four studies. Two studies used the EQ-5D quality of life scale (Carr et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2007), one used the EQ-5D-5L, one used the EQ-VAS (Carr et al., 2005) and one study used the short form SF-36 Health Survey (Sherman et al., 2005). There was strong evidence of no difference between groups in health surveys scores from two high-quality studies (Carr et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2007). Likewise, there was limited evidence of no difference among groups for all measurement time points (Carr et al., 2005; Daulat, 2016; Johnson et al., 2005).

Lumbar spine flexibility (flexion, extension, and lateral flexion)

There was limited evidence for no difference between groups post-intervention and 12-month post-intervention (Lewis et al., 2005) with respect group exercise vs. individual intervention on lumbar spine flexibility, however, there was limited evidence for more flexion, extension, and lateral bending range of motion in people of the group exercise group compared to the controls 4-week and 8-week post-intervention (Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013). Likewise, there was limited evidence of a higher range of motion for lumbar extension and lateral bending 6-month post-intervention (Lewis et al., 2005). Differences in the flexion range of motion between these groups were not significant (Lewis et al., 2005).

Fear beliefs

Low back pain associated fear beliefs were evaluated in three studies (Harris et al., 2017; Hurley et al., 2015; Ryan et al., 2010) with inconsistent results irrespective of the quality of the studies included. One study evaluated pain-related fear with the Tampa Scale of Kinesiophobia-13 (TSK-13, a modified version of the original Tampa scale of Kinesiophobia) (Ryan et al., 2010), one used the Fear-avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire (FABQ) (Harris et al., 2017) and one used the Fear

Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire-PA subscale and Back Beliefs Questionnaire (Hurley et al., 2015). There was limited evidence of no difference among groups for fear beliefs 3-month post-intervention (Hurley et al., 2015), 3-month and 6-mont post-randomization (Ryan et al., 2010), either 6-month post-intervention (Hurley et al., 2015) or post-randomisation (O'Keeffe et al., 2020), and either 12-month post-intervention (Harris et al., 2017; Hurley et al., 2015) or post-randomisation (O'Keeffe et al., 2020).

3.3.8 Other outcome comparisons

Most studies reported outcome measures in addition to those describing disability, quality of life and pain (**Table 3.5**). One study showed limited evidence that cognitive functional therapy was superior in pain self-efficacy, risk of chronicity, and coping compared to group-based exercise (O'Keeffe et al., 2020). The remaining other outcome measures had limited evidence of no difference between the group and individual programs (**Table 3.5**).

Level of evidence	From n studies	Changes	Data Collection Time-point	Groups compared					
Pain (Numeric pain Rating Scale and Visual Analogue Scale)									
Limited	1(Daulat, 2016)	No difference	Post-intervention	Exercise Group vs. Individual Treatment					
Limited	1(Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013)	A lower score for Group Exercise	4-week post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Control group					
Conflicting	3(Johnson et al., 2007; Ryan et al., 2010; Sahin et al., 2011a)	Inconsistent	3-month post-intervention	Exercise &Education vs. Education Group Exercise vs. Pain Biology Back school + Exercise + Physical therapy vs. Control					
Limited	1(Daulat, 2016)	No difference	6-month post-intervention	Exercise Group vs. Individual Treatment					
Limited	1(Ryan et al., 2010)	A lower score for Group Exercise	0, 3, & 6-month post- intervention	Exercise & Education vs. Education					
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	9-month post-intervention	Active Intervention vs. Control					
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	15-month post-intervention	Active Intervention vs. Control					
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	3-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy					
Moderate	2(Hurley et al., 2015; O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy					
Moderate	2(Hurley et al., 2015; O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy					
			Disability						
Limited	1(Lewis et al., 2005)	A lower score for individual intervention	Post-intervention	Group Intervention vs. Individual Intervention Group Exercise vs. Pain Biology					

Table 3. 5 Levels of evidence for summary statements for each intervention.

Limited	1(Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013)	A lower score for Group Exercise	4-week post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Control group
Strong	4(Carr et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2007; Ryan et al., 2010; Sahin et al., 2011a)	No difference	3-month post-intervention	Active Intervention vs. Control Group Exercise vs. Pain Biology Back school + Exercise + Physical therapy vs. Control Group Exercise vs. Individual Physical Therapy
Limited	1(Lewis et al., 2005)	A lower score for individual intervention	6-month post-intervention	Group Intervention vs. Individual Intervention
Limited	1(Ryan et al., 2010)	No difference	0, 3-month, & 6-month post- intervention	Exercise &Education vs. Education
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	9-month post-intervention	Active Intervention vs. Control
Limited	3(Carr et al., 2005; Harris et al., 2017; Lewis et al., 2005)	Inconsistent	12-month post-intervention	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy Group Exercise vs. Individual Treatment Group Exercise vs. Individual Physical Therapy
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	15-month post-intervention	Active Intervention vs. Control
Limited	1(Sherman et al., 2005)	Lower scores in Yoga group	6-week post-randomization	Yoga vs. Conventional Therapeutic Exercise Classes vs. Self-care Book
Conflicting	2(Hurley et al., 2015; Sherman et al., 2005)	Inconsistent	3-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy Yoga vs. Conventional Therapeutic Exercise Classes vs. Self-care Book
Conflicting	3(Hurley et al., 2015; O'Keeffe et al., 2020; Sherman et al., 2005)	Inconsistent	6-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy Yoga vs. Conventional Therapeutic Exercise Classes vs. Self-care Book Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	A lower score for Cognitive functional therapy	12-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy

		Lumbar Spine	Flexibility (Flexion, Extension, a	and Lateral Flexion)
Limited	1(Lewis et al., 2005)	No difference	Post-intervention	Exercise Class vs. Individual Treatment Group Intervention vs. Individual Intervention
Limited	1(Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013)	A higher score for Group Exercise	4-week post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Control group
Limited	1(Masharawi & Nadaf, 2013)	A higher score for Group Exercise	8-week post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Control group
Limited	1(Lewis et al., 2005)	Higher ROM for lumbar extension and side bending and no difference for flexion	6-month post-intervention	Exercise Class vs. Individual Treatment Group Intervention vs. Individual Intervention
Limited	1(Lewis et al., 2005)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Exercise Class vs. Individual Treatment
			Fear Beliefs	
Limited	1(Ryan et al., 2010)	No difference	0, 3-month, & 6-month post- intervention	Exercise & Education vs. Education
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	3-month post-intervention	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	6-month post-intervention	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy
Limited	2(Harris et al., 2017; Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Brief Intervention vs. Brief Intervention + Cognitive Behavioral Therapy vs. BI + Physical Group Exercise Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy
Limited	1(Ryan et al., 2010)	No difference	0, 3-month & 6-month post- randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
	×		Health Surveys	

Limited	1(Daulat, 2016)	No difference	Post-intervention	Exercise Group vs. Individual Treatment
Strong	2(Carr et al., 2005; Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	3-month post-intervention	Active Intervention vs. Control Group Exercise vs. Individual Physical Therapy
Limited	1(Daulat, 2016)	No difference	6-month post-intervention	Exercise Group vs. Individual Treatment
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	9-month post-intervention	Active Intervention vs. Control
Limited	1(Carr et al., 2005)	No difference	9-month post-intervention	Active Intervention vs. Control
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Individual Physical Therapy
Limited	1(Sherman et al., 2005)	No difference	6-week post-randomization	Yoga vs. Conventional Therapeutic Exercise Classes vs. Self-care Book
Limited	1(Sherman et al., 2005)	No difference	3-month post-randomization	Yoga vs. Conventional Therapeutic Exercise Classes vs. Self-care Book
Limited	1(Sherman et al., 2005)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Yoga vs. Conventional Therapeutic Exercise Classes vs. Self-care Book
			Functional Rating Index	
Limited	1(Daulat, 2016)	No difference	Post-intervention	Exercise Group vs. Individual Treatment
Limited	1(Daulat, 2016)	No difference	6-month post-intervention	Exercise Group vs. Individual Treatment
		Pa	articipant Satisfaction Reporting	g Scale
Limited	1(Daulat, 2016)	No difference	Post-intervention	Exercise Group vs. Individual Treatment
Limited	1(Daulat, 2016)	No difference	6-month post-intervention	Exercise Group vs. Individual Treatment
			Pain Self-efficacy	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	3-month post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Individual Physical Therapy
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Individual Physical Therapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	A lower score for Cognitive functional therapy	12-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
			Risk of Chronicity	

Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	A lower score for Cognitive functional therapy	12-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
			Coping	
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	A lower score for Cognitive functional therapy	12-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
			Number of Pain Sites	
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
			Risk of Chronicity	
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
	•		Sleep, Depression, and Anxiet	ty
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
	· /		Stress	
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy
			Satisfaction	
Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy

Limited	1(O'Keeffe et al., 2020)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Group-based exercise + education vs. Cognitive functional therapy				
Short Form Health Survey – Physical Component								
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	3-month post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Individual Physical Therapy				
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Individual Physical Therapy				
	ł	Short	Form Health Survey – Mental C	Component				
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	3-month post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Individual Physical Therapy				
Limited	1(Johnson et al., 2007)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Group Exercise vs. Individual Physical Therapy				
			Increased work participatio	n				
Limited	1(Harris et al., 2017)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Brief Intervention vs. Brief Intervention + Cognitive Behavioral Therapy vs. Brief Intervention + Physical Group Exercise				
		Но	spitality Anxiety and Depressio					
Limited	1(Harris et al., 2017)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Brief Intervention vs. Brief Intervention + Cognitive Behavioral Therapy vs. Brief Intervention + Physical Group Exercise				
		S	ubjective Health Complaints Inv					
Limited	1(Harris et al., 2017)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Brief Intervention vs. Brief Intervention + Cognitive Behavioral Therapy vs. Brief Intervention + Physical Group Exercise				
			Utrecht Coping List					
Limited	1(Harris et al., 2017)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Brief Intervention vs. Brief Intervention + Cognitive Behavioral Therapy vs. Brief Intervention + Physical Group Exercise				
		In	strumental Mastery-Orientated	Coping				
Limited	1(Harris et al., 2017)	No difference	12-month post-intervention	Brief Intervention vs. Brief Intervention + Cognitive Behavioral Therapy vs. Brief Intervention + Physical Group Exercise				
		Physical activ	vity (International Physical Activ	vity Questionnaire)				
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	3-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy				

Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy					
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy					
Exercise Self-efficacy Questionnaire									
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	3-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy					
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy					
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy					
Readiness to Change Questionnaire									
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	3-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy					
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy					
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy					
			Patient Satisfaction Questionn	aire					
Limited	1(Hurley et al., 2015)	No difference	3-month post-randomization	Walking vs. Exercise Class vs. Usual Physiotherapy					
		I	Left and Right Straight leg raisin	g test					
Limited	1(Lewis et al., 2005)	No difference	6-month post-randomization	Exercise Class vs. Individual Treatment					
Limited	1(Lewis et al., 2005)	No difference	12-month post-randomization	Exercise Class vs. Individual Treatment					
Repeated sit-to-stand test/ Fifty-foot walk test/5-minute walk test/ Step-count for 1 Week									
Limited	1(Ryan et al., 2010)	No difference	Post-intervention	Exercise &Education vs. Education					
Limited	1(Ryan et al., 2010)	No difference	6-month post-intervention	Exercise &Education vs. Education					
Pain self-efficacy Questionnaire									
Limited	1(Ryan et al., 2010)	More favourable results for the ED group	Post-intervention	Exercise &Education vs. Education					
Limited		results for the	Post-intervention	Exercise &Education vs. Education					

	Limited	1(Ryan et al., 2010)	More favourable results for the ED group	6-month post-intervention	Exercise &Education vs. Education
--	---------	-------------------------	---	---------------------------	-----------------------------------

3.4 Discussion

3.4.1 Main findings

The present systematic review identified strong evidence of no difference in disability level and pain scores 3-month post-intervention in people with chronic low back pain group-based exercise compared with controls that underwent other non-pharmacologic interventions. We also identified moderate evidence of no difference between group exercise and cognitive functional therapy for 6-month post-randomization and 12-month post-randomization. We could not find any strong or moderate evidence for or against the use of group-based exercise in the rehabilitation of people with chronic LBP for other time-points and health measurement outcomes.

These findings are consistent with findings of a recent systematic review conducted by O'Keeffe et al. that compared individual exercise to group exercise for all musculoskeletal conditions including LBP (O'Keeffe et al., 2017). O'Keeffe et al found that for disability and pain, no clinically significant differences were found between the group and individual physiotherapy including exercise for all musculoskeletal conditions (O'Keeffe et al., 2017). They also found seven studies that specifically related to LBP that also noticed no clinically significant differences in disability and pain when comparing group and individual physiotherapy involving exercise (O'Keeffe et al., 2017).

While our results suggest there is no difference between group exercise and non-pharmacological interventions, there was one study that demonstrated limited evidence that cognitive functional therapy was superior in self-administered disability measures 6 and 12-month post-randomization compared to baseline. The same study indicated that cognitive functional therapy was superior in pain self-efficacy, risk of chronicity, and coping compared to group-based exercise 12-month post-randomization compared to 6-month post-randomization (O'Keeffe et al., 2020).

Some secondary outcomes demonstrated interesting findings but were not frequently used in the included studies. These included fear-avoidance, QoL and cost. Based on one study investigated here, group-based exercise reduced fear-avoidance scores (Moffett, Carr, & Howarth, 2004), improved quality of life measures compared to usual general practitioner care (Johnson et al., 2007) and lowered costs (Lewis et al., 2005). Based on these studies, further exploration of these outcomes in relation to group-based exercise performance is warranted.

3.4.2 Study limitations

This review solely included studies published in English, and no search was conducted of the grey literature. These two factors may have caused a potential bias in selecting relevant studies. As discussed previously, the papers identified here were highly heterogeneous which prevented meta-analysis. Unfortunately, the literature was not sufficiently rich to limit our review to studies to head-to-head comparisons of group-based exercise with individual-based exercise and other specific interventions.

Further, in terms of our specific summary statements, some of these studies conflicted with each other depending on the time-points compared (**Table 3.5**). The majority of conflicts were observed for timepoints with two or three studies (each study weighted 50% or 33.33% in the summary statement, respectively). This indicates that even a different observation from a low-quality study could drastically change the level of evidence for a specific summary statement. The limited evidence summary statements often showed no difference among interventions. The studies compared were heterogeneous in terms of the population studied (different ages, different time points, different pain and disability level among participants) or because of other methodological considerations, which may have contributed to the frequent conflicting evidence summary statements and limited our ability to observe consistent effects of group-based exercise.

77

3.5 Conclusion

We identified strong evidence of no difference between group exercise and other nonpharmacological LBP interventions for disability level, quality of life, and pain. The remaining evidence was not of sufficiently high quality to permit further conclusions. With this equivocal finding, group-based exercise may be a preferred choice given advantages in other domains not reviewed here such as motivation and cost. Further research in this area is needed to evaluate this possible strategy.

Acknowledgement

The authors would like to thank Liz Dennett, University of Alberta Public Services Librarian, for her help in the database search.

Funding: None

3.6 References

- Bernstein, I. A., Malik, Q., Carville, S., & Ward, S. (2017). Low back pain and sciatica: Summary of NICE guidance. *BMJ (Online)*, 356, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i6748
- Bialocerkowski, A., Klupp, N., & Bragge, P. (2010). How to read and critically appraise a reliability article. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, *17*(3), 114–120.
- Bussières, A. E., Stewart, G., Al-Zoubi, F., Decina, P., Descarreaux, M., Haskett, D., ...
 Ornelas, J. (2018). Spinal Manipulative Therapy and Other Conservative Treatments for
 Low Back Pain: A Guideline From the Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative. *Journal of Manipulative and Physiological Therapeutics*, *41*(4), 265–293.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmpt.2017.12.004
- Carr, J. L., Klaber Moffett, J. A., Howarth, E., Richmond, S. J., Torgerson, D. J., Jackson, D. A., & Metcalfe, C. J. (2005). A randomized trial comparing a group exercise programme for back pain patients with individual physiotherapy in a severely deprived area. *Disability and Rehabilitation*, 27(16), 929–937. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280500030639
- Cornelius, L. R., van der Klink, J. J., Groothoff, J. W., & Brouwer, S. (2011). Prognostic factors of long term disability due to mental disorders: a systematic review. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *21*(2), 259–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-010-9261-5 [doi]
- Daulat, A. (2016). A pragmatic randomized controlled trial to compare a novel group physiotherapy programme with a standard group exercise programme for managing chronic low back pain in primary care. *International Musculoskeletal Medicine*, *38*(3–4), 97–108. https://doi.org/10.1080/17536146.2016.1261234

Fernandez, M., Ordoñana, J. R., Hartvigsen, J., Ferreira, M. L., Refshauge, K. M., Sánchez-

Romera, J. F., ... Ferreira, P. H. (2016). Is chronic low back pain associated with the prevalence of coronary heart disease when genetic susceptibility is considered? A co-twin control study of Spanish twins. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(5), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0155194

- Frost, H., Lamb, S. E., Moffett, J. A. K., Fairbank, J. C. T., & Moser, J. S. (1998). < Frost-1998-A fitness programme.pdf>, 75, 273–279.
- Frost, H., Moffett, j. a. K., Moser, J. S., & Fairbank, J. C. T. (1995). Randomised controlled trial for evaluation of fitness programme for patients with chronic low back pain. *Bmj*, *310*(6973), 151. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.310.6973.151
- Froud, R., Patel, S., Rajendran, D., Bright, P., Bjørkli, T., Buchbinder, R., ... Underwood, M. (2016). A systematic review of outcome measures use, analytical approaches, reporting methods, and publication volume by year in low back pain trials published between 1980 and 2012: Respice, adspice, et prospice. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(10), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164573
- Harris, A., Moe, T. F., Eriksen, H. R., Tangen, T., Lie, S. A., Tveito, T. H., & Reme, S. E. (2017).
 Brief intervention, physical exercise and cognitive behavioural group therapy for patients with chronic low back pain (The CINS trial). *European Journal of Pain (United Kingdom)*, 21(8), 1397–1407. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1041
- Hayden, J. A., Van Tulder, M. W., & Tomlinson, G. (2005). Systematic review: Strategies for using exercise therapy to improve outcomes in chronic low back pain. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 142(9), 776–785. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-142-9-200505030-00014
- Higgins, J. P. T., Green, S., & Collaboration, C. (2008). Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. Cochrane book series. Chichester, England ; Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.

- Hoy, D., March, L., Brooks, P., Blyth, F., Woolf, A., Bain, C., ... Buchbinder, R. (2014). The global burden of low back pain: Estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 73(6), 968–974. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204428
- Hurley, D. A., Tully, M. A., Lonsdale, C., Boreham, C. A. G., Van Mechelen, W., Daly, L., ...
 McDonough, S. M. (2015). Supervised walking in comparison with fitness training for chronic back pain in physiotherapy: Results of the SWIFT single-blinded randomized controlled trial (ISRCTN17592092). *Pain*, *156*(1), 131–147.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.000000000000013
- Jerosch-Herold, C. (2005). An Evidence-Based Approach to Choosing Outcome Measures: A Checklist for the Critical Appraisal of Validity, Reliability and Responsiveness Studies. *The British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *68*(8), 347–353. https://doi.org/10.1177/030802260506800803
- Johnson, R. E., Jones, G. T., Wiles, N. J., Chaddock, C., Potter, R. G., Roberts, C., ... Macfarlane, G. J. (2007). Active exercise, education, and cognitive behavioral therapy for persistent disabling low back pain: A randomized controlled trial. *Spine*, *32*(15), 1578– 1585. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e318074f890
- Lewis, J. S., Hewitt, J. S., Billington, L., Cole, S., Byng, J., & Karayiannis, S. (2005). A randomized clinical trial comparing two physiotherapy interventions for chronic low back pain. *Spine*, *30*(7), 711–721. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.brs.0000157469.27779.de
- Liberati, A., Altman, D. G., Tetzlaff, J., Mulrow, C., Gotzsche, P. C., Ioannidis, J. P., ... Moher, D. (2009). The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *62*(10), e1-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006 [doi]

- Masharawi, Y., & Nadaf, N. (2013). The effect of non-weight bearing group-exercising on females with non-specific chronic low back pain: A randomized single blind controlled pilot study. *Journal of Back and Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation*, *26*(4), 353–359. https://doi.org/10.3233/BMR-130391
- Moffett, J. A. K., Carr, J., & Howarth, E. (2004). High fear-avoiders of physical activity benefit from an exercise program for patients with back pain. *Spine*, *29*(11), 1167–1172. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-200406010-00002
- Mokkink, L. B., Terwee, C. B., Patrick, D. L., Alonso, J., Stratford, P. W., Knol, D. L., ... de Vet, H. C. (2010). The COSMIN study reached international consensus on taxonomy, terminology, and definitions of measurement properties for health-related patient-reported outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, 63(7), 737–745. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.02.006; 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.02.006
- O'Keeffe, M., Hayes, A., McCreesh, K., Purtill, H., & O'Sullivan, K. (2017). Are group-based and individual physiotherapy exercise programmes equally effective for musculoskeletal conditions? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *51*(2), 126–132. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095410
- O'Keeffe, M., O'Sullivan, P., Purtill, H., Bargary, N., & O'Sullivan, K. (2020). Cognitive functional therapy compared with a group-based exercise and education intervention for chronic low back pain: A multicentre randomised controlled trial (RCT). *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *54*(13), 782–789. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100780
- Reme, S. E., Tveito, T. H., Chalder, T., Bjørkkjær, T., Indahl, A., Brox, J. I., ... Eriksen, H. R.
 (2011). Protocol for the Cognitive Interventions and Nutritional Supplements (CINS) trial: A randomized controlled multicenter trial of a brief intervention (BI) versus a BI plus cognitive behavioral treatment (CBT) versus nutritional supplements for patients wit. *BMC*

Musculoskeletal Disorders, 12. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-12-152

- Ryan, C. G., Gray, H. G., Newton, M., & Granat, M. H. (2010). Pain biology education and exercise classes compared to pain biology education alone for individuals with chronic low back pain: A pilot randomised controlled trial. *Manual Therapy*, *15*(4), 382–387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2010.03.003
- Sahin, N., Albayrak, I., Durmus, B., & Ugurlu, H. (2011). Effectiveness of back school for treatment of pain and functional disability in patients with chronic low back pain: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, *43*(3), 224–229. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-0650
- Sherman, K. J., Cherkin, D. C., Erro, J., Miglioretti, D. L., & Deyo, R. A. (2005). Comparing yoga, exercise, and a self-care book for chronic low back pain: A randomized, controlled trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *143*(12), 849–856. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-143-12-200512200-00003
- Stochkendahl, M. J., Kjaer, P., Hartvigsen, J., Kongsted, A., Aaboe, J., Andersen, M., … Vaagholt, M. (2018). National Clinical Guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset low back pain or lumbar radiculopathy. *European Spine Journal*, 27(1), 60–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-017-5099-2
- Underwood, M. (2004). United Kingdom back pain exercise and manipulation (UK BEAM) randomised trial: Effectiveness of physical treatments for back pain in primary care. *British Medical Journal*, *329*(7479), 1377–1381. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38282.669225.AE
- Vandenbroucke, J. P., von Elm, E., Altman, D. G., Gotzsche, P. C., Mulrow, C. D., Pocock, S. J., ... initiative, S. (2007). Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE): explanation and elaboration. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *147*(8), W163-94. https://doi.org/147/8/W-163 [pii]

Wong, J. J., Côté, P., Sutton, D. A., Randhawa, K., Yu, H., Varatharajan, S., ... Taylor-Vaisey,
A. (2017). Clinical practice guidelines for the noninvasive management of low back pain: A systematic review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa)
Collaboration. *European Journal of Pain (United Kingdom)*, *21*(2), 201–216.
https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.931

CHAPTER 4: THE FEASIBILITY OF IMPLEMENTING AN ENGLISH LANGUAGE VERSION OF GLA:D BACK®

A version of this chapter has been published. Lemieux J., Kawchuk G., Kongsted A., Hartvigsen J., Abdollah V., Jones A. The feasibility of implementing an English language version of GLA:D® Back BMC Pilots and Feasibility Studies 2021 7:38

Abstract

Background: Evidenced-based clinical guidelines for the treatment of low back pain (LBP) consistently suggest educating patients about their back pain, its natural course, and providing advice to keep active and continue working. Despite this evidence, clinicians routinely do not follow these recommendations resulting in ineffective and fragmented care. GLA:D® Back, a standardized care package, was originally developed in Denmark to assist clinicians in implementing evidence-based care. This study will evaluate the feasibility of implementing the English version of Danish GLA:D® Back program in Alberta, Canada.

Methods: Thirty-five clinicians from nineteen clinics in Alberta, Canada participated. Feasibility of program implementation, our primary objective, was evaluated within 3 months. Feasibility success was defined as 50% clinician/clinic adoption in addition to 66 - 88 enrolled participants registered in the database. Our secondary objectives included collecting data pertaining to clinician confidence, attitudes, and behaviour of treating patients, perceived barriers, and facilitators of program in addition to collecting patient- data regarding pain, function, general health, and self-efficacy.

Results: The majority of the clinics (15/19, 79%) offered GLA:D® Back to their patients within the study period. Of the participating clinicians, GLA:D® Back was delivered by (25/35, 71%) of

85

clinicians. In total, 78 patients were enrolled in the program and (69/78, 88%) participants attended the final assessment. Secondarily, clinicians demonstrated a biomedical and behavioural orientation along with high confidence when treating LBP patients while patient outcomes trended toward improvement.

Conclusion: The English translation of the Danish GLA:D® Back program was feasible for Albertan clinicians to implement into practice in both urban and rural settings.

4.1 Key messages regarding feasibility

1) What uncertainties existed regarding the feasibility?

- Is the English version of GLA:D® Back feasible when taught and tested in English?
- Can clinicians trained in GLA:D® Back successfully implement the program?

2) What are the key feasibility findings?

- The majority of clinicians trained in GLA:D[®] Back employed the program in clinical practice.
- Participating clinicians had positive impressions of the program.
- Clinicians' ratings of program content, usefulness, and novelty were high.
- Clinicians were satisfied with the translated materials and the program itself.

3) What are the implications of the feasibility findings for the design of the main study?

- Training materials translated from Danish to English can be used to successfully train English-speaking clinicians.
- Trained clinicians can successfully implement GLA:D® Back in practice.
- Patient recruitment was difficult in shift workers or those with insufficient resources and/or insurance coverage.

4.2 Introduction

Low back pain (LBP) is a common, chronic recurrent symptom that is responsible for more years lived with disability than any other condition worldwide (Theo Vos et al., 2017). As a result, the societal, health care and economic burdens associated with LBP are equal to or greater than those of other high cost conditions such as cancer, cardiovascular disease, autoimmune diseases and mental health (Maniadakis & Gray, 2000).

Evidence-based clinical guidelines for the treatment of LBP consistently suggest educating patients about what back pain is, its natural course, and giving advice about staying active and

at work (N. Foster et al., 2018). In addition, most of these guidelines recommend supervised exercise, manual therapy alone or in combination with exercise and discourage routine imaging, administration of opioids and reserve surgery for a few with specific indications (Slade et al., 2016). Regardless, clinicians of various professions remain unclear about how to manage LBP (N. E. Foster, Hill, Doyle, & Young, 2014) as evidenced by their ongoing use of treatments and procedures not recommended by the guidelines themselves (Amorin-Woods, Beck, Parkin-Smith, Lougheed, & Bremner, 2014; Mafi, McCarthy, Davis, & Landon, 2013) which often results in ineffective and fragmented care (Buchbinder, Tulder, et al., 2018; N. E. Foster et al., 2018b; Hartvigsen, Hancock, Kongsted, Louw, Ferreira, Genevay, Hoy, Woolf, et al., 2018).

Standardized care packages based on guideline recommendations are suggested as a tool to assist clinicians in implementing evidence into clinical practice (Skou & Roos, 2017). One such program is Good Life with Osteoarthritis in Denmark (GLA:D®) for people with knee or hip pain. The GLA:D® program, described in detail elsewhere (Skou & Roos, 2017), is a standardized program that consists of group-based patient education together with 6 weeks of twice weekly supervised group exercise while patient outcomes are collected systematically in a clinical registry (Skou & Roos, 2017). Between 2013-2017, more than 1100 trained clinicians have entered 30,000 patients in the GLA:D® knee and hip registry in Denmark alone (Kjaer et al., 2018). This program has made standardized evidence-based care widely available and has been successful in a variety of ways including reducing disability, pain and medication use (Roos et al., 2018). GLA:D® knee and hip is now available in Canada, Australia, Switzerland, and New Zealand (Roos et al., 2018).

Based on the success of this approach, GLA:D® Back was created to address people seeking care for persistent or recurrent back pain with the goal of promoting self-management and patient empowerment. The GLA:D® Back program maintains the same core components of

88

patient education, supervised group exercise classes and a registry to record patient and clinician outcomes throughout the program. The program itself is taught to clinicians from approved professions (presently chiropractic and physiotherapy) in a 2-day seminar format which then qualifies attendees to offer to program in their community.

To date, the GLA:D® Back program has been launched in Denmark with 619 clinicians trained and approximately 2800 patients registered (April 2018 – December 2019) ("Annual Report 2019 GLA : D ® Back," 2019). Early indications from Danish pilot data suggest that GLA:D® Back is capable of reducing disability, pain and medication use while increasing physical capacities (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). To build on this success internationally, it is necessary to translate the GLA:D® Back program materials into English and evaluate the success of this translation in an English setting.

This paper reports on a feasibility study where the Danish GLA:D® Back program was translated into English and then subsequently delivered in private physiotherapy and chiropractic clinics in Alberta, Canada. Although cultural, professional and legislative differences may exist between implementation of the program in Denmark versus an English-speaking country, we hypothesize our results would be similar to those described in the Danish pilot (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019).

The primary objective of this feasibility study was the following:

To evaluate the adoption of GLA:D[®] Back in clinical practice among Canadian clinicians volunteering to the feasibility study.

In addition, our secondary objectives included:

 To evaluate clinician perception of GLA:D[®] Back training and GLA:D[®] Back implementation.

- To evaluate the potential change in clinicians' beliefs and behaviours about back pain after completion of the program.
- To describe the patient participants characteristics who enrolled in GLA:D® Back as well as patient self-reported outcomes related to function, pain, general health, and selfefficacy.

4.3 Methods

4.3.1 Overview

The feasibility study of the GLA:D® Back program was overseen at the University of Alberta and implemented by trained community clinicians based in urban and rural based physiotherapy and chiropractic clinics in Alberta. Pre-implementation training of clinicians occurred over a 2-day training course at the University of Alberta. Following training, clinicians delivered GLA:D® Back at their clinics on a voluntary basis. During the course of the study, clinician and patient's data were collected at baseline and at subsequent intervals via electronic questionnaires administered through Research Electronic Data Capture (REDCap). This study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Board of the University of Alberta (Pro00085118). GLA:D® is a non-profit initiative whose name is trademarked by the University of Southern Denmark (SDU). For an overview of the study's events and chronology, please refer to **Figure 4.1**.

Figure 4. 1 Study Flow. Overview of activities and data collections at the level of the clinicians and patients. Please refer to text for exact time periods

Clinicians	December 2018	February 2019	March/April 2019	May 2019	June 2019
Activity	Recruitment	2-Day training course	Teach GLA:D Back	Teach GLA:D Back	Phone Interviews
Surveys		Pre-and post-course			4-month follow-up
E-mail feed-back		E-mail Feedback	E-mail Feedback	E-mail Feedback	E-mail Feedback
Patients	December 2018	February 2019	March/April 2019	May 2019	June 2019
Activity		Recruitment	Attend GLA:D Back	Follow-up	
Surveys				3-Month follow-up	

4.3.2 Clinician education

Clinicians were recruited to the study using content approved for distribution on the Alberta College and Association of Chiropractors website (albertachiro.com), the Physiotherapy Alberta College + Association website (physiotherapyalberta.ca), as well as through personal contacts. All participating clinicians provided their consent for data to be collected and used for research purposes prior to training. On February 16-17th, 2019, enrolled clinicians participated in the 2day course. The course was taught by developers of GLA:D® Back and adapted from the Danish training program, which consisted of a mixture of lectures and practical workshops aimed to develop the clinicians' ability to deliver the program. Goal setting, clinical tests, patient education, supervised exercises, and data registration were introduced during the training workshop (Kjaer et al., 2018). Role-playing and skills training were used to familiarize clinicians with the educational component, performance-based tests, and exercises. Participants worked in groups to practice delivering key messages from the education content as they would in a real patient education session. Upon completion of the course, participants were given access to the REDCap data registry which also acted as a repository. Materials included standardized patient education sessions (PowerPoint with manuscript, exercises to support patients'
reflections, two posters with patient education key messages), exercise programs, content for patients and primary care physicians about the feasibility project itself.

4.3.3 Patients

Patients were recruited directly by trained clinicians within the boundaries set by their respective provincial regulatory bodies. Adult patients were eligible for the GLA:D® Back program if presenting with persistent or recurrent low back pain without or with leg pain with no known specific pathology and a perceived need for improved self-management skills. Execution of inclusion and exclusion criteria as well as collection of informed, written consent were performed by the clinician. Patients were required to pay \$100 CAN for the initial assessment and \$30 for subsequent sessions for a total of 20 sessions totaling \$640 to complete the full program. Patients' fees for three of the rural clinics were fully subsidized by the provincial health care program (Alberta Health Services).

4.3.4 The GLA:D® Back intervention

GLA:D® Back is designed to assist and promote patient self-management and self-efficacy by providing knowledge of pain mechanisms, reducing fear of movement and supporting patients in gaining control of pain, function and also to promote physical activity and exercise (Kjaer et al., 2018). In brief, an individual assessment provided by the trained GLA:D® clinician is completed to determine patient eligibility. If eligible, four clinical tests are then performed: standing forward bending test (Bach, 1985; Gauvin, Riddle, & Rothstein, 1990), trunk flexor endurance test (Arab, Salavati, Ebrahimi, & Mousavi, 2007; Moreland, Finch, Stratford, Balsor, & Gill, 1997), Ito back extensor endurance test (Arab et al., 2007; Ito et al., 1996; Moreland et al., 1997), and sit to stand in 30 seconds (Andersson, Lin, & Smeets, 2010; Strand et al., 2011). Personal goals (S.M.A.R.T. rehabilitation goal setting) (Bovend'Eerdt, Botell, & Wade, 2009) are discussed then established and the starting level of 8 separate groups of exercises is determined (Kjaer et al.,

2018). The participant is then scheduled for two 1-hour group-based education classes and biweekly 1-hour supervised group exercise sessions for 8 weeks (Kjaer et al., 2018). Group size was recommended by the GLA:D® developers to be 4-8 participants with a maximum group size of 10 (Kjaer et al., 2018). The program ends with a final assessment where personal goals are revisited, and the four clinical tests are repeated. A more detailed description of the theory and development of GLA:D® Back has been published previously in the Kjaer et al protocol paper (Kjaer et al., 2018).

GLA:D® Back was developed around social cognitive theory and cognitive behavioural theory (Kjaer et al., 2018). As such, education and movement (exercises) are used to support the promotion of self-efficacy (Kjaer et al., 2018). Key messages in the patient education, (i.e. LBP is common, pain intensity does not reflect tissue injury, and the spine is strong and designed for movement) are displayed throughout the education sessions and these messages are further incorporated into the exercise sessions one per week (8 keys messages total) (Kongsted, Ris, et al., 2019). Throughout the group exercise sessions, the participants' existing beliefs and concerns are discussed.

The exercise section of GLA:D® Back incorporates strength, endurance, and flexibility training divided into eight groups with four levels of difficulty in each (Kjaer et al., 2018). The starting level for each exercise is agreed on by the GLA:D® Back clinician and the patient as suitable for the participant's tolerance (Kongsted, Hartvigsen, et al., 2019). Participants are encouraged throughout the exercise sessions to explore a variety of movements rather than doing the exercise in one "correct" way (Kjaer et al., 2018). Participants self-progress under guidance to more difficult exercises throughout the hour sessions, while clinicians guide the performance of exercises and the choice of exercise level to the degree needed (Kjaer et al., 2018). Thus, the exercise program is both standardised and highly individualised.

4.3.5 Feasibility outcomes

Four months after training, clinicians were asked the following questions: When did you start offering GLA:D® Back in the clinic? How many cohorts have you started? What is the number of patients in the registry? Based on the GLA:D Back 2019 Danish Annual Report (Ris I, Kongsted A, Hartvigsen J, Kjaer P, 2019), our criteria for feasibility success was pre-defined as 50% of clinics/clinicians conducting the program within 3 months of completion of the training course resulting in 66-88 participants registered in the database. During the study period, clinicians provided the investigators with ongoing, informal feedback via a private smart app channel as well as asking for help or information on any aspect of the GLA:D® Back program. Clinicians were also free to express concerns or ask questions of the investigators via e-mail.

4.3.6 Clinician outcomes

Clinicians were surveyed at three-time points: 1 week prior to participating in the 2-day GLA:D® Back workshop immediately after the GLA:D® Back training course, and 4 months after completing the GLA:D® Back training course.

Specifically, the pre-course survey included closed-ended questions about clinician demographics (age, sex, profession, years of clinical experience, role at clinic i.e. clinic owner, self-employed, employee, previous experience with GLA:D® knee/hip) as well as an assessment of their confidence with handling back pain patients (Practitioner Confidence Scale-PCS) and their attitudes and beliefs about back pain (Pain Attitudes and Beliefs Scale-PABS). The PCS and PABS were repeated by an electronic survey 4 months following the training course. The PCS is a 4-item scale measuring confidence in managing people with back pain (Smucker, Konrad, Curtis, & Carey, 1998). Each item is scored on a 5-point scale. (1=" strongly agree" to 5=" strongly disagree") with the resulting sum score ranging between 4 to 20 where a

higher score indicates a lower confidence (Smucker et al., 1998). The PABS is used to assess the predominance of two treatment orientations toward the management of back pain: biomedical orientation or behavioural orientation (Houben et al., 2005; Ostelo, Stomp-van den Berg, Vlaeyen, Wolters, & De Vet, 2003). The biomedical subscale consists of 10 items (sum score 10-60) and the behavioural subscale of 9 items (sum score 9-54). Each item is scored on a 6-point scale. (1=" totally disagree to 6=" totally agree". Higher scores reflect a more biomedical or behavioural orientation respectively (Houben et al., 2005; Ostelo et al., 2003). Immediately following the GLA:D® course, clinicians were asked to rate the course with respect to course content, novelty, and usefulness with each of these domains scored on a scale of 0 to 10 (from 0=" very poor" to 10=" very good"). Clinicians were also asked to answer survey questions related to question from the DIBQ (Determinants of Implementation Behaviour Questionnaire) that were adapted for use in GLA:D® Back (Ris I, Schröder K, Kongsted A, Abbott, A, Nilsen P, Hartvigsen J, n.d.).

To better identify and understand barriers and facilitators of implementation, 4 months following the training course, the lead author (J.L.) conducted one-on-one semi-structured telephone interviews with all clinicians. The interview guide was centered on perspectives regarding the content of the clinical intervention and the implementation at their clinic with perspectives on patient recruitment for the program. The telephone interviews were twenty minutes in duration, audio recorded, transcribed verbatim and quotes related to various themes of GLA:D® Back were identified by J.L.

4.3.7 Patient outcomes

Patients who expressed interest in the study voluntarily provided their email address and received detailed information about the study as well as an electronic form to provide consent to be enrolled. If enrolled, they then received an automatically generated link to a baseline survey

on the day of the first consultation and 3 months later following completion of the GLA:D® program. If there was no response within 3 days, an automated reminder was sent. The baseline survey collected demographic information, information on LBP history, previous treatment, and self-reported risk factors for a poor prognosis (The STarT Back Screening Tool) (Hill et al., 2008).

Both at baseline, and at the 3-month follow-up, a series of patient reported outcome measures were collected including pain intensity via a numerical pain rating scale (0-10 NRS), activity limitation (Oswestry Disability Index (ODI); 0-100), illness perceptions (the Brief Illness Perceptions Questionnaire (B-IPQ); 0-80), fear of movement (Fear Avoidance Beliefs Questionnaire (FABQ); 0-24), quality of life (SF-36 subscales) and "perceived physical fitness" (0-40) via self-assessed strength, endurance, cardiovascular fitness, balance. Use of pain medication was documented as a binary yes/no response.

At 3-months after completion of the program, the above patient reported outcome measures (PROMS) were collected again in addition to reporting of usage of non GLA:D® interventions (e.g. spinal manipulative therapy, massage therapy). Participants were also asked if they were satisfied with the GLA:D® Back program using a 5-point Likert scale (1- "not at all" to 5- "to a great extent").

Finally, results for clinical tests conducted before and after GLA:D® Back were included in the participants database. These measures included physical performance assessed by a standing forward bending test (4-no pain with normal movement, 3-pain and normal movement, 2-no pain with abnormal movement, 1-pain and abnormal movement, 0-test not completed), the Ito extensor endurance test (static extension from 0 seconds minimum up to a maximum of 3 min),

the trunk flexor endurance test (0 seconds up to a maximum of 2 min in static sit-up position) and the sit to stand test (stand number of repetitions of standing from seated in 30 sec). Patient adherence was measured by the number of sessions attended.

4.3.8 Sample size

In this feasibility study, we limited participation to 20 clinics who each conducted a single GLA:D® Back intake of no more than 10 participants/ clinic. Clinician participation was capped to 20 clinics due to the size of our training facility. As for the limit of 10 patients per GLA:D class, this is the number described as optimal by the GLA:D® Back originators. As such, no formal sample size calculation was performed.

4.3.9 Analyses

Descriptive statistics were performed for all quantitative data collected.

Feasibility of adoption was based on multiple measures including the 1) number of clinics that offered the GLA:D® Back program and registered participants into the clinical registry within the first 3 months of the feasibility study, 2) number of clinicians that did the same, 3) the total number of participants enrolled in GLA:D® Back in that time period and 4) participants that finished the course with a final exit assessment and 5) the number of completed participants guestionnaires at the 3-month follow-up.

Clinicians' attitudes and beliefs about back pain were measured by describing group medians, 25th and 75th percentiles on the PCS, and the PABS-PT at baseline and 4-month follow-up. To evaluate the with-in clinician change on the PABS, the median change scores were calculated together with first and third quartiles.

Subsequent inferential analyses were carried out in an exploratory manner using R software (Version 3.6). We employed the Wilcoxon signed rank test to evaluate the change in both clinician and participants' measures as many of these outcomes did not meet established assumptions for parametric testing.

For the qualitative feedback collected through semi-structured interviews, the use of thematic analysis was employed pragmatically by grouping quotes into themes relating to the clinician course, participants education, participants exercise, participants recruitment and the logistics of implementing the program in clinic. All clinicians were accommodating to the procedure and the interview feedback resulted in rich information to improve upon the GLA:D® Back program.

4.4 Results

4.4.1 Participating clinicians

Thirty-five clinicians (n=25 physiotherapists, n=10 chiropractors) with varying clinical experience (56% had 11-20 years clinical experience) participated in the 2-day course. All clinicians 100% (35/35) completed the GLA:D® Back pre-course survey and the post-course survey. At 4-months, 77% (27/35) of clinicians completed the follow-up survey. Sixteen clinics were represented by two clinicians and the three rural clinics were represented by one clinician each. Six out of the fifteen clinics were concurrently offering the GLA:D® knee and hip program and 13/35 (36%) of clinicians have referred patients to the GLA:D knee and hip program (**Table 4.1**).

(unless other specified) Age, mean (range) 38 (24-58) Female 15 (42%) Physiotherapist 25 (71%) Chiropractor 10 (29%) Clinic Owner 12 (33%) Self-employed in a clinic own by someone else 11 (31%) Employee 12 (33%) Clinical experience 12 (33%) Clinical experience 10 (28%) 6-10 years 6-10 (28%) 6-10 years 6-10 (28%) 6-10 years 10 (28%) 20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip V No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, V median (range) V Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Noreth		n (%)
Female 15 (42%) Physiotherapist 25 (71%) Chiropractor 10 (29%) Clinic Owner 12 (33%) Self-employed in a clinic own by someone else 11 (31%) Employee 12 (33%) Clinical experience 12 (33%) Clinical experience 0 0-5 years 10 (28%) 6-10 years 10 (28%) 6-10 years 10 (28%) 11-20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip No No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, No median (range) 1000 Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 6 (2		
Physiotherapist 25 (71%) Chiropractor 10 (29%) Clinic Owner 12 (33%) Self-employed in a clinic own by someone else 11 (31%) Employee 12 (33%) Clinical experience 12 (33%) Clinical experience 10 (28%) 6-10 years 6 (17%) 11-20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip 10 (28%) No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, 10 median (range) 2 Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (1-10) Very Good 6 (24%) Good 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0	Age, mean (range)	38 (24-58)
Chiropractor 10 (29%) Clinic Owner 12 (33%) Self-employed in a clinic own by someone else 11 (31%) Employee 12 (33%) Clinical experience 12 (33%) Clinical experience 10 (28%) 6-10 years 10 (28%) 6-10 years 10 (28%) 6-10 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip 10 (28%) No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, 10 median (range) 2 Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (1-10) Outerall impression of the GLA:D Back programme 10 Very Good 6 (24%) Good 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0	Female	15 (42%)
Clinic Owner 12 (33%) Self-employed in a clinic own by someone else 11 (31%) Employee 12 (33%) Clinical experience 12 (33%) O-5 years 10 (28%) 6-10 years 6 (17%) 11-20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip 10 (28%) No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, 10 median (range) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Ocad 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0 Statisfaction with patient education materials 0	Physiotherapist	25 (71%)
Self-employed in a clinic own by someone else 11 (31%) Employee 12 (33%) Clinical experience 10 (28%) 6-10 years 6 (17%) 11-20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip 10 (28%) No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, 10 median (range) 2 Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Very Good 6 (24%) Good 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0	Chiropractor	10 (29%)
Employee 12 (33%) Clinical experience 10 (28%) 6-10 years 6 (17%) 11-20 years 6 (17%) 11-20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip 10 (28%) No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, 10 median (range) 2 Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Very Good 6 (24%) Good 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0	Clinic Owner	12 (33%)
Clinical experience 0-5 years 10 (28%) 6-10 years 6 (17%) 11-20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip 10 (28%) No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, 10 median (range) 9 (5-10) Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Rod 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad	Self-employed in a clinic own by someone else	11 (31%)
0-5 years 10 (28%) 6-10 years 6 (17%) 11-20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip 10 (28%) No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, 10 median (range) 2 Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Very Good 6 (24%) Good 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0 Very Bad 0	Employee	12 (33%)
6-10 years 6 (17%) 11-20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip No experience No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, Imedian (range) Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (1-10) Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programme Image: Course (Course) Very Good 6 (24%) Good 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0 Satisfaction with patient education materials Image: Course	Clinical experience	
11-20 years 10 (28%) >20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip 10 (28%) No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, median (range) Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programme Very Good Very Good 6 (24%) Good 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0	0-5 years	10 (28%)
>20 years 10 (28%) Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip 15 (42%) No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, median (range) Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (5-10) Bad 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0 Very Bad 0	6-10 years	6 (17%)
Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hipNo experience15 (42%)Have referred to GLA:D in house10 (28%)Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic3 (8%)Have instructed GLA:D groups2 (6%)Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, median (range)9 (5-10)Content (0-10)9 (5-10)Usability (0-10)9 (5-10)Novelty (0-10)9 (5-10)Novelty (0-10)9 (1-10)Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programmeVery GoodVery Good6 (24%)Good15 (60%)Neither good nor bad4 (16%)Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	11-20 years	10 (28%)
No experience 15 (42%) Have referred to GLA:D in house 10 (28%) Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic 3 (8%) Have instructed GLA:D groups 2 (6%) Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, median (range) Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (1-10) Very Good 6 (24%) Good 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0	>20 years	10 (28%)
Have referred to GLA:D in house10 (28%)Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic3 (8%)Have instructed GLA:D groups2 (6%)Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, median (range)9 (5-10)Content (0-10)9 (5-10)Usability (0-10)9 (5-10)Novelty (0-10)9 (5-10)Very Good6 (24%)Good15 (60%)Neither good nor bad4 (16%)Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	Previous experience with GLA:D for knee/hip	
Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic3 (8%)Have instructed GLA:D groups2 (6%)Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, median (range)7Content (0-10)9 (5-10)Usability (0-10)9 (5-10)Usability (0-10)9 (5-10)Novelty (0-10)9 (1-10)Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programme7Very Good6 (24%)Good15 (60%)Neither good nor bad4 (16%)Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	No experience	15 (42%)
Have instructed GLA:D groups2 (6%)Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, median (range)9Content (0-10)9 (5-10)Usability (0-10)9 (5-10)Novelty (0-10)9 (1-10)Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programme9Very Good6 (24%)Good15 (60%)Neither good nor bad4 (16%)Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	Have referred to GLA:D in house	10 (28%)
Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course, median (range)Content (0-10)9 (5-10)Usability (0-10)9 (5-10)Novelty (0-10)9 (1-10)Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programme9 (1-10)Very Good6 (24%)Good15 (60%)Neither good nor bad4 (16%)Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	Have referred to GLA:D in another clinic	3 (8%)
median (range) 9 (5-10) Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (1-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (1-10) Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programme Very Good 6 (24%) Good 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0 Satisfaction with patient education materials	Have instructed GLA:D groups	2 (6%)
Content (0-10) 9 (5-10) Usability (0-10) 9 (5-10) Novelty (0-10) 9 (1-10) Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programme 9 (1-10) Very Good 6 (24%) Good 15 (60%) Neither good nor bad 4 (16%) Bad 0 Very Bad 0 Satisfaction with patient education materials 9 (1-10)	Evaluation of the GLA:D Back Training course,	
Usability (0-10)9 (5-10)Novelty (0-10)9 (1-10)Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programmeVery Good6 (24%)Good15 (60%)Neither good nor bad4 (16%)Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	median (range)	
Novelty (0-10)9 (1-10)Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programmeVery Good6 (24%)Good15 (60%)Neither good nor bad4 (16%)Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	Content (0-10)	9 (5-10)
Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programmeVery Good6 (24%)Good15 (60%)Neither good nor bad4 (16%)Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	Usability (0-10)	9 (5-10)
Very Good6 (24%)Good15 (60%)Neither good nor bad4 (16%)Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	Novelty (0-10)	9 (1-10)
Good15 (60%)Neither good nor bad4 (16%)Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	Overall impression of the GLA:D Back programme	
Neither good nor bad4(16%)Bad00Very Bad00Satisfaction with patient education materials0	Very Good	6 (24%)
Bad0Very Bad0Satisfaction with patient education materials	Good	15 (60%)
Very Bad 0 Satisfaction with patient education materials	Neither good nor bad	4 (16%)
Satisfaction with patient education materials	Bad	0
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Very Bad	0
Very Satisfied 6 (24%)	Satisfaction with patient education materials	
	Very Satisfied	6 (24%)

Table 4. 1 Clinician characteristics and select outcomes

Satisfied	19 (76%)
Neither satisfied nor dissatisfied	0
Dissatisfied	0
Very dissatisfied	0

4.4.2 Clinician demographics at baseline

Clinicians were 42% female, 38 years old on average and were split into clinic owners (33%), self-employed (31%) or employees (33%) at a clinic with (71%) being physiotherapists and (29%) chiropractors. Most clinicians had greater than 11 years experience (56%) in clinical practice. Six percent (6%) had prior experience teaching GLA:D® knee/hip program and 58% were familiar with the GLA:D® knee/hip program (**Table 4.1**). Clinicians had a moderate biomedical and high behavioural orientation at baseline (PABS) and moderately high confidence when treating patients with back pain at baseline (PCS) (**Table 4.2**).

Variable	Pre- Training Median	Pre- Training Q1, Q3	Post- Training Median	Post- Training Q1, Q3	Difference in Median (Post-Pre)	Pseudo- median	р
PCS (4-20)	10.5	10.0, 11.0	9.0	9.0, 10.0	-1.5	1.5	< 0.001
PABS Biomedical (10-60)	27.0	23.0, 33.5	23.0	18, 29.5	-4.0	4.00	0.005
PABS Behavioural (9-54)	39.5	36.5, 42.0	42.0	37.5, 44.0	2.5	-1.50	0.023

 Table 4. 2 Clinician outcome measures evaluated by Wilcoxon Sign Test.

p indicates p value

Q1: First Quartile, Q3 Third Quartile

Note: P values for differences are from Wilcoxon signed-rank test

Abbreviations: PCS (Practitioner Confidence Scale), PABS (Pain Attitudes Belief Scale)

4.4.3 Patient demographics at baseline

Most participants (60%) had experienced LBP for more than one year and had prior treatment for more than 4 weeks duration (69%). The average age of patient participants was 56 (SD=13) years old with 66% (n=49) being females (**Table 4.3**). At the time of enrollment, 50% (n=39) of participants were taking over the counter or prescription medications and had slightly higher than moderate B-IPQ scores median difference: 6.5, (p= 0.015) (**Table 4.3**). Almost half of the participants were classified as high risk (33/74, 45%) for risk factors of a poor prognosis according to the STarT Back Tool (Hill et al., 2008). (**Table 4.3**) Participants at baseline scored moderately high for fear avoidance behaviour with a value of 15 (range 0-24) and a median decrease at post-intervention of: 5.0, (p<=0.001), and had a medium perception of physical fitness at baseline with a value of 19 (range 0-40) and a median increase of 3 (p=0.031) (**Table 4.3**). No adverse effects were reported in this study.

	GLA:D Back Group
	(n= 74) Baseline
Sociodemographic	
Females, n (%)	49 (66%)
Age, mean (SD)	55.5 (13.4)
Height	167.6 (10.5)
Weight	80.22 (17.7)
No qualification	0
Vocational Training	18 (24%)
Higher education <3 years	32 (44%)
Higher education >3 years	8 (11%)

Table 4.3 Patient baseline characteristics

Ordinary work n=69	26 (38%)
Unemployed	0 (0%)
Rehabilitation	0
Retired	20 (29%)
Student/housewife/other n=69	12 (17%)
Clinical symptoms	
Pain duration n=72	
<4 weeks	12 (17%)
4-12 weeks	4 (6%)
3-12 months	13 (18%)
> 1 year	43 (60%)
Previous episodes n=74	
0	16 (22%)
1	10 (14%)
2-3	12 (16%)
>3	36 (49%)
Time since treatment-initiated n=71	
< 2 weeks	10 (14%)
2-4 weeks	12 (17%)
>4 weeks	49 (69%)
No. of health care visits for present LBP n=69	
1	29 (43%)
2-5	32 (47%)
6-10	4 (6%)
>10	3 (4%)

Pain medication	n=82
None	41 (50%)
Over the counter	25 (30.5%)
Prescription	14 (19%)
START Back risk	
Low	12 (16%)
Medium	29 (39%)
High	33 (45%)
Sick leave last 3 months*(n=45)	
0 days	28 (62%)
1-14 days	12 (29%)
> 15 days	4 (9%)
EQ-5D 0-100(SD)	68.9 (18.0)

4.5 Feasibility outcomes

The majority of the clinics (15/19, 79%) offered GLA:D® Back to their patients within the study period. Four clinics, three urban clinics and one rural clinic, did not start the program because of difficulty recruiting patients from colleagues at their clinics (referrals), a perceived lack of the ideal patient for the program, or their clinic was not ready to start the program in the first 3 months following training. GLA:D® Back was delivered by (25/35, 71%) of clinicians. The 10 clinicians who did not deliver the intervention expressed the intention to deliver the program in the future. One clinician who delivered the program reported that they would not offer the program again in the future as "it does not fit with my practice style". The 15 clinics that actively participated in delivering the program enrolled a total of 78 participants who also attended the initial assessment (range 1-7 participants per group) within the first 3 months after having taken the course. Out of these fifteen clinics, ten clinics had a group size of at least 4 participants. Of

these seventy-eight participants, (69/78, 88%) attended the final assessment with nine participants dropping out for various reasons including a change in diagnosis of their condition (i.e. ankylosing spondylitis), worsening of symptoms unrelated to the back (i.e. shoulder), worsening of back symptoms, moved locations, or experienced a change in their work schedule. Of the enrolled seventy-eight participants, (52/78, 67%) completed the 3-month follow-up survey.

4.5.1 Clinician outcomes

Participating clinicians had a relatively high confidence rating on the PCS before the course and a slight increase in confidence with treating low back pain at 4-months post course (median difference: -1.5, p<0.001). The PABS indicated the clinicians had a combined biomedical and behavioural orientation with more of a preference for behavioral before the course. Clinicians showed significant differences in the PABS Biomedical Subscales (median difference: 4, p=0.005) and PABS Biopsychosocial (median difference: 2.5, p=0.023) which indicated clinicians were moving towards a behavioural orientation (**Table 4.2**).

The clinician's overall impression of the program was positive, and they were generally satisfied with the educational materials and exercise program (**Table 4.1**). Still, three clinicians were disappointed with the selection of exercises. A little more than half of the clinicians (19/35, 56%) were satisfied or very satisfied with the overall content of the exercise program, and all very satisfied/ satisfied with the educational materials (**Table 4.1**).

Clinician interview results

Thematic analysis of content from one-on-one interviews resulted the following two themes relating to program barriers and facilitators.

Identified barriers

Program cost and length were often commented to be limitations by patients interested in taking the program but ultimately not committing to it.

Statements about participants financial barriers from clinicians included:

"...one difficulty for people was financial... that was probably the biggest one. When recruiting, people they were really excited... That sounds amazing. That's going to work for me. And then when it came down to the financial part of it, they just couldn't do it".

Or

"...so, I think we had a few factors from our end was pricing. I think we had quite a few interested but a few just couldn't make it work in their budget."

There were some challenges for a few of the clinicians to recruit participants. Some clinicians suggested that they had difficulty with participants commitment to joining the program after being initially approached by clinicians and staff to join the program. Some additional reasons included timing of the classes (during the day or evening or weekends), cost of the program and committing eight weeks for the entire program.

Statements about barriers included scheduling issues and length of the program:

"...we surveyed patients and asked what would work best; either afterwork or sometime mid day...I think in general we took the mid day one because we had more people (available) from that end...but I think timing [of the program] was one of those[negative] factors...a third factor was we found some people just couldn't commit for eight weeks"

A few clinicians informed us that they would not be able to perform recruitment for various reasons including having too few patients with the required profile and having very few patients interested in the program with statements such as:

"...we ran a Facebook campaign for almost two months with no response...we decided external referrals were not happening...then had a meeting to decide if we're going to recruit candidates internally"

Identified facilitators

Clinicians evaluated the course with high scores for each of content, usefulness, and novelty (**Table 4.1**). This view was supported by one-on-one semi-structured interviews when clinicians were asked about rating the course. Representative statements included:

"I thought the 2- day course flowed very well...the instructors are very knowledgeable. I felt like we had some fun doing it. I thought the course was very well done...I would rate the course as excellent"

Patient Recruitment: Clinicians found the 2-day clinician GLA:D® course made them more aware of which participants would benefit from the program with statements such as:

"I also plan on... flagging patients who I think are moving into, or already have moved into chronic or recurrent back pain and making sure that I'm discussing this possibility [of GLA:D® Back] with them. And ...immediately, my mindset is, okay...let's make sure I funnel these patients that way [into the GLA:D® program]".

Clinician Participants experience with GLA:D® Back: When asked about patients' experiences, clinicians made statements such as:

"it is a novel form of treatment that allows the patients to take care of their own issues...by using GLA:D®, it's the exercises and knowledge that gives them [the patient participants] a long term tool that they can take home with them...showing them that movement is good and it's not necessarily one inherent movement that is going to cause them to mess their back up...but the more movement the better...understanding that movement is good".

Group exercises: Clinicians communicated about group exercise with statements such as:

"The first couple of weeks, everyone was warming up to each other in the group...now it's a lot of fun. Everyone is really interacting with each other and enjoying each other. And it's cool because there is now a team dynamic of learning".

Increasing capacities with exercises: As for the effect of exercise, clinicians made statement similar to these comments:

"...we had one patient that had a positive straight leg raise coming into [the program] and couldn't sit for more than 20 minutes and three quarters of the way through the program she drove 5 hours.... I asked how was sitting for that long...

She just looked at me with a blank look... Then she said... you know I just realized that I didn't have a problem".

4.6 Patient outcomes

4.6.1 Patient adherence

After the GLA:D® Back intervention, 84% of the 78 participants reported that they attended two of the education sessions and 74% of participants attended 11-16 exercise sessions throughout the 16-session program. A small proportion of participants (n=2) reported that they did not receive the education portion of the program and key messages during the exercise sessions which may have a negative effect on post intervention outcomes seen after the intervention.

4.6.2 Objectively assessed physical function

From baseline to 3 months, participants (n=52) had a median improvement of 1 repetition on a chair sit to stand for 30 seconds (p<0.001), a median improvement of 32 seconds (p<0.001), on the trunk flexor test (range 0-120 sec), and a median improvement of 80.5 seconds (p<0.001) on the Ito extensor endurance test (range 0-180 sec) (**Table 4.4**).

4.6.3 Self-reported measures

From baseline to 3 months participants had a large median improvement of 5 (p<0.001), on the FABQ (range 0-24) and a small median improvement of 6.5 (p=0.015), on the B-IPQ surveys. (**Table 4.4**)

From baseline to 3 months, participants had a minimal median improvement of -5 (p<0.001) on the ODI and moderate median improvement of 2 on NPS Back pain (<0.001) and moderate improvement of 1 on NPS Leg pain (p<0.001) (**Table 4.4**). At the 3-month follow up, most patient participants (76%) were satisfied or greatly satisfied with the GLA:D® Back program and (37/50) or 74% of participants used the GLA:D® Back at home although this is not a requirement of the program. The program was well tolerated by the participants with only 3/48 or 6.25% of participants experiencing worsening or new symptoms from the GLA:D® Back exercise sessions (**Table 4.1**). The largest change in outcome measures were seen with fear avoidance (FABQ) and the trunk flexor endurance, Ito extensor endurance and the sit to stand in 30 seconds. Disability measures observed a minimal effect on ODI measures from pre to post intervention and moderate changes were seen with leg pain and back pain (**Table 4.4**).

Variable	Pre- Training Median	Pre- Training Q1, Q3	Post- Training Median	Post- Training Q1, Q3	Difference in Median (post-Pre)	Pseudo- median	Ρ
FABQ (0-24)	15	9, 18	10	3, 12	5	6.50	< 0.001
B-IPQ (0-80)	50.5	45.0, 56.0	44	39, 54	6.5	4.00	0.015
Perceived Physical Fitness (0-40)	19	16, 24	22	15, 27	3	-1.50	0.031
Standing Forward Bending Test (0-4)	3	2,4	4	4,4	1	-1.50	<0.001
Trunk Flexor Endurance (0-120sec)	39.5	19.0, 74.0	71.5	39.0, 120.0	32	-27.00	< 0.001

Extensor Endurance	60	22, 120	140.5	75.0, 180.0	80.5	-70.00	< 0.001
(0-180sec) Sit to Stand In 30 secs	11	9, 13	14	12, 17	3	-3.00	< 0.001
ODI	25	16, 34	20	10, 28	-5	6.00	< 0.001
Back Pain (0-10)	5	3, 7	3	1, 4	-2	2.50	< 0.001
Leg Pain (0-10)	2	0.5, 5.0	1	0, 3	-1	2.00	< 0.001

4.7 Discussion

This study evaluated the feasibility of implementing GLA:D® Back, a structured group education and exercise program for people with persistent or recurrent back pain in the Canadian healthcare setting. Based on our success criteria, the program was found to be feasible in this setting.

4.7.1 Facilitators of GLA:D® Back adoption

GLA:D® trained clinicians were confident and motivated to implement this program which suggests that this may be a group of motivated, experienced clinicians. This group also volunteered for this study which implies that they had an affinity to this mode of treatment delivery.

Interestingly, the feasibility of the program was not heavily influenced by the current requirement that patients pay a substantial fee to participate. This requirement is a common one within this Canadian jurisdiction as most rehabilitation services are paid for out-of-pocket. Therefore, this circumstance is familiar to the Canadian public and as a result, was not in direct competition with programs that could be accessed at no cost to patients. Still, this financial restriction would most likely prevent access to many potential participants whose demographics and case history may be significantly different from those enrolled in this study. Consequently, caution should be exerted should these results be generalized to non-participants with low back pain within the same health care region.

	GLA:D® Back group (n=53)
GP	15%
Chiropractic	7.5%
Physiotherapy	5.6%
Massage	7.5%
Other	3.7%
OTC Medication	18.9%
Prescription Medication	20.8%
Number of visits in the last month	
One Time	28.6%
2-5 Times	57.1%
6-10 Times	14.3%
More than 10	0%
Satisfaction with the GLA:D Program	
To a great extent	31.5%
Greatly	40.7%

Table 4. 5 Proportion of patients who reported they had received listed interventions or care

 from various professions in the last month other than from the GLA:D® Back clinician

Somewhat	22.2%
To a small extent	0%
Not at all	1.9%
Do not know	3.7%

4.7.2 Barriers of GLA:D® Back adoption

Patient recruitment was seen by clinicians as difficult especially with patients who may work in shifts or individually expressed concern about having the financial resources to participate. This financial inequity may be a driver of the observation that patients with low socioeconomic status when measured by education, past occupation, income, subjective economic situation, and wealth, are more predisposed to experience low back pain when compared to those with high socioeconomic status (Ikeda et al., 2019).

Other program barriers mentioned included that the clinic was not organizationally ready to start the program due to logistical barriers such as timing, schedules of therapists, low recruitment or associate clinicians moving to a new clinic location or other life circumstances such as being pregnant and going on maternity leave.

For those clinicians who were not successful in starting and running the program with participating patients it is possible that they had other motivations for participating in the study. This may include expectations of more patient referrals from physicians and researchers as well as potential subsidy from the provincial healthcare system; only 10/19 (53%) were able to form a group of at least four patient participants.

4.7.3 Clinician outcomes

Clinicians' evaluation of the course was positive which may have been associated with our successful adoption rate. Also, clinicians held a moderately high orientation for a behavioral approach to care both before and after the 2-day course which also may have contributed. Small changes were observed in clinician PABS-PT scores indicating that clinicians held a strong belief both for biomedical orientation and behavioural before the course. Congruence between clinician beliefs and the underlying principles of the GLA:D® Back problem also favoured adoption. Interestingly, practitioner's confidence was relatively unchanged from baseline to 4-months following the training course which may relate to the experience level of the clinician cohort, the practice orientation of this cohort of clinicians, the quality of the training session or other factors not measured here. As such, these results are for a fairly short period following clinician training. Longer term studies will be needed to determine if these changes are sustained.

Clinicians mentioned in the interviews that GLA:D® Back built a strong group dynamic that could be an important factor for development of self efficacy through vicarious experience by observing other people in a similar situation. Clinicians also suggested that the program builds up physical capacities to match daily demands of participants' activities. These two observations are important in this type of evidence-based program which is based on the Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) targeting patients' goals. SCT provides opportunities for social (group) support through instilling expectations, self-efficacy, and using observational learning and other reinforcements to achieve behavior change, while considering their individual capacity for performance (Bandura, 2004).

4.7.4 Participants outcomes

Most participants enrolled in GLA:D® Back (60%) had LBP for greater than one year indicating that the majority of participant reports of the duration of pain was congruent with the inclusion criteria for the program. This is important because clinicians were appropriately targeting patients with recurrent or persistent LBP which is the condition the program was designed to address. This suggests that through intentional enrollment by clinicians, curiosity by patients or a combination of both, the majority of those in the program had persistent or recurrent LBP. Further studies should be considered to evaluate how the GLA:D® Back program may perform when used with similar populations but in different situations such as pre-surgery waitlists or post-surgical recovery.

All patient factors evaluated were done so as an exploratory exercise given the lack of a sample size calculation in this feasibility study. The B-IPQ and SF-36 did not demonstrate a significant change over time. In this case, the measurement duration may not have been enough to counteract multitude of factors that may impact a person's beliefs and quality of life. The FABQ also showed significant improvement which suggests the education and exercise components of the program may directly address this concept. In this study, patient capacity improved as demonstrated by the four performance measures. Combined, these results may motivate clinicians and patients similarly and endorse this mode of program delivery.

4.7.5 Lessons learned

Feasibility may depend on clinicians properly informing patients of what to expect in the course in terms of fees, group setting and availability. Although some clinicians from this study had difficulties running the program, we found that the most motivated clinicians with a large heterogeneous LBP population were the greatest adopters of the GLA:D® Back program. Both GLA:D® Back programs in Alberta and Denmark had similar challenges with adoption.

Unfortunately, as the only program outside of Denmark conducting GLA:D® Back thus far, lessons of how to improve uptake are still evolving. These lessons may include offering a wider range of program times to accommodate a range of patient schedules, emphasis placed on the potential benefits of group vs individualized programming and identifying ways to decrease outof-pocket costs for patients to take the course.

4.7.6 Study strengths and limitations

This was a feasibility study and therefore was not designed or powered to fully evaluate clinician/participants outcomes. We did not evaluate the fidelity in treatment delivery and do not know to what extent the program was delivered as intended. A future trial to evaluate the efficacy or effectiveness of GLA:D® Back is a potential consideration. This work represents the first publication of data related to an English implementation of the GLA:D® Back program which provides a basis for its use in Canada and other English-speaking jurisdictions.

4.7.7 Implications for future studies

Possible directions for future studies would be to transition to a study design that evaluates the effectiveness of GLA:D® in terms of pain, disability, and self-efficacy.

4.8 Conclusion

The English translation of the Danish GLA:D® Back program was feasible for Albertan clinicians to implement into practice in both urban and rural settings.

Declarations

Ethics approval and consent to participate

The data collection has obtained authorisation from the University of Alberta ethics. This study was approved by the Human Research Ethics Board of the University of Alberta (Pro00085118).

When registered by the clinician, the patient receives an email with a link to a patient-reported survey. Written information about the study, data protection, and participants' rights are in the survey with a request to confirm consent for using data for research purposes.

Consent for publication

N/A

Availability of data and materials

The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

Competing interests

N/A

Funding

No funding was obtained.

Author' contributions

All authors contributed to study design. JL and VA did the data analysis, and JL was responsible for data collection and drafted the manuscript. All authors contributed to subsequent revisions, read, and approved the final version of the manuscript. GK, AK, and JL were involved in teaching the translated GLA:D® Back course.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Inge Ris Hansen, Line Thomassen and Jasper Hoeg for their help in translating Danish GLA:D® Back content and in conducting the clinician training session. We would also like to thank clinicians and patients for participating in this study.

Conflict of Interest

None.

4.9 References

- Amorin-Woods, L. G., Beck, R. W., Parkin-Smith, G. F., Lougheed, J., & Bremner, A. P. (2014).
 Adherence to clinical practice guidelines among three primary contact professions: A best evidence synthesis of the literature for the management of acute and subacute low back pain. *Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association*, *58*(3), 220–237.
- Andersson, E. I., Lin, C. C., & Smeets, R. J. E. M. (2010). Performance tests in people with chronic low back pain: Responsiveness and minimal clinically important change. *Spine*, *35*(26), 1559–1563. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181cea12e

Annual Report 2019 GLA : D ® Back. (2019).

- Arab, A. M., Salavati, M., Ebrahimi, I., & Mousavi, M. E. (2007). Sensitivity, specificity and predictive value of the clinical trunk muscle endurance tests in low back pain. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 21(7), 640–647. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215507076353
- Bach, T. M. (1985). The Reliability of Selected Techniques in Clinical Arthrometrics. *Australian Journal of Physiotherapy*, *31*(5), 175–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0004-9514(14)60633-4
- Bandura, A. (2004). Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Health Education and Behavior*, *31*(2), 143–164. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198104263660
- Bovend'Eerdt, T. J. H., Botell, R. E., & Wade, D. T. (2009). Writing SMART rehabilitation goals and achieving goal attainment scaling: A practical guide. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 23(4), 352–361. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215508101741
- Buchbinder, R., Tulder, M. van, Öberg, B., Costa, L. M., Woolf, A., Schoene, M., ... Woolf, A. (2018). Low back pain: a call for action. *The Lancet*, *0*(0), 1–5.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30488-4

- Foster, N., Anema, J., Cherkin, D., & al., et. (2018). Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. *Lancet*, 6736(18), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30489-6
- Foster, N. E., Anema, J. R., Cherkin, D., Chou, R., Cohen, S. P., Gross, D. P., ... Woolf, A. (2018). Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. *The Lancet*, *391*(10137), 2368–2383. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30489-6
- Foster, N. E., Hill, J. C., Doyle, C., & Young, J. (2014). Effect of Stratified Care for Low Back Pain in Family Practice (IMPaCT Back). *Annals of Family Medicine*, *12*(2), 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1625.INTRODUCTION
- Gauvin, M. G., Riddle, D. L., & Rothstein, J. M. (1990). Reliability of clinical measurements of forward bending using the modified fingertip-to-floor method. *Physical Therapy*, *70*(7), 443–447. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/70.7.443
- Hartvigsen, J., Hancock, M. J., Kongsted, A., Louw, Q., Ferreira, M. L., Genevay, S., ... Woolf,
 A. (2018). What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. *The Lancet*,
 391(10137), 2356–2367. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30480-X
- Hill, J. C., Dunn, K. M., Lewis, M., Mullis, R., Main, C. J., Foster, N. E., & Hay, E. M. (2008). A primary care back pain screening tool: Identifying patient subgroups for initial treatment. *Arthritis Care and Research*, *59*(5), 632–641. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23563
- Houben, R. M. A., Ostelo, R. W. J. G., Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Wolters, P. M. J. C., Peters, M., & Stomp-van Den Berg, S. G. M. (2005). Health care providers' orientations towards common low back pain predict perceived harmfulness of physical activities and recommendations regarding return to normal activity. *European Journal of Pain*, 9(2 SPEC. ISS.), 173–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.05.002

- Ikeda, T., Sugiyama, K., Aida, J., Tsuboya, T., Watabiki, N., Kondo, K., & Osaka, K. (2019). Socioeconomic inequalities in low back pain among older people: The JAGES crosssectional study. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *18*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-019-0918-1
- Ito, T., Shirado, O., Suzuki, H., Takahashi, M., Kaneda, K., & Strax, T. E. (1996). Lumbar trunk muscle endurance testing: An inexpensive alternative to a machine for evaluation. *Archives* of *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 77(1), 75–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9993(96)90224-5
- Kjaer, P., Kongsted, A., Ris, I., Abbott, A., Rasmussen, C., Roos, E., ... Hartvigsen, J. (2018).
 GLA:D® Back: Group-based patient education and exercises to support self-management of persistent/recurrent back pain. Development, theories and scientific evidence. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disord, Accepted*, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-018-2334-x
- Kongsted, A., Hartvigsen, J., Boyle, E., Ris, I., Kjaer, P., Thomassen, L., & Vach, W. (2019). GLA : D ® Back : group-based patient education integrated with exercises to support selfmanagement of persistent back pain — feasibility of implementing standardised care by a course for clinicians, 1–16.
- Kongsted, A., Ris, I., Kjaer, P., Vach, W., Morsø, L., & Hartvigsen, J. (2019). GLA:D ® Back: Implementation of group-based patient education integrated with exercises to support selfmanagement of back pain-protocol for a hybrid effectiveness-implementation study 11 Medical and Health Sciences 1117 Public Health and Health Services . *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 20(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-019-2443-1
- Mafi, J. N., McCarthy, E. P., Davis, R. B., & Landon, B. E. (2013). Worsening trends in the management and treatment of back pain. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *173*(17), 1573–1581. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.8992

- Maniadakis, N., & Gray, A. (2000). The economic burden of back pain in the UK. *Pain*, *84*(1), 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(99)00187-6
- Moreland, J., Finch, E., Stratford, P., Balsor, B., & Gill, C. (1997). Interrater reliability of six tests of trunk muscle function and endurance. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 26(4), 200–208. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.1997.26.4.200
- Ostelo, R. W. J. G., Stomp-van den Berg, S. G. M., Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Wolters, P. M. J. C., & De Vet, H. C. W. (2003). Health care provider's attitudes and beliefs towards chronic low back pain: The development of a questionnaire. *Manual Therapy*, 8(4), 214–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1356-689X(03)00013-4
- Ris I, Schröder K, Kongsted A, Abbott, A, Nilsen P, Hartvigsen J, Ö. B. (n.d.). *The Determinants* of Implementation Behaviour Questionnaire (DIBQ): tailoring to best-practice low back pain primary care program implementation, and pilot testing in Sweden and Denmark. Manuscript in preparation.
- Roos, E. M., Barton, C. J., Davis, A. M., McGlasson, R., Kemp, J. L., Crossley, K. M., ... Skou, S. T. (2018). GLA:D to have a high-value option for patients with knee and hip arthritis across four continents: Good Life with osteoArthritis from Denmark. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, bjsports-2017-098904. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-098904
- Skou, S. T., & Roos, E. M. (2017). Good Life with osteoArthritis in Denmark (GLA:D[™]): evidence-based education and supervised neuromuscular exercise delivered by certified physiotherapists nationwide. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *18*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-017-1439-y
- Slade, S. C., Kent, P., Patel, S., Bucknall, T., & Buchbinder, R. (2016). Barriers to primary care clinician adherence to clinical guidelines for the management of low back pain: A systematic review and metasynthesis of qualitative studies. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, 32(9),

800-816. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.000000000000324

- Smucker, D. R., Konrad, T. R., Curtis, P., & Carey, T. S. (1998). Practitioner Self-confidence and Patient Outcomes in Acute Low Back Pain. *Archives of Family Medicine*, 7(3), 223– 228. https://doi.org/10.1001/archfami.7.3.223
- Strand, L. I., Anderson, B., Lygren, H., Skouen, J. S., Ostelo, R., & Magnussen, L. H. (2011). Research Report, *91*(3).
- Vos, T., Abajobir, A. A., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abate, K. H., Abd-Allah, F., ... Murray, C. J. L. (2017). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990-2016: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet*, *390*(10100), 1211–1259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32154-2

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSSION

The purpose of this thesis was to investigate if an evidenced-based group exercise program, founded on best practice guidelines, could be feasibly implemented into physiotherapist and chiropractic practices around urban and rural Alberta. Two papers published as part of this thesis explored the effectiveness of a group education and exercise class for the management of chronic low back pain. The first paper, in the third chapter, compares the effectiveness of group-based exercise to other non-pharmacological interventions for chronic low back pain: A systematic review (Lemieux, Abdollah, Powelske, & Kawchuk, 2020). The second paper, in the fourth chapter, investigated the feasibility of implementing an English language version of GLA:D® Back (J Lemieux et al., 2020).

5.1 Summary and interpretations

The two published papers in this thesis, found in chapter three and four, explored the possibility of a group exercise being used as an effective program for patients with persistent recurrent LBP. With this in mind, we performed a systematic review that explored the possibility of group exercise being equally effective for pain and disability measures as one-on-one interventions for chronic LBP. The results of the systematic review indicated that group exercise can be as effective for the management of persistent LBP as individual non-pharmacological care for pain and disability measures.

We also conducted a feasibility study to see if GLA:D® Back could be successfully implemented into clinical practice and measure whether participant outcomes improved. The information pertaining to clinicians found that they were satisfied with the translation of the course material and were highly satisfied with the 2-day course overall. The results found that the clinicians trended towards increased confidence (PCS) in treating LBP and belief in the behavioural nature

(PABS) of the GLA:D® Back program after the 2-day training session. In addition, many clinicians found that teaching GLA:D® Back was a positive experience and was achievable in everyday clinical practice. The results met the expectations supported by the hypothesis that 50% of clinicians would recruit between 66-78 participants for this feasibility study. Our clinicians did better than expected and 71% of the clinicians recruited 78 participants within 4-months which confirms that the program was feasible. When looking at secondary measures related to PROM's the study found that patients improved on fear avoidance (FABQ), physical capacity, pain (NPRS) and disability (ODI) measures. These results confirmed that a group exercise program based on LBP guidelines was feasible and could be an effective program for patients with persistent recurrent LBP. Thus, group exercise programs, in particular GLA:D® Back, may be an effective way to integrate evidence-based care into clinical practice.

5.2 Strengths and Limitations

The importance of this thesis is that it contained a framework that can help implement evidencebased guidelines (EBG) into clinical care. It also has the potential to change how healthcare is delivered, as it shifts from a focus on individual care to one on group care and from a biomedical to a biopsychosocial focus. Thus, a strength of this thesis is that it indicates that group care for LBP is a viable option for people with LBP. This study can also provide the foundation for a largerscale study.

A limitation of this thesis is we assumed that group exercise programs were a better option than usual physiotherapy care, including exercise, but we have not conducted a RCT as confirmation.

Another limitation of this study was that it was confined to an Alberta based cohort. As a result, we do not know if these findings are generalizable to other regions. An evaluation of the external validity of other populations not using English, such as Quebec, or non-Canadian English, such

as Australia or New Zealand, would help us determine the likelihood of this program's success around other jurisdictions.

5.3 Implications

Healthcare faces enormous challenges in the future, with the financial burden of costs related to LBP growing exponentially, many stakeholders are striving to initiate change. Recent evidence suggests that current practice orientation is discordant with the guidelines and only exacerbating the existing problem. Many experts are encouraging a significant change in the application of care for LBP from "low-value" care to "high-value" care. Programs like Choosing Wisely Canada encourage health care professionals to take the lead in reducing unnecessary treatments, procedures, and tests (Canadian Spine Society, n.d.). This initiative aims to identify tests and treatments commonly utilized in many medical specialties which fail to observe guidelines and put patients at risk. Choosing Wisely along with many international guidelines for low back pain have recommended against routinely imaging patients with LBP unless red flags are evident, against the use of epidural steroids for axial LBP and against the use of opioid medication as a first-line treatment for acute mechanical or chronic LBP Along with Choosing Wisely, the Alberta Institute of Health Economics recommends evidence-based guidelines for non-specific chronic back pain, and its mission is to help decision-makers get the most value from the health system (IHE, n.d.). According to this, a change will demand a cultural shift in LBP beliefs and practice.

This shift would include patient-centered care in which those with LBP are empowered and given tools to promote self-management skills, such as those provided by GLA:D® Back. This program would offer creative ways to reduce expenditures on managing LBP and assist health authorities to make changes. Thus, this program provides a great opportunity to initiate a shift from non-discordant individual back care to evidence-based group care for LBP.

5.4 Speculation

The thesis provoked speculations for patients regarding costs. If evidence-based group exercises are as effective at treating pain and disability as individual non-pharmacological interventions, then they may be a means of providing "high-value" care to underserved low-income individuals. With this program, health care authorities may have the ability to bridge the socioeconomic gap between those with high income and those with low income by providing a lower cost alternative. Since LBP and its associated costs have increased worldwide, notably in low- and middle-income countries, there is now an urgent need for more affordable evidence-based care (Buchbinder, Underwood, Hartvigsen, & Maher, 2020; Hartvigsen et al., 2018). In the future, LBP as well as the majority of MSK conditions may be treated through the development of more affordable, costeffective group programs with equal effectiveness (Lemieux et al., 2020; O'Keeffe et al., 2017). As these group programs become more popular, we may see alternative care pathways for LBP and other MSK conditions. Thus, a primary focus for healthcare authorities should be to provide funding for these "high-value", cost-effective group programs. Programs, such as GLA:D® Back, which teach self-management skills and adhere to the guidelines may be ideally positioned to provide care to the majority of patients with persistent recurrent LBP (Kongsted et al., 2019; J Lemieux et al., 2020). This work may give us insight on understanding the mechanisms aimed at developing patient self-management skills

Additionally, this thesis offers clinically relevant data for clinicians to consider when treating patients with low back pain. Many health-care providers continue to provide care within a biomedical framework. This practice orientation negatively impacts adherence to clinical practice guidelines, which advocate for a biopsychosocial model of care (Domenech, Sánchez-Zuriaga, Segura-Ortí, Espejo-Tort, & Lisón, 2011). Thus, the GLA:D® back program is positioned to fill a

gap by utilizing the recommended evidenced-based elements and packaging them into a program that is ready for use. The NICE guidelines suggest people with low back pain consider a supervised group exercise program of 10 or more participants for 12 weeks to manage their condition ("Low back pain: early management of persistent non-specific low back pain Full guideline May 2009 National Collaborating Centre for Primary Care," 2009). A one-to-one supervised exercise program is only recommended in the event the group program is not suitable for the individual ("Low back pain: early management of persistent non-specific low back pain Full guideline May 2009 National Collaborating Centre for Primary Care," 2009). Furthermore, the above guidelines along with our systematic review, indicated that there is no evidence that oneto-one based exercise is superior to group exercise. The NICE group also observed that group exercise could be delivered at a lower cost than one-to-one treatment ("Low back pain: early management of persistent non-specific low back pain Full guideline May 2009 National Collaborating Centre for Primary Care," 2009). In other words, by using a group exercise program such as GLA:D® Back, clinicians can shift to the BPS model while providing more effective care. GLA:D® Back is in line with these guidelines, and it has been thoughtfully developed and piloted in Denmark with continued success. We have also tested the viability of the English version of GLA:D® Back throughout Alberta and found it to be feasible in clinical practice. For clinicians, it is more practical and efficient to offer a group program to maximize the number of patients that a clinician can care for per session. Another positive effect of a group program is that they utilize active care as opposed passive care often seen in one-to-one care. The expectations in group programs shift so that participants take a more active role in their own care and can build greater self-efficacy.

The results of the systematic review and feasibility study as a whole constitute a significant step because they allow us to go to the next stage of development for GLA:D® Back. With this information, the program can be modified to address those concerns. Together, these findings
could transform the future of care for LBP in addition to many MSK conditions and represent a significant paradigm shift.

5.5 What does this mean for clinicians?

Evidence from the GLA:D® Back feasibility study supported the idea that pre-packaged evidencebased group programs could be used to assist clinicians to integrate an evidence-based program into clinical practice. From this valuable information we have established a baseline of a program by which to compare new programs.

The information in this thesis is also important because it substantiated that evidence-based group programs are equally effective as individual care for chronic LBP (Lemieux, Abdollah, Powelske, & Kawchuk, 2020). It may also influence clinical practice and shift it to include group exercise and behavioral programs. Even Though, Non-GLA:D® certified clinicians may think they can provide an alternative to GLA:D® Back, they may fail to provide the same amount of guideline-based care to their patients. Although GLA:D® back is not the only way to integrate evidence into practice, it is founded on research and provides a pre-packaged program for clinicians to successfully implement.

5.6 Future studies

One promising direction for future studies would be to evaluate GLA:D® Back's long-term effectiveness on patients' pain, disability, and self-efficacy in randomized control trials (RCTs) in an English setting. Although the GLA:D® Back study from Denmark found promising results it remains to be seen if these results can be generalized to an English version of GLA:D® Back in Canada. One reason that this work has not been done is that a feasibility study was needed to determine if it was possible to implement GLA:D® Back on a larger scale.

Second, the GLA:D Back feasibility study did not include a fidelity check to evaluate how closely clinicians followed the program material; a future study could address this as well as a trial to test long-term implementation in terms of reach, efficacy, adoption, implementation, and maintenance (RE-AIM) (Glasgow, McKay, Piette, & Reynolds, 2001). RE-AIM is used to guide program planning by systematically examining strengths and weaknesses of chronic illness management interventions and help improve the implementation of health interventions into practice (Glasgow et al., 2001). This information is important because it will measure whether the program as intended is implemented and maintained over time.

Another direction for future studies may explore a system that could identify subgroups of patients that are ideally suited to experience the greatest effect of this type of group program. This system could also identify patients that are not ideally suited to participate in the GLA:D® Back program and triage them toward more appropriate care for their back pain.

Researchers that authored the Lancet LBP series a "call to action" to reduce "low-value" care for LBP ask for solutions that implement best practice and redesign clinical pathways (Buchbinder et al., 2020). In this regard, researchers could examine the GLA:D® program as a part of a comprehensive "high-value" care pathway that can facilitate patients' selection of the best treatment options and would compare the overall costs of the patients' medical care compared to non-discordant care.

One interesting development that occurred in the past year was Tele-GLA:D® Back. Since the COVID-19 pandemic, all in-person programs were suspended, which created a significant barrier to continuing studies. To overcome this barrier developers of GLA:D proposed the idea of a Tele-Health platform for GLA:D® Back. Tele-GLA:D® Back is a version of GLA:D® back that is

129

performed via the video-conferencing application Zoom. The assessments and follow-ups are performed one-on-one through Zoom then the group logs in to participate in the group education and exercise sessions. The participants and the practitioner meet through Zoom at the scheduled session times in groups of 4-8 participants. In the past year research has begun to inquire whether this Tele-Health version of GLA:D® Back is feasible and can be implemented with GLA:D® Back providers across Alberta. This version of GLA:D Back has promising applications for the future in rehabilitation and may result in reaching more areas of the country that are less accessible to care.

Thus, this thesis provided valuable information that may shape the future of chronic recurrent low back pain care. It provided evidence that a group program is as effective as individualized nonpharmacological interventions, and that an evidence-based program can assist clinicians in implementing "high-value" care into clinical practice.

The major goal of this thesis was to obtain knowledge about the feasibility of GLA:D® Back program in preparation for a larger, more comprehensive RCT/implementation study, comparing GLA:D® Back with usual care with respect to medication usage, healthcare costs, and effectiveness. In conjunction with these studies, a national roll-out of the program will be initiated.

5.8 Conclusion

GLA:D® Back has been thoughtfully designed to assist clinicians in delivering well established evidence-based group exercise programs to people suffering from persistent recurrent LBP. Thus, GLA:D® Back represents a potential opportunity for stakeholders to shift away from "low-value" care to "high-value", cost-effective, evidence-based care. This shift represents what world experts are recommending as a call to action from the 2017 Lancet LBP series of papers (Buchbinder et al., 2018). The most recent update to the Lancet series proposed that healthcare funders should

stop paying for ineffective care and harmful tests; rather, they should change payment systems and legislation to encourage delivery of the most appropriate high-value care (Buchbinder et al., 2020). Thus, GLA:D Back aims to provide the knowledge about how to implement best practices based upon a theoretical framework that is supported by evidence-based guidelines. Consequently, it may bridge the gap between evidence-based guidelines and practice, providing patients with alternative care options.

References

Abbott, A., Schröder, K., Enthoven, P., Nilsen, P., & Öberg, B. (2018). Effectiveness of implementing a best practice primary healthcare model for low back pain (BetterBack) compared with current routine care in the Swedish context: an internal pilot study informed protocol for an effectiveness-implementation hybrid type 2 tr. *BMJ Open*, *8*(4), e019906. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2017-019906

Ajzen, I. (2001). Nature and Operations of Attitudes. Annu. Rev. Pschol., 52, 27–58.

Akuthota, V., Ferreiro, A., Moore, T., & Fredericson, M. (2008). Core stability exercise principles. *Current Sports Medicine Reports*, 7(1), 39–44. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.CSMR.0000308663.13278.69

- Amorin-Woods, L. G., Beck, R. W., Parkin-Smith, G. F., Lougheed, J., & Bremner, A. P. (2014).
 Adherence to clinical practice guidelines among three primary contact professions: A best evidence synthesis of the literature for the management of acute and subacute low back pain. *Journal of the Canadian Chiropractic Association*, *58*(3), 220–237.
- Andersson, E. I., Lin, C. C., & Smeets, R. J. E. M. (2010). Performance tests in people with chronic low back pain: Responsiveness and minimal clinically important change. *Spine*, *35*(26), 1559–1563. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181cea12e

Annual Report 2019 GLA : D ® Back. (2019).

- Arab, A. M., Salavati, M., Ebrahimi, I., & Mousavi, M. E. (2007). Sensitivity, specificity and predictive value of the clinical trunk muscle endurance tests in low back pain. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 21(7), 640–647. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215507076353
- Axén, I., & Leboeuf-Yde, C. (2013). Trajectories of low back pain. *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Rheumatology*, 27(5), 601–612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2013.10.004
- Babson, K. A., Feldner, M. T., & Badour, C. L. (2010). Cognitive behavioral therapy for sleep disorders. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, 33(3), 629–640. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2010.04.011

- Bach, T. M. (1985). The Reliability of Selected Techniques in Clinical Arthrometrics. *Australian Journal of Physiotherapy*, *31*(5), 175–199. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0004-9514(14)60633-4
- Baiardini, I., Braido, F., Bonini, M., Compalati, E., & Canonica, G. W. (2009). Why do doctors and patients not follow guidelines? *Current Opinion in Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 9(3), 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1097/ACI.0b013e32832b4651
- Bair M.J., et al. (2003). Depression and Pain Comorbidity. *Arch Intern Med.*, *163*, 2433–2445. https://doi.org/10.1097/aln.0b013e31822ec185
- Bandura, A. (1978). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. Advances in Behaviour Research and Therapy, 1(4), 139–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/0146-6402(78)90002-4
- Bandura, A. (2004). Health promotion by social cognitive means. *Health Education and Behavior*, *31*(2), 143–164. https://doi.org/10.1177/1090198104263660
- Bekkering, G. E., Hendriks, H. J. M., Van Tulder, M. W., Knol, D. L., Simmonds, M. J.,
 Oostendorp, R. A. B., & Bouter, L. M. (2005). Prognostic factors for low back pain in patients referred for physiotherapy: Comparing outcomes and varying modeling techniques. *Spine*, *30*(16), 1881–1886.

https://doi.org/10.1097/01.brs.0000173901.64181.db

- Bernstein, I. A., Malik, Q., Carville, S., & Ward, S. (2017). Low back pain and sciatica: Summary of NICE guidance. *BMJ (Online)*, *356*, 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.i6748
- Bialocerkowski, A., Klupp, N., & Bragge, P. (2010). How to read and critically appraise a reliability article. *International Journal of Therapy and Rehabilitation*, *17*(3), 114–120.
- Bovend'Eerdt, T. J. H., Botell, R. E., & Wade, D. T. (2009). Writing SMART rehabilitation goals and achieving goal attainment scaling: A practical guide. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, *23*(4), 352–361. https://doi.org/10.1177/0269215508101741
- Brinjikji, W., Luetmer, P. H., Comstock, B., Bresnahan, B. W., Chen, L. E., Deyo, R. A., ... Jarvik, J. G. (2015). Systematic literature review of imaging features of spinal degeneration

in asymptomatic populations. *American Journal of Neuroradiology*, *36*(4), 811–816. https://doi.org/10.3174/ajnr.A4173

- Brumagne, S., Diers, M., Danneels, L., Lorimer Moseley, G., & Hodges, P. W. (2019).
 Neuroplasticity of sensorimotor control in low back pain. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, *49*(6), 402–414. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2019.8489
- Bryan, M., & Hawson, S. (2003). The benefits of pilates exercise in orthopaedic rehabilitation. *Techniques in Orthopaedics*, *18*(1), 126–129. https://doi.org/10.1097/00013611200303000-00018
- Buchbinder, R., Tulder, M. van, Öberg, B., Costa, L. M., Woolf, A., Schoene, M., ... Woolf, A. (2018). Low back pain: a call for action. *The Lancet*, *0*(0), 1–5. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30488-4
- Buchbinder, R., van Tulder, M., Öberg, B., Costa, L. M., Woolf, A., Schoene, M., ... Turner, J. A. (2018). Low back pain: a call for action. *The Lancet*, *391*(10137), 2384–2388.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30488-4
- Bussières, A. E., Stewart, G., Al-Zoubi, F., Decina, P., Descarreaux, M., Haskett, D., ...
 Ornelas, J. (2018). Spinal Manipulative Therapy and Other Conservative Treatments for
 Low Back Pain: A Guideline From the Canadian Chiropractic Guideline Initiative. *Journal of Manipulative and Physiological Therapeutics*, *41*(4), 265–293.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmpt.2017.12.004
- Canadian Spine Society. (n.d.). Eight Things Physicians and Patients Should Question. Retrieved from https://choosingwiselycanada.org/spine/

Cancer.gov. (n.d.). First Line Therapy Definition. Retrieved from

https://www.cancer.gov/publications/dictionaries/cancer-terms/def/first-line-therapy

Carr, J. L., Klaber Moffett, J. A., Howarth, E., Richmond, S. J., Torgerson, D. J., Jackson, D. A.,
& Metcalfe, C. J. (2005). A randomized trial comparing a group exercise programme for
back pain patients with individual physiotherapy in a severely deprived area. *Disability and*

Rehabilitation, 27(16), 929–937. https://doi.org/10.1080/09638280500030639

- Chou, R. (2015). CLINICIAN 'S CORNER Will This Patient Develop Persistent Disabling Low Back Pain ? *Jama*, *303*(13), 1295–1302.
- Chou, R., Deyo, R., Friedly, J., Skelly, A., Hashimoto, R., Weimer, M., ... Brodt, E. D. (2017).
 Nonpharmacologic therapies for low back pain: A systematic review for an American
 College of physicians clinical practice guideline. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *166*(7), 493–505. https://doi.org/10.7326/M16-2459
- Chou, R., Qaseem, A., Snow, V., Casey, D., Cross, T. J., Shekelle, P., & Owens, D. K. (2007).
 Diagnosis and treatment of low back pain: A joint clinical practice guideline from the
 American College of Physicians and the American Pain Society. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 147(7), 478–491. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-147-7-200710020-00006
- Cornelius, L. R., van der Klink, J. J., Groothoff, J. W., & Brouwer, S. (2011). Prognostic factors of long term disability due to mental disorders: a systematic review. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *21*(2), 259–274. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-010-9261-5 [doi]
- Costa, L. D. C. M., Maher, C. G., McAuley, J. H., Hancock, M. J., & Smeets, R. J. E. M. (2011).
 Self-efficacy is more important than fear of movement in mediating the relationship
 between pain and disability in chronic low back pain. *European Journal of Pain*, *15*(2),
 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2010.06.014
- Costa, L. O. P., Maher, C. G., Latimer, J., Hodges, P. W., Herbert, R. D., Refshauge, K. M., ...
 Jennings, M. D. (2009). Motor Control Exercise for Chronic Low Back Pain: A Randomized
 Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Physical Therapy*, *89*(12), 1275–1286.
 https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20090218
- Côté, A. M., Durand, M. J., Tousignant, M., & Poitras, S. (2009). Physiotherapists and use of low back pain guidelines: A qualitative study of the barriers and facilitators. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, *19*(1), 94–105. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10926-009-9167-2

- Cramer, H., Lauche, R., Haller, H., & Dobos, G. (2013). A systematic review and meta-analysis of yoga for low back pain. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, *29*(5), 450–460. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.0b013e31825e1492
- Currie, S. R., & Wang, J. (2005). More data on major depression as an antecedent risk factor for first onset of chronic back pain. *Psychological Medicine*, 35(9), 1275–1282. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291705004952
- Darlow, B., Fullen, B. M., Dean, S., Hurley, D. A., Baxter, G. D., & Dowell, A. (2012). The association between health care professional attitudes and beliefs and the attitudes and beliefs, clinical management, and outcomes of patients with low back pain: A systematic review. *European Journal of Pain (United Kingdom)*, *16*(1), 3–17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2011.06.006
- Daulat, A. (2016). A pragmatic randomized controlled trial to compare a novel group physiotherapy programme with a standard group exercise programme for managing chronic low back pain in primary care. *International Musculoskeletal Medicine*, *38*(3–4), 97–108. https://doi.org/10.1080/17536146.2016.1261234
- de Boeck, K., Castellani, C., & Elborn, J. S. (2014). Medical consensus, guidelines, and position papers: A policy for the ECFS. *Journal of Cystic Fibrosis*, *13*(5), 495–498. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcf.2014.06.012
- Dixon-Woods, M., McNicol, S., & Martin, G. (2012). Ten challenges in improving quality in healthcare: Lessons from the Health Foundation's programme evaluations and relevant literature. *BMJ Quality and Safety*, *21*(10), 876–884. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2011-000760
- Domenech, J., Sánchez-Zuriaga, D., Segura-Ortí, E., Espejo-Tort, B., & Lisón, J. F. (2011). Impact of biomedical and biopsychosocial training sessions on the attitudes, beliefs, and recommendations of health care providers about low back pain: A randomised clinical trial. *Pain*, 152(11), 2557–2563. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.2011.07.023

- Driessen, E., & Hollon, S. D. (2010). Cognitive behavioral therapy for mood disorders: Efficacy, moderators and mediators. *Psychiatric Clinics of North America*, *33*(3), 537–555. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psc.2010.04.005
- Ehde, D. M., Dillworth, T. M., & Turner, J. A. (2014). Cognitive-behavioral therapy for individuals with chronic pain: Efficacy, innovations, and directions for research. *American Psychologist*, 69(2), 153–166. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035747
- Engel, G. L. (1979). The biopsychosocial model and the education of health professionals. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, *1*(2), 156–165. https://doi.org/10.1016/0163-8343(79)90062-8
- Falla, D., & Hodges, P. W. (2017). Individualized exercise interventions for spinal pain. *Exercise and Sport Sciences Reviews*, 45(2), 105–115. https://doi.org/10.1249/JES.000000000000103
- Fernandez, M., Ordoñana, J. R., Hartvigsen, J., Ferreira, M. L., Refshauge, K. M., Sánchez-Romera, J. F., ... Ferreira, P. H. (2016). Is chronic low back pain associated with the prevalence of coronary heart disease when genetic susceptibility is considered? A co-twin control study of Spanish twins. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(5), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0155194
- Fischer, F., Lange, K., Klose, K., Greiner, W., & Kraemer, A. (2016). Barriers and Strategies in Guideline Implementation — A Scoping Review, 1–16. https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare4030036
- Foster, N. E., Anema, J. R., Cherkin, D., Chou, R., Cohen, S. P., Gross, D. P., ... Woolf, A. (2018b). Prevention and treatment of low back pain: evidence, challenges, and promising directions. *The Lancet*, *0*(0), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30489-6
- Foster, N. E., Hill, J. C., Doyle, C., & Young, J. (2014). Effect of Stratified Care for Low Back Pain in Family Practice (IMPaCT Back). *Annals of Family Medicine*, *12*(2), 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1370/afm.1625.INTRODUCTION

Francisco, A. R. L. (2017). A Summary of the Guideline for the Evidence-Informed Primary Care

Management of Low Back Pain. Institute of Health Economics, (9), 1–2.

- Frost, H., Lamb, S. E., Moffett, J. A. K., Fairbank, J. C. T., & Moser, J. S. (1998). < Frost-1998-A fitness programme.pdf>, 75, 273–279.
- Frost, H., Moffett, j. a. K., Moser, J. S., & Fairbank, J. C. T. (1995). Randomised controlled trial for evaluation of fitness programme for patients with chronic low back pain. *Bmj*, *310*(6973), 151. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.310.6973.151
- Froud, R., Patel, S., Rajendran, D., Bright, P., Bjørkli, T., Buchbinder, R., … Underwood, M. (2016). A systematic review of outcome measures use, analytical approaches, reporting methods, and publication volume by year in low back pain trials published between 1980 and 2012: Respice, adspice, et prospice. *PLoS ONE*, *11*(10), 1–16. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0164573
- Gardner, T., Refshauge, K., Smith, L., McAuley, J., Hübscher, M., & Goodall, S. (2017).
 Physiotherapists' beliefs and attitudes influence clinical practice in chronic low back pain: a systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, *63*(3), 132–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2017.05.017
- Gauvin, M. G., Riddle, D. L., & Rothstein, J. M. (1990). Reliability of clinical measurements of forward bending using the modified fingertip-to-floor method. *Physical Therapy*, *70*(7), 443–447. https://doi.org/10.1093/ptj/70.7.443
- Glasgow, R. E., McKay, H. G., Piette, J. D., & Reynolds, K. D. (2001). The RE-AIM framework for evaluating interventions: What can it tell us about approaches to chronic illness management? *Patient Education and Counseling*, *44*(2), 119–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0738-3991(00)00186-5
- Goode, A. P., Carey, T. S., & Jordan, J. M. (2013). Low Back Pain and Lumbar Spine Osteoarthritis: How Are They Related? *Current Rheumatology Reports*, *15*(2). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11926-012-0305-z

Goossens, E. J. B., Linton, S. J., Crombez, G., Leeuw, M., Boersma, K., & Vlaeyen, J. W. S.

(2007). The Fear-Avoidance Model of Musculoskeletal Pain : Current State of Scientific Evidence, *30*(1). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-006-9085-0

- Grimshaw, J., Eccles, M., & Tetroe, J. (2005). Implementing clinical guidelines: Current evidence and future implications. *Journal of Continuing Education in the Health Professions*, 24, S31–S37. https://doi.org/10.1002/chp.1340240506
- Grimshaw, J. M., Eccles, M. P., Lavis, J. N., Hill, S. J., & Squires, J. E. (2012). Knowledge translation of research findings. *Implementation Science*, 7(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-7-50
- Grimshaw, J. M., Shirran, L., Thomas, R., & Mowatt, G. (2001). Changing Provider Behavior :
 An Overview of Systematic Reviews of Interventions Fraser , Lisa Bero , Roberto Grilli ,
 Emma Harvey , Andy Oxman and Mary Ann O ' Brien Source : Medical Care , Vol . 39 , No
 . 8 , Supplement II : Implementing Evidence-Based R. *Medical Care*, *39*(Suppl 2), II-2-II–
 45.
- Grol, R., & Grimshaw, J. (2003). From best evidence to best practice: Effective implementation of change in patients' care. *Lancet*, *362*(9391), 1225–1230. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)14546-1
- Haines, A., & Jones, R. (1994). Implementing Findings Of Research. *Bmj*, *308*(6942), 1488–1492.
- Harris, A., Moe, T. F., Eriksen, H. R., Tangen, T., Lie, S. A., Tveito, T. H., & Reme, S. E. (2017).
 Brief intervention, physical exercise and cognitive behavioural group therapy for patients with chronic low back pain (The CINS trial). *European Journal of Pain (United Kingdom)*, 21(8), 1397–1407. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1041
- Hartvigsen, J., Hancock, M. J., Kongsted, A., Louw, Q., Ferreira, M. L., Genevay, S., ... Woolf, A. (2018). What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. *The Lancet*, *391*(10137), 2356–2367. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30480-X
 Hartvigsen, J., Hancock, M. J., Kongsted, A., Louw, Q., Ferreira, M. L., Genevay, S., ... Woolf,

A. (2018). What low back pain is and why we need to pay attention. *The Lancet*, *391*(10137), 2356–2367. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30480-X

- Hayden, J. A., Tulder, M. W. Van, Malmivaara, A. V, & Koes, B. W. (2005). Review. *Ann Intern Med*, (142), 765–775.
- Hayden, J. A., Van Tulder, M. W., & Tomlinson, G. (2005). Systematic review: Strategies for using exercise therapy to improve outcomes in chronic low back pain. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *142*(9), 776–785. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-142-9-200505030-00014
- Higgins, J. P. T., Green, S., & Collaboration, C. (2008). Cochrane handbook for systematic reviews of interventions. Cochrane book series. Chichester, England ; Hoboken, NJ: Wiley-Blackwell.
- Hill, J. C., Dunn, K. M., Lewis, M., Mullis, R., Main, C. J., Foster, N. E., & Hay, E. M. (2008). A primary care back pain screening tool: Identifying patient subgroups for initial treatment. *Arthritis Care and Research*, *59*(5), 632–641. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.23563

Hodges PW, Richardson, C. (1996). Inefficient muscular stabiliation .pdf. Spine.

- Hoffmann, T. C., Hons, B., Maher, C. G., Phty, B., Bphysed, T. B., Sherrington, C., ... Mbbs, P.
 P. G. (2016). Prescribing exercise interventions for patiens with chronic conditions. *Cmaj*, *188*(7), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1503/cmaj.150684/-/DC1
- Houben, R. M. A., Ostelo, R. W. J. G., Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Wolters, P. M. J. C., Peters, M., & Stomp-van Den Berg, S. G. M. (2005). Health care providers' orientations towards common low back pain predict perceived harmfulness of physical activities and recommendations regarding return to normal activity. *European Journal of Pain*, *9*(2 SPEC. ISS.), 173–183. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpain.2004.05.002
- Hoy, D., March, L., Brooks, P., Blyth, F., Woolf, A., Bain, C., ... Buchbinder, R. (2014). The global burden of low back pain: Estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 73(6), 968–974. https://doi.org/10.1136/annrheumdis-2013-204428

- Humphris, D., Littlejohns, P., Victor, C., O'Halloran, P., & Peacock, J. (2000). Implementing evidence-based practice: Factors that influence the use of research evidence by occupational therapists. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *63*(11), 516–522. https://doi.org/10.1177/030802260006301102
- Hurley, D. A., Tully, M. A., Lonsdale, C., Boreham, C. A. G., Van Mechelen, W., Daly, L., ...
 McDonough, S. M. (2015). Supervised walking in comparison with fitness training for chronic back pain in physiotherapy: Results of the SWIFT single-blinded randomized controlled trial (ISRCTN17592092). *Pain*, *156*(1), 131–147.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pain.00000000000013
- IHE. (n.d.). Low Back Pain Guidelines.
- Ikeda, T., Sugiyama, K., Aida, J., Tsuboya, T., Watabiki, N., Kondo, K., & Osaka, K. (2019). Socioeconomic inequalities in low back pain among older people: The JAGES crosssectional study. *International Journal for Equity in Health*, *18*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12939-019-0918-1
- Ito, T., Shirado, O., Suzuki, H., Takahashi, M., Kaneda, K., & Strax, T. E. (1996). Lumbar trunk muscle endurance testing: An inexpensive alternative to a machine for evaluation. *Archives* of *Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation*, 77(1), 75–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0003-9993(96)90224-5
- Jeffrey, J. E., & Foster, N. E. (2012). A Qualitative Investigation of Physical Therapists' Experiences and Feelings of Managing Patients With Nonspecific Low Back Pain. *Physical Therapy*, *92*(2), 266–278. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20100416
- Jerosch-Herold, C. (2005). An Evidence-Based Approach to Choosing Outcome Measures: A Checklist for the Critical Appraisal of Validity, Reliability and Responsiveness Studies. *The British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *68*(8), 347–353. https://doi.org/10.1177/030802260506800803
- Johnson, R. E., Jones, G. T., Wiles, N. J., Chaddock, C., Potter, R. G., Roberts, C., ...

Macfarlane, G. J. (2007). Active exercise, education, and cognitive behavioral therapy for persistent disabling low back pain: A randomized controlled trial. *Spine*, *32*(15), 1578–1585. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.0b013e318074f890

- Jones, C. A., Roop, S. C., Pohar, S. L., Albrecht, L., & Scott, S. D. (2015). Translating knowledge in rehabilitation: Systematic review. *Physical Therapy*, 95(4), 663–677. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20130512
- Kamper, S. J. (2020). Usual Care for Back Pain All Too Often the Wrong Care—Despite 25 Years of Evidence-Based Guidelines. *The Back Letter*, 35(4), 37–45. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.back.0000659104.24225.b0
- Katz, J. N. (2006). Lumbar disc disorders and low-back pain: Socioeconomic factors and consequences. *Journal of Bone and Joint Surgery - Series A*, 88(SUPPL. 2), 21–24. https://doi.org/10.2106/JBJS.E.01273
- Kent, P., & Kjaer, P. (2012). The efficacy of targeted interventions for modifiable psychosocial risk factors of persistent nonspecific low back pain - A systematic review. *Manual Therapy*, *17*(5), 385–401. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2012.02.008
- Kjaer, P., Kongsted, A., Ris, I., Abbott, A., Rasmussen, C., Roos, E., ... Hartvigsen, J. (2018).
 GLA:D® Back: Group-based patient education and exercises to support self-management of persistent/recurrent back pain. Development, theories and scientific evidence. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disord, Accepted*, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-018-2334-x
- Koldaş Doğan, Ş., Sonel Tur, B., Kurtaiş, Y., & Atay, M. B. (2008). Comparison of three different approaches in the treatment of chronic low back pain. *Clinical Rheumatology*, *27*(7), 873–881. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10067-007-0815-7
- Kongsted, A., Hartvigsen, J., Boyle, E., Ris, I., Kjaer, P., Thomassen, L., & Vach, W. (2019). GLA : D ® Back : group-based patient education integrated with exercises to support selfmanagement of persistent back pain — feasibility of implementing standardised care by a course for clinicians, 1–16.

- Kongsted, A., Kent, P., Axen, I., Downie, A. S., & Dunn, K. M. (2016). What have we learned from ten years of trajectory research in low back pain? *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *17*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-016-1071-2
- Kongsted, A., Ris, I., Kjaer, P., Vach, W., Morsø, L., & Hartvigsen, J. (2019). GLA:D ® Back:
 Implementation of group-based patient education integrated with exercises to support self-management of back pain-protocol for a hybrid effectiveness-implementation study 11
 Medical and Health Sciences 1117 Public Health and Health Services . *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 20(1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-019-2443-1
- Leeuw, M., Goossens, M. E. J. B., Linton, S. J., Crombez, G., Boersma, K., & Vlaeyen, J. W. S. (2007). The fear-avoidance model of musculoskeletal pain: Current state of scientific evidence. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *30*(1), 77–94. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-006-9085-0
- Leeuw, M., Goossens, M. E. J. B., Linton, S. J., Crombez, G., Boersma, K., Vlaeyen, J. W. S.
 S., ... Vlaeyen, J. W. S. S. (2007). The fear-avoidance model of musculoskeletal pain:
 Current state of scientific evidence. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, *30*(1), 77–94.
 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-006-9085-0
- Lemieux, J, Kawchuk, G., Kongsted, A., Hartvigsen, J., Abdollah, V., & Jones, A. (2020). The feasibility of implementating an English language version of GLA:D Back. *Submitted Manuscript for Publication*, 1–12.
- Lemieux, James, Abdollah, V., Powelske, B., & Kawchuk, G. (2020). Comparing the Effectiveness of Group-Based Exercise to Other Non-Pharmacological Interventions for Low Back Pain: A Systematic Review. *Unpublished Manuscript*, 1–19. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244588
- Lewis, J. S., Hewitt, J. S., Billington, L., Cole, S., Byng, J., & Karayiannis, S. (2005). A randomized clinical trial comparing two physiotherapy interventions for chronic low back pain. *Spine*, *30*(7), 711–721. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.brs.0000157469.27779.de

- Liang, L., Abi Safi, J., Gagliardi, A. R., Armstrong, M. J., Bernhardsson, S., Brown, J., ...
 Willson, M. (2017). Number and type of guideline implementation tools varies by guideline, clinical condition, country of origin, and type of developer organization: Content analysis of guidelines. *Implementation Science*, *12*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-017-0668-7
- Liberati, A., Altman, D. G., Tetzlaff, J., Mulrow, C., Gotzsche, P. C., Ioannidis, J. P., ... Moher, D. (2009). The PRISMA statement for reporting systematic reviews and meta-analyses of studies that evaluate health care interventions: explanation and elaboration. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *62*(10), e1-34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.006 [doi]
- Lugtenberg, M., Zegers-Van Schaick, J. M., Westert, G. P., & Burgers, J. S. (2009). Why don't physicians adhere to guideline recommendations in practice? An analysis of barriers among Dutch general practitioners. *Implementation Science*, *4*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-4-54
- Macedo, L. G., Latimer, J., Maher, C. G., Hodges, P. W., McAuley, J. H., Nicholas, M. K., ...
 Stafford, R. (2012). Effect of Motor Control Exercises Versus Graded Activity in Patients
 With Chronic Nonspecific Low Back Pain: A Randomized Controlled Trial. *Physical Therapy*, 92(3), 363–377. https://doi.org/10.2522/ptj.20110290
- Mafi, J. N., McCarthy, E. P., Davis, R. B., & Landon, B. E. (2013). Worsening trends in the management and treatment of back pain. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *173*(17), 1573–1581. https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2013.8992
- Maher, C., Underwood, M., & Buchbinder, R. (2017). Non-specific low back pain. *The Lancet*, *389*(10070), 736–747. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30970-9
- Malmivaara, A., Esmail, R., Koes, B., & others. (2000). Exercise therapy for low back pain: a systematic review within the framework of the cochrane collaboration back review group. *Spine*, *25*(21), 2784–2796.
- Manchikanti, L., Falco, F. J. E., Singh, V., Benyamin, R. M., Racz, G. B., Helm Ii, S., ... Hirsch, J. a. (2013). An update of comprehensive evidence-based guidelines for interventional

techniques in chronic spinal pain. Part I: introduction and general considerations. *Pain Physician*, *16*(2 Suppl), S1–S48. Retrieved from http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/23615882

- Maniadakis, N., & Gray, A. (2000). The economic burden of back pain in the UK. *Pain*, *84*(1), 95–103. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3959(99)00187-6
- Masharawi, Y., & Nadaf, N. (2013). The effect of non-weight bearing group-exercising on females with non-specific chronic low back pain: A randomized single blind controlled pilot study. *Journal of Back and Musculoskeletal Rehabilitation*, *26*(4), 353–359. https://doi.org/10.3233/BMR-130391
- McEvoy, P. M., & Nathan, P. (2007). Effectiveness of Cognitive Behavior Therapy for
 Diagnostically Heterogeneous Groups: A Benchmarking Study. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 75(2), 344–350. https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-006X.75.2.344
- Meeus, M., & Nijs, J. (2007). Central sensitization: A biopsychosocial explanation for chronic widespread pain in patients with fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome. *Clinical Rheumatology*, 26(4), 465–473. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10067-006-0433-9
- Melloh, M., Elfering, A., Käser, A., Salathé, C. R., Barz, T., Aghayev, E., ... Theis, J. C. (2013).
 Depression impacts the course of recovery in patients with acute low-back pain. *Behavioral Medicine*, *39*(3), 80–89. https://doi.org/10.1080/08964289.2013.779566
- Mesner, S. A., Foster, N. E., & French, S. D. (2016). Implementation interventions to improve the management of non-specific low back pain: A systematic review. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *17*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-016-1110-z
- Moffett, J. A. K., Carr, J., & Howarth, E. (2004). High fear-avoiders of physical activity benefit from an exercise program for patients with back pain. *Spine*, *29*(11), 1167–1172. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-200406010-00002
- Mokkink, L. B., Terwee, C. B., Patrick, D. L., Alonso, J., Stratford, P. W., Knol, D. L., ... de Vet, H. C. (2010). The COSMIN study reached international consensus on taxonomy,

terminology, and definitions of measurement properties for health-related patient-reported outcomes. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *63*(7), 737–745.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.02.006; 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2010.02.006

- Moreland, J., Finch, E., Stratford, P., Balsor, B., & Gill, C. (1997). Interrater reliability of six tests of trunk muscle function and endurance. *Journal of Orthopaedic and Sports Physical Therapy*, 26(4), 200–208. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.1997.26.4.200
- Moseley, G. L. (2003). Joining forces Combining cognition-targeted motor control training with group or individual pain physiology education: A successful treatment for chronic low back pain. *Journal of Manual and Manipulative Therapy*, *11*(2), 88–94. https://doi.org/10.1179/106698103790826383
- Müller-Schwefe, G., Morlion, B., Ahlbeck, K., Alon, E., Coaccioli, S., Coluzzi, F., ... Sichère, P. (2017). Treatment for chronic low back pain: the focus should change to multimodal management that reflects the underlying pain mechanisms. *Current Medical Research and Opinion*, *33*(7), 1199–1210. https://doi.org/10.1080/03007995.2017.1298521
- Mutubuki, E. N., Luitjens, M. A., Maas, E. T., Huygen, F. J. P. M., Ostelo, R. W. J. G., van Tulder, M. W., & van Dongen, J. M. (2020). Predictive factors of high societal costs among chronic low back pain patients. *European Journal of Pain (United Kingdom)*, 24(2), 325– 337. https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.1488
- NICE Guidelines Low back pain and sciatica in over 16s : assessment and management. (2019), (November 2016).

O'Connell, N. E., Cook, C. E., Wand, B. M., & Ward, S. P. (2016). Clinical guidelines for low back pain: A critical review of consensus and inconsistencies across three major guidelines. *Best Practice and Research: Clinical Rheumatology*, *30*(6), 968–980. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.berh.2017.05.001

O'Keeffe, M. (2019). Non-pharmacological treatment of low back pain in primary care. *Drug and Therapeutics Bulletin*, *57*(7), 104–108. https://doi.org/10.1136/dtb.2018.000015

- O'Keeffe, M., Hayes, A., McCreesh, K., Purtill, H., & O'Sullivan, K. (2017). Are group-based and individual physiotherapy exercise programmes equally effective for musculoskeletal conditions? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *51*(2), 126–132. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2015-095410
- O'Keeffe, M., O'Sullivan, P., Purtill, H., Bargary, N., & O'Sullivan, K. (2020). Cognitive functional therapy compared with a group-based exercise and education intervention for chronic low back pain: A multicentre randomised controlled trial (RCT). *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, 54(13), 782–789. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2019-100780
- O'Sullivan, K., O'Keeffe, M., & O'Sullivan, P. (2017). NICE low back pain guidelines: Opportunities and obstacles to change practice. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, *51*(22), 1632–1633. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-097810
- O'Sullivan, P. (2005). Diagnosis and classification of chronic low back pain disorders: Maladaptive movement and motor control impairments as underlying mechanism. *Manual Therapy*, *10*(4), 242–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2005.07.001
- Oliveira, C. B., Maher, C. G., Pinto, R. Z., Traeger, A. C., Lin, C. W. C., Chenot, J. F., ... Koes,
 B. W. (2018). Clinical practice guidelines for the management of non-specific low back pain in primary care: an updated overview. *European Spine Journal*, *27*(11), 2791–2803. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-018-5673-2
- Oliveira, V. C., Ferreira, P. H., Maher, C. G., Pinto, R. Z., Refshauge, K. M., & Ferreira, M. L. (2012). Effectiveness of self-management of low back pain: Systematic review with metaanalysis. *Arthritis Care and Research*, *64*(11), 1739–1748. https://doi.org/10.1002/acr.21737
- Ostelo, R. W. J. G., Stomp-van den Berg, S. G. M., Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Wolters, P. M. J. C., & De Vet, H. C. W. (2003). Health care provider's attitudes and beliefs towards chronic low back pain: The development of a questionnaire. *Manual Therapy*, 8(4), 214–222. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1356-689X(03)00013-4

- Poitras, S., Durand, M.-J., Côté, A.-M., & Tousignant, M. (2012). Guidelines on Low Back Pain Disability. *Spine*, *37*(14), 1252–1259. https://doi.org/10.1097/brs.0b013e31824b6adf
- Qaseem, A., Wilt, T. J., McLean, R. M., & Forciea, M. A. (2017). Noninvasive treatments for acute, subacute, and chronic low back pain: A clinical practice guideline from the American College of Physicians. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *166*(7), 514–530. https://doi.org/10.7326/M16-2367
- Quintner, J. L., Cohen, M. L., Buchanan, D., Katz, J. D., & Williamson, O. D. (2008). Pain medicine and its models: Helping or hindering? *Pain Medicine*, *9*(7), 824–834. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-4637.2007.00391.x
- Rainville, J., Hartigan, C., Martinez, E., Limke, J., Jouve, C., & Finno, M. (2004). Exercise as a treatment for chronic low back pain. *Spine Journal*, *4*(1), 106–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1529-9430(03)00174-8
- Rainville, J., Smeets, R. J. E. M., Bendix, T., Tveito, T. H., Poiraudeau, S., & Indahl, A. J.
 (2011). Fear-avoidance beliefs and pain avoidance in low back pain Translating research into clinical practice. *Spine Journal*, *11*(9), 895–903.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.spinee.2011.08.006
- Reme, S. E., Tveito, T. H., Chalder, T., Bjørkkjær, T., Indahl, A., Brox, J. I., ... Eriksen, H. R.
 (2011). Protocol for the Cognitive Interventions and Nutritional Supplements (CINS) trial: A randomized controlled multicenter trial of a brief intervention (BI) versus a BI plus cognitive behavioral treatment (CBT) versus nutritional supplements for patients wit. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *12*. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-12-152
- Richmond, H., Hall, A. M., Copsey, B., Hansen, Z., Williamson, E., Hoxey-Thomas, N., ... Lamb,
 S. E. (2015). The effectiveness of cognitive behavioural treatment for non-specific low back
 pain: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS ONE*, *10*(8), 1–21.
 https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0134192

Ris I, Kongsted A, Hartvigsen J, Kjaer P, T. L. (2019). GLA: D ® Annual Report 2019. GLA: D®

Annual Report. Odense.

- Ris I, Schröder K, Kongsted A, Abbott, A, Nilsen P, Hartvigsen J, Ö. B. (n.d.). *The Determinants* of Implementation Behaviour Questionnaire (DIBQ): tailoring to best-practice low back pain primary care program implementation, and pilot testing in Sweden and Denmark. Manuscript in preparation.
- Roos, E. M., Barton, C. J., Davis, A. M., McGlasson, R., Kemp, J. L., Crossley, K. M., ... Skou,
 S. T. (2018). GLA:D to have a high-value option for patients with knee and hip arthritis across four continents: Good Life with osteoArthritis from Denmark. *British Journal of Sports Medicine*, bjsports-2017-098904. https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2017-098904
- Russo, M., Deckers, K., Eldabe, S., Kiesel, K., Gilligan, C., Vieceli, J., & Crosby, P. (2018).
 Muscle Control and Non-specific Chronic Low Back Pain. *Neuromodulation: Technology at the Neural Interface*, *21*(1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/ner.12738
- Ryan, C. G., Gray, H. G., Newton, M., & Granat, M. H. (2010). Pain biology education and exercise classes compared to pain biology education alone for individuals with chronic low back pain: A pilot randomised controlled trial. *Manual Therapy*, *15*(4), 382–387. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.math.2010.03.003
- Sahin, N., Albayrak, I., Durmus, B., & Ugurlu, H. (2011a). Effectiveness of back school for treatment of pain and functional disability in patients with chronic low back pain: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, *43*(3), 224–229. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-0650
- Sahin, N., Albayrak, I., Durmus, B., & Ugurlu, H. (2011b). Effectiveness of back school for treatment of pain and functional disability in patients with chronic low back pain: A randomized controlled trial. *Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine*, *43*(3), 224–229. https://doi.org/10.2340/16501977-0650
- Saragiotto, B., Maher, C., Yamato, T., Costa, L., Menezes Costa, L., Ostelo, R., & Macedo, L. (2016). Motor control exercise for chronic non-specific low-back pain (Review). *Cochrane*

Database Syst Rev, (1), CD012004.

https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012004.www.cochranelibrary.com

- Saragiotto, B. T., Maher, C. G., Yamato, T., Costa, L. O. P., Costa, L. C. M., Ostelo, R. W. J. G.,
 & Macedo, L. G. (2016). Motor Control Exercise for Nonspecific Low Back Pain: A
 Cochrane Review. Spine (03622436), 41(16), 1284–1295.
 https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000001645
- Saragiotto, B. T., Maher, C. G., Yamato, T. P., Costa, L. O. P., Menezes Costa, L. C., Ostelo, R.
 W. J. G., & Macedo, L. G. (2016). Motor control exercise for chronic non-specific low-back
 pain. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*, *2016*(1), 1284–1295.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD012004
- Schröder, K., Öberg, B., Enthoven, P., Kongsted, A., & Abbott, A. (2020). Confidence, attitudes, beliefs and determinants of implementation behaviours among physiotherapists towards clinical management of low back pain before and after implementation of the BetterBack model of care. *BMC Health Services Research*, 20(1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-020-05197-3
- Sherman, K. J., Cherkin, D. C., Erro, J., Miglioretti, D. L., & Deyo, R. A. (2005). Comparing yoga, exercise, and a self-care book for chronic low back pain: A randomized, controlled trial. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *143*(12), 849–856. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-143-12-200512200-00003
- Skou, S. T., & Roos, E. M. (2017). Good Life with osteoArthritis in Denmark (GLA:D[™]): evidence-based education and supervised neuromuscular exercise delivered by certified physiotherapists nationwide. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *18*(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12891-017-1439-y
- Slade, S. C., Kent, P., Bucknall, T., Molloy, E., Patel, S., & Buchbinder, R. (2015). Barriers to primary care clinician adherence to clinical guidelines for the management of low back pain: Protocol of a systematic review and meta-synthesis of qualitative studies. *BMJ Open*,

5(4). https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-007265

- Slade, S. C., Kent, P., Patel, S., Bucknall, T., & Buchbinder, R. (2016). Barriers to primary care clinician adherence to clinical guidelines for the management of low back pain: A systematic review and metasynthesis of qualitative studies. *Clinical Journal of Pain*, 32(9), 800–816. https://doi.org/10.1097/AJP.00000000000324
- Smith, B. E., Littlewood, C., & May, S. (2014). An update of stabilisation exercises for low back pain: A systematic review with meta-analysis. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, *15*(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2474-15-416
- Smucker, D. R., Konrad, T. R., Curtis, P., & Carey, T. S. (1998). Practitioner Self-confidence and Patient Outcomes in Acute Low Back Pain. *Archives of Family Medicine*, 7(3), 223– 228. https://doi.org/10.1001/archfami.7.3.223
- Sorosky, S., Stilp, S., & Akuthota, V. (2008). Yoga and pilates in the management of low back pain. *Current Reviews in Musculoskeletal Medicine*, *1*(1), 39–47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12178-007-9004-1
- Steffens, D., Maher, C. G., Pereira, L. S. M., Stevens, M. L., Oliveira, V. C., Chapple, M., ...
 Hancock, M. J. (2016). Prevention of lowback pain a systematic review and meta-Analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, *176*(2), 199–208.

https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2015.7431

- Stochkendahl, M. J., Kjaer, P., Hartvigsen, J., Kongsted, A., Aaboe, J., Andersen, M., … Vaagholt, M. (2018). National Clinical Guidelines for non-surgical treatment of patients with recent onset low back pain or lumbar radiculopathy. *European Spine Journal*, 27(1), 60–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-017-5099-2
- Strand, L. I., Anderson, B., Lygren, H., Skouen, J. S., Ostelo, R., & Magnussen, L. H. (2011). Research Report, *91*(3).
- Stuber, K. J., Bruno, P., Sajko, S., & Hayden, J. A. (2014). Core Stability Exercises for Low Back Pain in Athletes. *Clinical Journal of Sport Medicine*, *24*(6), 448–456.

https://doi.org/10.1097/jsm.000000000000081

- Sullivan, P. O., Caneiro, O'Keeffe, M., Dankaerts, W., Fersum, K., & Sullivan, K. O. (2018). Cognitive Functional Therapy : *Physical Theray*, 98(5), 408–423. https://doi.org/10.1021/jo4002596
- Suman, A., Dikkers, M. F., Schaafsma, F. G., van Tulder, M. W., & Anema, J. R. (2016).
 Effectiveness of multifaceted implementation strategies for the implementation of back and neck pain guidelines in health care: A systematic review. *Implementation Science*, *11*(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13012-016-0482-7
- Synnott, A., O'Keeffe, M., Bunzli, S., Dankaerts, W., O'Sullivan, P., & O'Sullivan, K. (2015).
 Physiotherapists may stigmatise or feel unprepared to treat people with low back pain and psychosocial factors that influence recovery: A systematic review. *Journal of Physiotherapy*, *61*(2), 68–76. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jphys.2015.02.016
- Taylor, A. G., Goehler, L. E., Galper, D. I., & Innes, K. E. (2011). Top-Down and Bottom-Up Mechanisms in Mind-Body Medicine: Development of an Integrative Framework for Psychophysiological Research. *NIH Public Access*, *6*(1), 1–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.explore.2009.10.004.Top-Down
- Underwood, M. (2004). United Kingdom back pain exercise and manipulation (UK BEAM) randomised trial: Effectiveness of physical treatments for back pain in primary care. *British Medical Journal*, *329*(7479), 1377–1381. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.38282.669225.AE
- Van Tulder, M. W., Ostelo, R., Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Linton, S. J., Morley, S. J., & Assendelft, W. J. J. (2000). Behavioral treatment for chronic low back pain: A systematic review within the framework of the cochrane back review group. *Spine*, *25*(20), 2688–2699. https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-200010150-00024
- Van Tulder, M. W., Ostelo, R., Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Linton, S. J., Morley, S. J., & Assendelft, W. J.
 J. (2001). Behavioral treatment for chronic low back pain: A systematic review within the framework of the Cochrane Back Review Group. *Spine*, *26*(3), 270–281.

https://doi.org/10.1097/00007632-200102010-00012

- Vandenbroucke, J. P., von Elm, E., Altman, D. G., Gotzsche, P. C., Mulrow, C. D., Pocock, S. J., ... initiative, S. (2007). Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE): explanation and elaboration. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, *147*(8), W163-94. https://doi.org/147/8/W-163 [pii]
- Verhagen, A. P., Downie, A., Popal, N., Maher, C., & Koes, B. W. (2016). Red flags presented in current low back pain guidelines: a review. *European Spine Journal*, 25(9), 2788–2802. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00586-016-4684-0
- Vlaeyen, J. W. S., Crombez, G., & Linton, S. J. (2016). The fear-avoidance model of pain. *Pain*, *157*(8), 1588–1589. https://doi.org/10.1097/j.pain.000000000000574
- Vos, T., Allen, C., Arora, M., Barber, R. M., Brown, A., Carter, A., ... Zuhlke, L. J. (2016).
 Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 310 diseases and injuries, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. *The Lancet*, *388*(10053), 1545–1602. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31678-6
- Vos, Theo, Abajobir, A. A., Abbafati, C., Abbas, K. M., Abate, K. H., Abd-Allah, F., ... Murray, C. J. L. (2017). Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990-2016: A systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *The Lancet*, *390*(10100), 1211–1259. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32154-2

Waddell, G. (1987). Volvo award.pdf.

- Walker, B. F., Muller, R., & Grant, W. D. (2003). Low back pain in Australian adults: The economic burden. Asia-Pacific Journal of Public Health, 15(2), 79–87. https://doi.org/10.1177/101053950301500202
- Walters-Salas, T. (2012). The challenge of patient adherence. *Bariatric Nursing and Surgical Patient Care*, 7(4), 186. https://doi.org/10.1089/bar.2012.9960

Weber, C., Behbahani, M., Baardsen, R., Lehmberg, J., Meyer, B., & Shiban, E. (2017).
Patients' beliefs about diagnosis and treatment of cervical spondylosis with radiculopathy. *Acta Neurochirurgica*, *159*(12), 2379–2384. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00701-017-3356-0

Weiner, B. K. (2008). <spine-ICF-1.pdf>, 33(2), 219–223.

- Wieser, S., Horisberger, B., Schmidhauser, S., Eisenring, C., Brügger, U., Ruckstuhl, A., ...
 Müller, U. (2011). Cost of low back pain in Switzerland in 2005. *European Journal of Health Economics*, *12*(5), 455–467. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10198-010-0258-y
- Wilson, T. J., Franz, E., Vollmer, C. F., Chang, K. W. C., Upadhyaya, C., Park, P., & Yang, L. J. S. (2017). Patient-perceived surgical indication influences patient expectations of surgery for degenerative spinal disease. *Clinical Neurology and Neurosurgery*, *157*, 11–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clineuro.2017.03.007
- Wong, J. J., Côté, P., Sutton, D. A., Randhawa, K., Yu, H., Varatharajan, S., ... Taylor-Vaisey,
 A. (2017). Clinical practice guidelines for the noninvasive management of low back pain: A systematic review by the Ontario Protocol for Traffic Injury Management (OPTIMa)
 Collaboration. *European Journal of Pain (United Kingdom)*, *21*(2), 201–216.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/ejp.931
- Yamato, T., Maher, C., Saragiotto, B., Hancock, M., Ostelo, R., Cabral, C., ... Costa, L. (2015).
 Pilates for low back pain (Review) Pilates for low back pain. *The Cochrane Collaboration*, (7), CD010265.

https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD010265.pub2.www.cochranelibrary.com

Yamato, T. P., Maher, C. G., Saragiotto, B. T., Hancock, M. J., Ostelo, R. W. J. G., Cabral, C. M. N., ... Costa, L. O. P. (2016). Pilates for Low Back Pain: Complete Republication of a Cochrane Review. *Spine*, *41*(12), 1013–1021. https://doi.org/10.1097/BRS.00000000001398 Appendix I: Library search keywords

Ovid MEDLINE(R) and Epub Ahead of Print, In-Process & Other Non-Indexed Citations and Daily 1946 to July 23, 2019 Date searched: June 26, 2020 Results: 206

1. (Good adj (life or living) adj2 osteoarthritis adj Denmark adj (back or lumbar)).mp.

2. (("GLA:D" or GLAD) adj8 (back-pain or lbp or lumbar-pain)).mp.

3. happy-back.mp.

4. ((Group* not (control-group* or intervention-group* or between-groups)) adj5 (exercise* or strengthening or physical-activity or strength-training)).mp.

5. ((chronic or persistent or long-standing or long-duration or ((duration or lasting) adj months)) and (back-pain or lbp or lumbar-pain)).mp.

6. 4 and 5

7. 1 or 2 or 3 or 6

EMBASE 1974-July 23, 2019 Date searched: June 26, 2020 Results: 280

1. (Good adj (life or living) adj2 osteoarthritis adj Denmark adj (back or lumbar)).mp.

2. (("GLA:D" or GLAD) adj8 (back-pain or lbp or lumbar-pain)).mp.

3. happy-back.mp.

4. ((Group* not (control-group* or intervention-group* or between-groups)) adj5 (exercise* or strengthening or physical-activity or strength-training)).mp.

5. ((chronic or persistent or long-standing or long-duration or ((duration or lasting) adj months)) and (back-pain or lbp or lumbar-pain)).mp.

6. 4 and 5

7. 1 or 2 or 3 or 6

CINAHL Plus with Full Text (EBSCOhost platform) Date searched: June 26, 2020 Results: 262

S1: (Good N1 (life or living) N2 osteoarthritis N1 Denmark N1 (back or lumbar)) OR (("GLA:D" or GLAD) N8 (back-pain or lbp or lumbar-pain)) OR happy-back

S2. ((Group* NOT (control-group* or intervention-group* or between-groups)) N5 (exercise* or strengthening or physical-activity or strength-training)) AND ((chronic or persistent or long-standing or long-duration or ((duration or lasting) N1 months)) AND (back-pain or lbp or lumbar-pain))

S3. S1 OR S2

Scopus Date searched: June 26, 2020 Results: 506 TITLE-ABS-KEY ((Good W/1 (life or living) W/2 osteoarthritis W/1 Denmark W/1 (back or lumbar)) OR (("GLA:D" or GLAD) W/8 (back-pain or lbp or lumbar-pain)) OR happy-back) OR TITLE-ABS-KEY ((Group* W/5 (exercise* or strengthening or physical-activity or strength-training)) AND ((chronic or persistent or long-standing or long-duration or ((duration or lasting)) W/1 months)) AND (back-pain or lbp or lumbar-pain)))

Key words GLA:D Back Lumbar Back pain, LBP, lumbar-pain Happy-back Group Exercise, Strengthening, physical-activity, Strengthening-training Chronic, persistent, long-standing, long-duration Appendix II: Systematic Literature Review Data Extraction Form

Click here to choose a reviewer Click here to enter a date. Study description

siday descriptio	
ID No.	

STUDY SELECTION CRITERIA

Inclusion	Exclusion			
English	Other languages			
Group Exercise VS Usual Care	Conference Proceedings			
□ Original study	Specific LBP			
□ Low Back Pain	□ Case Series < 10 Subjects			
□ Full text available	□ Case Studies			
	□ Systematic Reviews			
	□ Narrative review			
	Protocols			

DECISION: Included

Excluded

Unclear

Study goals, type and timeline

Goal of the study	
Type of the study	
Timeline of study	Click to select the timeline of the study

Subject selection criteria.

Inclusion Criteria?	□ Not reported □ Unclear □ Yes, Specify:
Exclusion Criteria?	□ Not reported □ Unclear □ Yes, Specify:
Subject recruitment	□ Random □ Consecutive □ Volunteers □ Purposeful.

Groups (definition) or define reported group and subgroups

Group name:			
No of participants			
Age			
Diagnosis			
Pain duration			
Pain intensity			
Pain location			
Height			
Weight			
Gender	# of male:	# of male:	# of male:
Gender	# of female:	# of female:	# of female:

Exercise information (copy as needed if multiple methods were employed)

Type of exercise	
Duration	

List of measurements outcomes (for every subgroup/time-point/measure)

Mean: SD: SE: Range: Min: Max: Other, specify:

Results of statistical test of differences within and between groups:

Name of the test used: Variables compared: Groups or times compared: P-value (for each comparison of interest): Report of the mean difference and variability for each pairwise comparison:

Results of statistical test of correlations between the effects of group exercise and other variables of interest:

Name of the association test used: Variables tested: Group tested: Association estimate (correlation coefficient, regression equations) P-values:

Results of statistical test for diagnostic accuracy

Name of the diagnostic statistical test used: Name of the gold standard test: Name of the variable of interest: Diagnostic test estimate: P-value or confidence interval:

Appendix III: Appraisal Form

Criterion	Yes	No	NA	Comments		
Subjects recruitment						
Are the characteristics of the participants included in the study clearly described?						
Were the demographic characteristics of the sample reported for each group analyzed?						
Were the subjects asked to participate in the study representative of the entire population from which they were recruited?						
Were those subjects who were prepared to participate representative of the entire population from which they were recruited?						
Was an attempt made to blind study subjects to the intervention they received?						
Were study subjects randomized to intervention groups?						
Were participants' characteristics stable during research?						
Examiners						
Were the training and qualifications of the examiner(s) reported?						
Was/were the examiner(s) blinded to the results of the comparator test when comparing different test measurements?						
Was/were the rater(s) blinded to the results of previous measurements performed by the same or different examiner(s) (e.g. blinded to pre-enrollment condition)?						
Was the randomized intervention assignment concealed from health care staff until recruitment was complete and irrevocable?						
Methodology						
Are the exposures/interventions of interest clearly described?						

Criterion	Yes	No	NA	Comments	
Was the sample size included in the analysis adequate?					
Is replication of the assessment procedure possible? (description sufficiently					
detailed)					
Are the distributions of principal confounders in each group of subjects to be					
compared clearly described?					
Was there an adequate adjustment for confounding in the analyses from which	_				
the main findings were drawn?					
Outcomes		1	1		
Is the hypothesis/aim/objective of the study clearly described? Must be explicit					
(Only focus on objective related to the study of the effect of group exercise).					
Validity reported for the main outcome measure					
Handling Missing Data (Concurrent and Criterion Validity)					
Compliance acceptable in all groups (80% acceptable)					
Was the percentage of missing items given (Only for the analysis of the effect of					
group exercise)?					
Withdrawal/dropouts rate described and acceptable					
Have the characteristics of participants lost to follow-up been described?					
Was compliance with the intervention/s reliable?					
Was there a description of how missing items were handled?					
Were hypotheses regarding correlations or mean differences formulated a priori	_				
(i.e. before data collection)?					
Was the expected direction of correlations or mean differences included in the					
hypotheses?					

Criterion	Yes	No	NA	Comments
Statistical Analysis				
Have actual probability values been reported (e.g. 0.035 rather than <0.05) for the main outcomes except where the probability value is less than 0.001?				
Sample size described for each group				
Were design and statistical methods adequate for the hypotheses to be tested?				
Has confidence interval for pre- and post-intervention or change in outcomes from before to after intervention been reported?				
Have effect sizes for outcomes been reported or can be computed by the reviewer?				
Results				
Are the main findings of the study clearly described?				
Have all important adverse events that may be a consequence of the intervention been reported?				

Overall Score: out of 32 (%)